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Financial headlines

• Revenue of £632.6m, a decrease of 15% on 2008/09. 

•  Underlying operating profit1 of £41.2m, a decrease of 13%, with underlying 
operating margins1 up slightly to 6.5%.

•  Exceptional items of £38.4m arising from restructuring the Group’s activities.

• Adjusted earnings per share1,2 decreased 28% from 26.4p to 18.9p. 

• Dividend per share3 for the year 2.25p.

•  Net cash generated from operations before exceptional items £70.5m, 
up 115% on previous year. 

•  Year-end net bank borrowings reduced from £101.3m to £83.4m as a result 
of improvements made in working capital management during the year.

• Loss for the year after tax £13.5m.

¹  Underlying operating profit, underlying operating margins and adjusted earnings per share exclude exceptional items 
(including the annual amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations) – see Note 3 for full details. 

²  Adjusted earnings per share is calculated after adding back shares held by the employee share trusts to the weighted 
average number of shares and adjusting earnings for exceptional items (net of taxation).

³ Includes paid and proposed dividends in respect of the year.

Business headlines

•  Management restructuring, reduction in staff numbers and introduction of 
improved support systems providing full-year cost savings of more than £25m.

•  Commenced refinancing of banking facilities and lending banks are 
supportive of the process to complete by March 2011.

•  Board succession plans1 implemented after the year end, with David Tilston 
joining as Group Finance Director and Seamus Keating, Richard Rae and 
David Sugden appointed as Non-Executive Directors.

•  Strategic contract wins including Highways Agency (HA) Managing Agent 
Contractor (MAC) contracts in Areas 1 and 13 and the appointment as 
preferred bidder for the Bournemouth Council integrated services partnership.

•  Entry into the Australasian market with two new highway maintenance 
contractor appointments (as preferred proponent) for Main Roads 
Western Australia.

•  Win rate has again been above the top end of our target range of 
one-in-three to two-in-five of all tenders by value.

•  Continuing good visibility with forward order book of £1.8bn 
and bidding pipeline of £2.2bn.

¹ See separate statement issued also on 28 October 2010. 

Overview



02 Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2010

The public sector in Britain needs to change. Investment 
in the things that as citizens, we once took for granted is 
no longer certain – and the new reality is that doing what’s 
always been done won’t continue to give us what we’ve 
always had.

Mouchel is a business that provides the design, 
management and operational skills needed to transform 
and deliver essential public services and to sustain the 
vital infrastructure that society can’t manage without. 
Mouchel already provides safer, more reliable roads; 
cleaner, more sustainable drinking water; better, more 
appropriate learning environments; and a whole portfolio 
of efficient and well-managed back office functions for 
its public service clients. 

Mouchel’s mix of consulting and business services 
is designed to reinforce strong operational capabilities 
with the transformational, strategic and design expertise 
needed to help its clients re-think how, and what, they 
do for the public. It provides the means to deliver better, 
more bespoke services to an increasingly sophisticated 
population in a climate of vastly reduced public budgets. 
It brings the agility to respond with practical, workable 
delivery solutions to rapidly-evolving policies in just 
about every area of public spending. And it delivers 
a well-proven model for public service partnership.

The challenge is immense – but so too are the 
opportunities, both for Mouchel and its clients. 
Public services have to evolve to remain relevant 
and affordable for society and there has never been 
a better time for public and private sectors to work 
together to deliver lasting change.

None of this is easy and Mouchel has also needed 
to evolve. It has made some tough decisions this year  
in order to reposition its business around the new market 
environment. But it has done it quickly and decisively 
with minimal impact on day-to-day operations. 
It has emerged leaner, stronger and more ably  
equipped to support its public service clients.

Strategy
Mouchel aims to deliver profitable business through 
partnerships and frameworks with the public sector and 
public service industries. Its focus will remain on the UK 
market, which is expected to become increasingly reliant 
on private sector relationships to secure cost savings and 
to retain essential services. It also aims to selectively 
develop profitable business in other mature markets 
overseas, where there are comparable public sector 
and public service needs. It will seek to avoid more volatile 
markets, but to extend its services into related fields, 
which will provide it with more resilience to cyclical 
fluctuations in trading. 

Mouchel aims to continue to develop a business that 
is highly cash generative, with target profit margins 
at around 8%. It will continue to provide a mix of consulting 
and business services, engineering design, maintenance 
management and asset delivery expertise in front-line 
and back-office environments. 

Strengths and opportunities
Mouchel’s portfolio of long-term, multi-service 
partnerships provides good forward visibility of earnings 
and an order book of £1.8bn (at 31 July 2010). Its bidding 
pipeline of £2.2bn (at 31 July 2010), remains stable despite 
the well-publicised reductions in public spending over the 
past 12 months. Mouchel benefits from strong barriers 
to entry in these markets – including the need for strong 
evidence of past experience in delivering such services 
and a demonstrable understanding of public service 
priorities and constraints – allowing it to attain a win rate 
of between one-in-three and two-in-five of all tenders 
by value.

The current dip in Mouchel’s core public sector markets 
has been brought about by the post-election review of 
departmental spending plans and the suspension of 
some important Government programmes of work. 
However, as Government policy develops, the Group 
expects to see opportunities in many areas and the private 
sector playing an even greater role in the transformation 
and delivery of public services. 

Client proposition Investment proposition
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Key performance indicators 

Performance Contract wins  
and renewals

Operating cash flow 
before exceptional items £m
£70.5m +115%

06 07 08 09 10

34.9
31.4

38.0
32.8

70.5

Cash conversion before 
exceptional costs %
171%

06 07 08 09 10

130

94 91

69

171

Adjusted earnings per share p
18.9p (28%)

06 07 08 09 10

17.8

21.0

25.7 26.4

18.9

Revenue £m
£632.6m (15%)

06 07 08 09 10

374.0
448.4

656.7

740.6

632.6

Underlying operating profit
£m
£41.2m (13%)

06 07 08 09 10

26.8

33.0

41.7

47.3

41.2

Underlying operating margin
%
6.5%

06 07 08 09 10

7.2 7.4

6.4 6.4 6.5

Order book (contracts won)
£m
£1,824m (2%)

06 07 08 09 10

1,200

1,500

2,100

1,863 1,824

Bidding pipeline 
(potential contracts) £m
£2,171m

06 07 08 09 10

1,000

1,400

2,200 2,163 2,171

Contract win rate %
48%

06 07 08 09 10

39

46

33

25

48
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Chairman’s statement

“Mouchel remains confident 
about the medium and long 
term, particularly given the 
pressure that will remain 
on the public sector to find 
new ways to deliver services 
more efficiently.”

Bo Lerenius
Chairman

Mouchel’s core public services market has 
faced unprecedented change during the past 
12 months. Cuts in public spending and a new 
political landscape have resulted in challenges 
for many of our clients. But there is increasing 
evidence to show that the public sector’s 
reliance on private sector support and 
services will grow substantially over the next 
few years. Emphasis on improving operational 
efficiency is by no means limited to the public 
sector, however, as we enter a new round of 
spending in the utilities market, the demand 
for greater value for money through the 
outsourcing of services is greater than ever. 
So, although short-term uncertainty remains 
in our markets, the longer-term outlook for 
professional support services providers 
such as Mouchel is good. 

Performance
Nonetheless, the year to 31 July 2010 was 
disappointing for Mouchel. For the first time 
since flotation Group revenue fell, by 15%, 
to £632.6m. The collapse of our Middle East 
business and our substantial withdrawal from 
the rail sector last year have contributed to 
this but market conditions in the UK became 
increasingly difficult during 2010 as public sector 
spending was reduced. As a result, underlying 
operating profits fell by 13% to £41.2m and 
adjusted earnings per share were 18.9p,  
a decrease of 28% on the previous year.

In response to the emerging market conditions 
we have acted decisively to reshape our 
management and support structure, incurring 
exceptional restructuring and impairment 
costs of £38.4m in the year (including the 
Middle East) as a consequence. Staff 
numbers in the business were reduced by  
8% to 31 July and a further 4% to 31 October 
2010. Annualised savings in operating costs 
of at least £25m are expected as a result.

After tax and exceptional items we have 
reported a loss for the year of £13.5m. 

Given this performance and the tough 
short-term outlook the Board has decided 
not to pay a final dividend for the year so as 
to conserve its resources to reduce debt and 
support commercial bidding activity, which is 
expected to yield longer-term benefit for 
shareholders. The overall dividend per share 
for the year, after taking account of the interim 
dividend already paid, is therefore 2.25p 
(2009: 6.10p). The Board plans to resume 
dividend payments once there is evidence 
of a sustained increase in demand for our 
services and a consequential improvement 
in performance. 
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Markets
The essential public services that we help  
to provide, and the vital infrastructure that  
we help to maintain, will still be needed  
despite the changes in the marketplace.  
Our long-standing knowledge of the public 
sector and our in-depth understanding of  
the principles and practice of public service 
delivery will help us to respond to market 
changes and the new priorities arising from 
the Government’s emerging policies.

We are confident that the private sector 
organisations that can help reduce spend 
and improve efficiency will play a greater role 
in public service delivery, helping to meet 
the Government’s target of reducing average 
departmental budgets by 19% over the next 
four years. Our existing portfolio of contracts 
and strong established relationships mean 
that we are well placed to capitalise on this 
trend. Our strategic focus, together with 
our position as one of the market leaders 
in highways and local authority business 
process outsourcing, will see an increase 
in opportunities for Mouchel in 2011 
and beyond. 

Challenges and opportunities
Mouchel has faced a number of challenges 
during 2009/10 largely due to market 
changes. The rapid and unexpected fall off in 
income from Mouchel’s Middle East business 
in 2008/09 was a direct result of the banking 
crisis and has precipitated a substantial 
withdrawal from the region. The remaining 
business has been focused on Abu Dhabi 
and has stabilised. Discussions are 
progressing around the future of the business 
and, while the short-term forecast includes 
very little for collection of Dubai receivables, 
we have continued to receive payments from 
Dubai World companies, our major creditor 
in the region. 

Mouchel’s Management Consulting business 
was significantly expanded in early 2008 
with the acquisition of Hedra, a specialist 
consultancy business focused almost 
exclusively on the public sector market. 
The subsequent integration of Hedra was 
more complex than originally anticipated 
and coincided with a downturn in the market 
for management consulting services in the 
public sector. 

Steps to turn the business around during  
the year have been successful, including the 
appointment of a new senior management 
team, a significant reduction in staffing, and 
cuts in overheads and cost base, which 
enabled closer integration of the business 
within the Group. In addition, several new  
and significant contracts have been secured, 
although fee levels and general activity remain 
depressed, leaving business performance, 
though much improved on last year, still well 
short of its potential once more buoyant 
markets return.

In rail, a sector from which the Group 
substantially exited in 2009, our remaining 
core engineering consultancy business is 
performing well and operates within a 
lower-risk business environment than our 
former maintenance contracting division.

The Group has again been successful in 
securing new business, resulting in our overall 
win rate being above the top end of our target 
range of one-in-three to two-in-five of all 
tenders submitted, by value. 

Board
There have been a number of changes  
to Mouchel’s Board this year. 

Kevin Young, Group Finance Director, who 
joined Mouchel in 1998 and continued in post 
after Mouchel’s flotation and its subsequent 
merger with Parkman, resigned in August 
2010. Kevin made a significant contribution 
to the development of Mouchel and we are 
grateful to him for his achievements. He was 
succeeded by David Tilston, who was 
appointed on 13 September. 

Since the year-end, we have announced  
the appointment of three new Non-Executive 
Directors; they are Seamus Keating, 
Richard Rae, and David Sugden. We are 
delighted to welcome these three talented 
and experienced individuals to the Board 
and I look forward to their support and 
challenge in the future. Richard and Seamus 
joined the Board on 4 November 2010; 
David will do so on 1 January 2011. 

Lynton Barker, who served as a Non-
Executive Director of Mouchel from March 
2008, resigned from the Board in June 2010; 
and Rodney Westhead is to resign as a 
Non-Executive Director at the AGM in 
January 2011. Ian Knight is also to step 
down on 1 September 2011 and will be 
succeeded by Seamus as Audit 
Committee Chairman.

Outlook
While demand remains satisfactory in many 
areas, some of the Group’s services have 
been affected by measures taken by the 
new Government to address the budget 
deficit and by related cutbacks in the local 
authority market. 

Our focus, therefore, is on reducing our  
costs and conserving our cash resources.

The full benefit of our most recent cost 
reduction measures will impact during the 
second half of 2010/11 and we will continue 
to monitor our cost base, taking further 
actions as necessary to control operating 
costs. In parallel, the Board has commenced 
refinancing its principal banking facilities 
and its lending banks are supportive of the 
process to complete such an exercise on 
appropriate terms by the time our interim 
results announcement is made in March  
2011. The Group’s renewed focus on cash 
generation and the efficient management 
of working capital will further strengthen 
our financial position.

Alongside these steps our attention remains 
firmly fixed on our clients and on helping them 
to maintain the highest possible levels of 
service to their customers and end-users. 
In spite of the downturn, we continue to  
enjoy a significant level of secured workload 
and our expertise in tackling the challenges 
involved in providing public services more 
efficiently creates new opportunities as 
prospective clients formulate their plans  
for service delivery in the prevailing public 
sector economic climate. 

Mouchel has faced some challenges in recent 
times. We have taken the tough decisions 
needed to ensure that we are operating 
appropriately in the current business 
environment and that we can maximise  
the benefits of a return to growth. Trading  
in the current year has started more slowly 
than expected and the immediate outlook 
remains uncertain. Whilst we expect to see 
some improvement in the second half of 
2010/11 as cost savings impact, in these 
circumstances it is right that the Group takes 
a more cautious approach to performance 
in the coming year. However, the Coalition 
Government’s policies together with our 
focused business strategy, our reliance 
on long-term contracts and our leading  
role in transforming essential services and  
in sustaining vital infrastructure all give us 
confidence in the medium- and long-term 
prospects for the Group.

Bo Lerenius
Chairman
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Business review

Overview
The public sector in Britain faces budgetary 
and operational challenges on an 
unprecedented scale, making Mouchel’s 
expertise in public service transformation 
and delivery more relevant than ever before. 

Mouchel has the skills and abilities to make 
a real impact in the transformation of public 
services; and a proven track record of 
success. For a public sector in need of new 
solutions and in search of new ways of 
thinking what Mouchel can offer is distinctive 
and innovative, yet stable and dependable.

Business model and strategy
Mouchel’s business model continues to be 
based on:

• maintaining a balanced portfolio of managed 
service and consultancy activities in the 
public and private sectors, and public 
service industries, focusing on:

 – highway services,
 – utility services primarily in water and 
energy,
 – central government support services,
 – local government service functions,
 – health, and
 – education;

• achieving good contract renewal and 
win rates, combined with strong market 
penetration to provide a range of services  
in partnership with new clients in its existing 
market sectors;

• increasing the level of integration between  
its existing areas of business in order to  
build new, combined service offers that 
meet the evolving needs of its clients as 
wider outsourcing contracts become  
more common;

“The services Mouchel provides 
are, in the main, essential 
non-discretionary activities 
that have an impact directly 
upon the individuals and 
communities served by 
Mouchel’s clients.”

Richard Cuthbert (right)
Chief Executive

David Tilston (left)
Finance Director
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• introducing – through organic growth and 
joint venture or limited acquisition – other 
new services and products to meet the 
evolving needs of its core client base; and

• extending its existing services into new, 
related markets within the public sector  
and public service industries in Britain  
and in mature overseas markets.

This model is proving to be resilient, even at 
the current level of change to Mouchel’s core 
markets; and, as the public sector looks to  
the commercial sector for support in delivering 
more service at lower cost, the Group expects 
this strategy to remain effective for the 
foreseeable future.

Structure and operations 
Strong customer relationships drive success 
in each of Mouchel’s core markets and so  
it is essential that the Group’s structure is 
designed around the sectors in which it 
operates. It is also critical that Mouchel’s 
management remains as lean as possible, 
while retaining adequate control over 
operations and safety.

These general principles have driven a 
major restructuring exercise in 2009/10, 
which has involved reducing the number  
of senior managers – both in operations  
and Group functions – by around 20%.  
As a result, the Group aims to improve the 
competitiveness of its offer and to improve 
both communications and service integration 
within the business.

Operations are managed through four 
business streams, three of which are 
positioned by market sector and the fourth – 
Mouchel’s Management Consulting business 
– by its service offer, which spans all the 
Group’s markets. This matrix structure 
promotes innovation, integration and 
collaborative working – and applies 
transformation and business improvement 
expertise in all market areas. 

This year, for the first time, Mouchel is 
reporting on the performance of these four 
business streams. However, in previous 
financial reports the Management Consulting 
and Government and Business Services 
business streams were combined as 
’Government Services’. 

This report summarises the activity  
of Mouchel’s business in:

• Highways,

• Government and Business Services,

• Regulated Industries, and 

• Management Consulting.

Mouchel’s Highways business is one of the 
largest of its kind in the UK and offers a holistic 
planning, design, maintenance and operations 
service to highway operators. During the 
past few years, the Group has extended its 
services to help authorities optimise the value 
of their road networks and to help them 
manage the movement of people and goods 
more effectively. In doing this, its focus has 
moved away from traditional highway design 
towards more technological and product-
based solutions that improve the use of 
road space. 

Mouchel’s Government and Business 
Services stream provides a broad range of 
services to local government and education 
authorities. Its differentiator is its ability to 
join-up and manage a wide range of 
back-office and front-line services, improving 
the efficiency and focus of these through 
planned service transformation, economies 
of scale, and strong commercial expertise. 
Services include a wide range of business 
process outsourcing functions, such as IT, 
HR, revenues and benefits, payroll and 
pensions’ services, together with property 
management, estates management and  
civil/structural engineering.

The Group’s Regulated Industries business 
stream works in water supply and wastewater 
management, waste management, energy 
generation and distribution. Its services 
include strategic consulting, asset modelling 
and design, asset management, flood 
prevention, environmental engineering and 
Mouchel’s international (predominantly Middle 
East) business. Mouchel is one of the UK’s 
largest water engineering businesses and 
leads the way in many areas of innovation 
in this sector.

The Management Consulting business stream 
is focused predominantly on the public sector, 
where it provides strategic change 
consultancy, transformational consultancy 
and other management consultancy services. 

The majority of services provided by these 
four businesses (approximately 97%) are 
delivered in the UK, but the remaining  
3% by revenue, is carried out in Europe,  
the Middle East and Australia. 
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Business review
Current and future development and performance

Overview
Mouchel has experienced a difficult year in 
2009/10 and this has had an impact on the 
Group’s financial performance. 

In the early months of the financial year 
demand remained relatively strong for 
Mouchel’s services but since the end of 
March 2010 – and in particular, following the 
change of Government in May – there has 
been an extensive reassessment of spending 
priorities and, in consequence, the 
postponement or reduction in scale of various 
programmes. The timing and impact of these 
measures has been particularly noticeable 
in the more discretionary areas of capital 
expenditure, for example in relatively 
small-scale highway improvement schemes 
and in school building projects. 

Compared with last year, Mouchel’s 
Regulated Industries business accounts 
for most of the Group’s £108m reduction 
in revenue as a result of: 

• a significant fall-off of work in the Middle East; 

• Mouchel’s withdrawal from rail re-signalling 
work, and the end of its bridge examination 
and assessment activities for Network Rail; 
and

• a temporary drop in workload in the water 
business as a result of the transition from 
Asset Management Plan (AMP) 4 to AMP 5. 

The collapse of workload in the Middle East 
also accounts for most of the movement in 
underlying profit.

However, Mouchel’s reliance on long-term 
relationships, and its focus on the delivery 
of essential services and vital infrastructure, 
has meant that the core business is being 
sustained and that medium- to long-term 
prospects for the business remain strong. 

Key performance indicators
Group 2010 2009 % change

Revenue (£m) 632.6 740.6 (15)

Underlying operating profit (£m) 41.2 47.3 (13)

Underlying operating margins % 6.5 6.4 –

Order book (£m) 1,824 1,863 (2)

Bidding pipeline¹ (£m) 2,171 2,163 –

Contract win rate² (%) 48 25 –

Staff numbers¹,³ 10,210 11,121 (8)

Staff turnover (voluntary) (%) 8 8 –

1 At 31 July 2010
2 Win rate is calculated by contract value
3 Includes temporary staff

Mouchel, as a key partner to Severn Trent, has been 
instrumental in developing our revised approach 
to sewerage management planning. The team’s 
experience and innovative thinking has enabled 
the timely roll-out of a new specification which is 
a fundamental ‘step change’ in the understanding 
of managing sewerage assets by using a proactive 
risk-based approach. ”David Terry, SMP Lead,  
Severn Trent Water

Through the partnership with Mouchel, Middlesbrough 
Council has been able to realise savings and 
efficiencies across a number of areas. 

One recent example of this is a Mouchel-led project 
to create an integrated transport unit for passenger 
transport. This is on course to deliver savings of 
around £500,000 per annum against an annual budget 
of £3.5m. 

The decision to let Mouchel manage and drive forward 
this project has proved very successful. ”Ian Parker, Chief Executive, 
Middlesbrough Council

I have been impressed by the quality and quantity of 
work Mouchel’s team has delivered over the last two 
years and its dedication and determination to deliver 
a high-quality piece of work – on time. ”Geoff Allister, Chief Executive of Roads Service

Mouchel, as a key supplier to the Highways Agency, 
has supported our fundamental change in the design 
of new road capacity that reduces costs by 40% 
and increasing the speed of delivery compared 
with motorway widening. ”Mike Wilson, Network Delivery and Development 
Regional Divisional Director, East Midlands

Strong and well coordinated partnerships are 
helping us to achieve better outcomes for local people 
against a challenging social and economic backdrop. 
The partnerships have added strength to our 
regeneration and transformation plans, securing 
investment and new jobs for local people that 
could not have been secured in any other way. ”Roger Ellis, Chief Executive, 
Rochdale Metropolitan Borough Council

This approach has been on the horizon for years, but 
the Mouchel involvement has been the catalyst to make 
it happen. It has brought the service together, meaning 
that we can make sure that we are offering the same 
level of service to everyone and that we have rigorous 
procedures and checks in place. Without the Mouchel 
involvement I don’t think the changes would have 
happened. ”Matthew Prenton, Integrated Transport 
Unit Manager, Oldham Council
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Mouchel believes that pressure on the public 
sector to reduce costs will lead to greater 
demand for private sector support and that 
the drive for greater efficiency will present 
further opportunities for partnerships and 
collaboration. In addition, Mouchel’s business 
in the privatised utilities sector is not subject 
to the same degree of pressure, with money 
being ring-fenced following recent regulatory 
reviews. As the water industry enters a new 
spending (AMP) cycle, prospects for Mouchel, 
one of Britain’s largest consultants in this area, 
remain good.

The October 2010 Comprehensive Spending 
Review (CSR) sets out Government objectives 
for reduced expenditure across all 
departments (averaging 19%) and outlines a 
number of underlying themes for how services 
might be delivered. It describes a desire to 
localise decisions on services and to improve 
transparency. There was also an emphasis 
on greater inclusion of the voluntary and 
community sector in delivering services. 
The CSR also outlined a shift in how services 
will be paid for, with a move towards simpler 
payment mechanisms and a greater emphasis 
on payments being based on results. 

Increased competition within the public 
service markets in which Mouchel continues 
to trade has presented some additional 
challenges for the Group. In response,  
it has taken some decisive steps to improve 
medium-term resilience by restructuring its 
management resources, by reviewing its  
office portfolio and by reshaping its support 
functions to reflect changing market needs. 
The significant investment made in new 
systems over the past two years has facilitated 
this restructuring. However, this, together 
with asset impairment charges across the 
business and amortisation of intangible 
assets, arising from business combinations, 
has resulted in exceptional costs of £45.2m, 
which includes £15.2m in the first half of the 
year for the Middle East business (£10m 
contract receivables impairment and £5.2m 
for restructuring). (Further details on 
exceptional items can be found in Note 3.) 
In consequence, Mouchel is reporting a loss 
before tax of £14.7m for the financial year. 

Given this performance and the tough 
short-term outlook the Board has decided 
not to pay a final dividend for the year so as 
to conserve its resources to reduce debt and 
support commercial bidding activity, which 
is expected to yield longer-term benefit for 
shareholders. The overall dividend per share 
for the year, after taking account of the interim 
dividend already paid, is therefore 2.25p 
(2009: 6.10p).

Good progress has been made during  
the financial year to strengthen the medium-
to longer-term resilience of Mouchel’s 
business by improving contract win rates 
in Highways and Government and Business 
Services, by tackling the Middle East debt 
position, by improving cash management, 
and by refocusing its Management 
Consulting business. 

Mouchel has again exceeded its target win 
rate of one-in-three to two-in-five of all tenders 
submitted, by value. This results from major 
highways wins in Highways Agency (HA) 
Areas 1 and 13; and in Western Australia, 
where it has been named preferred proponent 
for a highway maintenance contract in Perth 
and has, since the year-end, been named 
as preferred proponent for the Mid-West & 
Gascoyne Regions tender. Alongside these 
wins was the outsourcing partnership with 
Bournemouth Borough Council, where the 
Group was named as preferred bidder in 
June 2010. 

The restructuring of Mouchel’s Management 
Consulting business is now complete and the 
business has reported a number of significant 
wins during the year, including its appointment 
to operate the Department of Health’s Centre 
for Workforce Intelligence, a landmark 
commission that positions the business well 
for further expansion into the health sector. 

In the Middle East, the Group’s business 
operations have been stabilised and are now 
focused on Abu Dhabi. Discussions continue 
around the future of the business. Payments 
have been received from Dubai World, 
Mouchel’s principal creditor in that region, 
in respect of a proportion of certified balances, 
and the Group continues to pursue other 
outstanding debts.

Mouchel has continued to strengthen its 
financial position, successfully delivering 
improvements in working capital, capital 
expenditure and procurement savings; and 
it has put in place new third-party bonding 
facilities at no extra cost to further improve 
the headroom of its main banking facilities. 

The Group has made a significant investment 
in new management systems during the past 
two years and the programme to integrate 
SAP into business operations is now 
substantially complete. This has already 
contributed to the efficiency improvements 
described previously and is expected 
to create further lasting benefits. 
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Managed  
Motorways 

The Highways Agency (HA) 
has identified 340 miles of 
motorway for ‘Managed 
Motorway’ enhancement 
(formerly known as Active 
Traffic Management or 
ATM). Mouchel managed 
the implementation of the 
first pilot ATM scheme on 
the M42 and is currently 
engaged in further 
schemes in various 
locations, including 
around the ‘Birmingham 
Motorway Box’.

Intelligent  
Transport  
Systems
Innovative operational 
regimes, supported by 
technology, will reduce 
incidents on our roads. 
Mouchel provides control 
centres and systems; travel 
and customer information; 
and helps to introduce 
variable mandatory speed 
limits, which lessen the 
impact of road traffic.

Highway 
improvement  

To improve the day-to-day 
performance of the road 
network, Mouchel provides 
expert services in the 
upgrade of the physical 
infrastructure and network 
improvement. It carries out 
improvement interventions 
and maintenance work to 
maximise usage of the 
asset at minimum 
life-cycle cost.

Highways
Mouchel’s Highways business  
continues to focus on a broad 
range of services, differentiating 
it from competitors, through its 
ability to deliver at each stage in 
the road network cycle: conception, 
planning, design, implementation, 
management, maintenance, 
operation and optimisation.
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Network 
management 

Mouchel manages, 
maintains and optimises 
the performance of 
motorways, trunk 
roads and local roads. 
This involves design, 
maintenance and 
hands-on operational 
delivery. The Group 
provides network 
management services 
for the HA, Transport 
for London, NE Scotland 
OpCo, and a number 
of local authorities.

Environmental 
assessment  

Mouchel ensures that the 
environmental obligations 
and aspirations of its 
highways clients are 
considered at each stage 
of the decision-making 
process. This allows 
environmental risks to be 
managed and addressed, 
and opportunities 
harnessed, throughout a 
highway scheme’s life 
cycle. The Group 
produces informal and 
formal assessments and 
environmental licensing/
permitting documents.

Parking  
enforcement 

Mouchel provides a 
number of services relating 
to parking and to civil 
enforcement, including 
CCTV, active number plate 
recognition, traffic speed 
enforcement, payment and 
penalty notice processing 
systems and Traffic 
Management Act road 
space management. 
It provides manpower, 
software, hardware, 
consultancy, and 
managed services.

Transport  
planning 

Mouchel undertakes a wide 
range of work to improve 
the public transport 
network as well as helping 
local authority partners 
deliver their in-house 
transportation services 
more efficiently. From 
improving rail stations and 
interchanges to upgrading 
bus corridor infrastructure, 
Mouchel understands the 
important role that public 
transport plays in providing 
sustainable alternatives to 
the private car. 

Its work extends to helping 
people to make informed 
decisions about their travel 
choices and to working 
with the public and private 
sector to plan travel in the 
workplace, schools, 
colleges and universities.
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We all know when congestion is going to be a problem 
– during road works, a bit of rain, or the school run. 
The level of road use in Hertfordshire is one of the 
highest in the country with St Albans experiencing 
average journey speeds below 18mph. It’s made worse 
by everyone driving around looking for parking spaces, 
which is why the new variable message signs that give 
up-to-the-minute details of spaces available in the five 
car parks has helped to cut road traffic in the town 
by 10%. ”
As part of the Intelligent Transport System (ITS) strategy, 
Mouchel is developing measures such as variable 
message signing on strategic routes and car park 
management using automatic number plate recognition. 
The impact of congestion includes loss of time, 
increased pollution, wasted fuel, road rage and 
accidents. ITS measures reduce congestion 
and improve the quality of life for drivers and 
the whole community.

Business review
Current and future development and performance
Highways sector review

Market overview
Mouchel has an established track record  
in the highways market and is considered  
to be a market leader in terms of technology 
maintenance and operations. It helps to deliver 
improvements throughout the whole life of a 
road network and is the leading consultant  
for the active management of traffic on 
motorways. 

Mouchel’s highways market can be 
divided into three principal customer 
markets, comprising: 

•  national strategic road networks in the UK 
(Highways Agency, Transport Scotland, 
Northern Ireland Roads Service and 
Transport for London); 

• strategic road networks overseas – in 
countries with mature economies and with 
similar operational needs to the UK; and 

• local authority road networks in the UK. 

Strategic road networks in the UK
As part of the CSR, the Government has 
announced that the Department for Transport 
(DfT) will reduce overall spending by 15% 
in real terms, with savings of 21% from 
its resource budget and an 11% reduction 
in capital spending. 

Key achievements
For strategic networks, Mouchel
•  was awarded five-year HA MAC contracts in Areas 1 and 13 in JV with 

Enterprise. These two awards are extendable to seven years; and 

•  helped deliver the first ‘through junction’ hard shoulder running in the UK 
on the M42 motorway.

For overseas networks, Mouchel
•  was named as the preferred proponent (bidder) for the Perth Metropolitan 

ISA contract.

For local authorities, Mouchel
•  has delivered a broader bundle of services to its existing clients – for example 

Mouchel secured a five-year highway services partnership contract with 
Lincolnshire County Council (extendable to 10 years), a service which will 
be integrated with others already delivered by Mouchel (through Government 
and Business Services).

Key performance indicators
Highways 2010 2009 % change

Revenue £m 254.6 255.8 0

Underlying operating profit £m 19.4 19.8 (2)

Underlying operating margins % 7.6 7.7 –

Order book £m 455 530 (14.2)

Bidding pipeline¹ £m 1,162 1,101 5.5

Contract win rate² % 58 12 –

Staff numbers1,3 3,781 3,997 (5)

Staff turnover (voluntary) 6 7 –

1 At 31 July 2010
2 Win rate is calculated by contract value
3 Includes temporary staff



Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2010 13

B
usiness review

While the DfT has yet to announce more  
detail about its proposed cuts, the move 
towards technology-based improvements 
such as the HA’s Managed Motorway 
programme will continue as this provides an 
economic alternative to motorway widening 
schemes and maximises use of the existing 
road asset. This presents an opportunity for 
Mouchel, which remains one of Britain’s 
leading consultants in active management  
of traffic on strategic road networks. 

Highways clients will continue to look at  
cost and efficiency savings through improved 
procurement models. As a leader in both 
technology management and maintenance 
contracts (known as TechMAC contracts) 
and Managing Agent Contractor (MAC) 
contracts, Mouchel is ideally positioned 
for these new opportunities.

As confirmed in the CSR, some targeted 
capital spending will continue. The £650m 
to £850m A5 cross-border scheme in 
north-west Ireland is the largest capital road 
scheme in the UK and is expected to continue 
in line with its current programme. Mouchel 
was appointed as designer for the scheme in 
2007 and is continuing to deliver consultancy 
services on the project.

Local authorities
As a result of the CSR, local authorities will be 
required to make savings of 28% in transport 
spending over the review period. Capital 
highways schemes have been reduced and 
new procurement will play a key part in this 
efficiency drive. 

The Government has made it clear that it 
expects the private sector to play a greater 
role in public service delivery and Mouchel 
anticipates an increase in integrated highways 
services opportunities over the next few years. 
The Group has an established track record 
in the local authority highways market and 
has established JV partners to deliver the 
anticipated increase in integrated service 
contracts. When services are bundled, 
Mouchel has a competitive edge, due to the 
Group’s ability to provide a diverse range  
of services in-house, including ‘back-office’ 
functions, property maintenance, technology 
and parking/civil enforcement, IT, finance 
and human resources.

Strategic road networks overseas 
In Australia, the effects of the economic 
downturn have been less severe with 
Government spending holding up well. 
Part of the Group’s longer-term strategy  
has been to use the expertise gained  

through existing highway maintenance 
contracts in the UK to enter selected overseas 
markets where this expertise is in demand.  
As a result, Mouchel has been tracking the 
market in Australia over the past few years  
and has established a fully-integrated JV with 
Australian contractor, Downer, to address 
new opportunities in Western Australia. 

Performance
Highways revenues were unchanged on  
last year at £254.6m, and in a challenging 
environment, underlying operating profits fell 
by only 2% to £19.4m in 2009/10. This is due 
to a number of factors, most notably the fact 
that the impact of Government stimulus was 
not sufficient to offset lost business and 
re-tendered contracts at lower margins. 
However, the business did successfully 
address both its cost base in the core 
regional business and resolved a number 
of performance issues. The award of two HA 
MAC contracts (where Mouchel was already 
part incumbent in both) was particularly 
significant. Each contract was secured 
through a 50:50 JV with Enterprise, which 
means, in the case of Area 13, that Mouchel 
now has a larger share. (Previously it was 
undertaken through a JV with Amey, where 
the Group had only a 25% interest.) 



14 Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2010

Business review
Current and future development and performance
Highways sector review continued

Mouchel’s parking software business made 
good progress, although this was more than 
offset by the move into developing Mouchel’s 
on-street parking business which has been 
slow to gain market traction. 

The Highways business also incurred initial 
investment costs in its move into Australia – 
a move which has already yielded positive 
results with the Group being named as 
preferred proponent in a JV with Downer 
for the Metropolitan Integrated Service 
Arrangement (ISA) contract in Perth, Western 
Australia. The ISA is a new contract model 
whereby combined client/provider teams 
manage and maintain all road assets within 
the region. It covers asset management, 
network operations, maintenance delivery 
and business management.

The Perth Metropolitan ISA is the first of three 
ongoing tenders to provide road management 
and maintenance services as an integrated 
services provider with Main Roads, the 
government body responsible for all state-
wide road assets in Western Australia.  
The approach taken by Western Australia  
is market-leading and is being watched by 
other states with interest. It is likely that some 
states will adopt a similar approach, providing 
DownerMouchel with further opportunities 
in the long term.

Since the end of the financial year, Mouchel 
has also been named as preferred proponent 
for the Mid West & Gascoyne ISA in Western 
Australia. A third ISA tender, for the Kimberley 
region, has been submitted and the result 
of that competition will be announced later 
in the year. 

Our Year 2 pupils really enjoyed their visit to the 
LV= Streetwise life-sized village. It provided a fun way to 
learn essential safety skills. The parent/teacher packs, 
which contain safety DVDs and child armbands for 
each visitor, have come in useful too. It’s a fantastic 
resource to help improve road safety among 
children. ”
EnterpriseMouchel Area 3 is working on behalf of the HA 
with Bournemouth-based charity LV= Streetwise to 
support road safety in the local community. The ‘mock 
village’ attracts about 13,000 schoolchildren a year and 
includes an interactive ‘stopping distance’ display, which 
aims to develop skills for judging the stopping distances 
of moving vehicles.
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Mouchel’s leading role in the HA’s Managed 
Motorways programme continued this year 
with the opening of the M6 hard-shoulder 
running scheme between junctions 4 and 5 
(part of the ‘Birmingham Box’). This provides 
an innovative and cost-effective way of 
increasing capacity by utilising motorway hard 
shoulders as additional running lanes during 
peak periods. Mouchel believes that similar 
schemes will be developed as a way of 
managing increasing traffic on the most 
congested sections of the network. In addition 
to reducing congestion, HA figures show that 
personal injury accidents have fallen 35%, 
with no fatal or serious injury accidents 
occurring during times when hard shoulder 
running is active.

The New Zealand Transport Agency has 
appointed Mouchel to provide strategic 
advice and support for the development  
of a hard-shoulder scheme on State Highway 
1 between Ngauranga and Aotea Quay. 
A key part of Mouchel’s role will be to 
transfer knowledge from the successful 
UK schemes to the teams in New Zealand, 
enabling local consultants and contractors 
to deliver the project.

The Group has been awarded contract 
extensions by Wiltshire County Council (from 
1 June 2011 to 31 May 2012), by Westminster 
Council (from October 2010 to September 
2011) and by the HA for its Project Support 
Framework (from 4 July 2010 to 3 April 2011).

Over the year, Mouchel’s Highways business 
has secured contracts with an estimated value 
of £269m at a win rate of 58% (by value). 

Strategy/outlook
Mouchel will continue to focus on the 
managed services market, providing  
visibility of future income streams.  
The Group’s long-term contracts and 
relationships, which are focused on the 
delivery of essential services and the 
maintenance of vital infrastructure, mean  
that its core business can be sustained 
through fluctuating economic conditions. 

The Group’s new HA MAC contract wins in 
Areas 1 and 13 began in July 2010 and will  
run for five years with potential extensions for 
another two years. Further opportunities in 
Areas 2 and 10 are expected to arise in 2011.

In Scotland, Mouchel has been awarded a 
one-year extension to its north east operating 
company commission, which covers 
integrated management and operational 
delivery. A fourth generation of operating 
company contracts will be tendered in 2011 
and the Group will look to maintain/increase 
its market share of these.

The Group anticipates an increase in  
local authority outsourcing as a result of  
the economic climate and is well placed to 
take advantage of these opportunities and  
to increase its penetration into local authority 
markets. It will target integrated network 
management and PFI opportunities. For 
example, Mouchel is currently short-listed to 
bid in JV with Carillion for a 25-year highway 
maintenance PFI contract for Sheffield and for 
a 10-year bundled services contract in Essex. 

Mouchel will build on its recent success 
in the Australian highways network 
management market through consolidation 
and development of further opportunities, 
both in Australia and New Zealand. 

I regularly travel to Dublin from Letterkenny to visit my 
son and his family, and the traffic along the A5 is a 
nightmare. Despite being the major road link between 
Dublin and the north west, it’s single carriageway all the 
way and each of the towns along the route becomes a 
bottleneck. The A5 Western Transport Corridor (WTC) 
will make my journey much quicker and safer. ”
Mouchel is working alongside the Roads Service in 
developing the A5 WTC, an 85km upgrade of the A5 
in the west of Northern Ireland, providing a strategic link 
between Dublin and the north-west of the island. 
The existing A5 acts as both a long-distance road and 
a major conduit in the local road network. In addition 
to the immediate improvements for road users with 
reduced journey times and improved levels of safety, 
benefits provided by the A5 WTC include reduced noise, 
improved air quality and much wider social and economic 
benefits to the community. The A5 WTC is the largest 
road project ever to be undertaken in Northern Ireland.
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Transformation 
 

Mouchel helps clients 
improve performance 
through designing and 
implementing changes 
to the way they work. 
These changes range 
from major transformation 
programmes through 
to individual team 
improvement projects. 
Mouchel focuses on 
enhancing the customer 
experience, maximising 
value for money and 
reducing cost, while 
ensuring that new models 
are sustainable and owned 
by clients and their staff.

Asset and 
environmental 
services
Mouchel provides the full 
range of estate 
management services 
and strategic property 
asset management advice. 
The Group also provides 
building maintenance 
consultancy services 
and facility management, 
including minor works for 
local authorities and other 
clients. Its environmental 
services team operates 
through a number of 24/7 
property service desks, 
handling more than 
64,000 calls per year. 

Government and  
Business Services
Mouchel is one of the UK’s 
largest providers of outsourced 
professional and support services to 
local authorities. Its GBS business also 
supports other public bodies, such as 
the police and fire and rescue services, 
and development agencies through 
long-term strategic transformational 
partnerships. 
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Business services 
 

Mouchel has substantial 
experience in the delivery 
of back-office business 
services for local 
authorities. Services 
include HR and payroll 
(where it produces more 
than 1.2m payslips per 
year), finance and 
accounting, ICT, and 
revenues collection. 
The Group works 
with clients to procure 
products and services 
in the most cost-effective 
and efficient manner.

Citizen  
services 
 
Mouchel delivers a 
number of customer 
services functions for 
local authorities and is 
the front-line contact to 
citizens via telephone, 
the Web and in person 
through one-stop shops. 
By establishing more 
efficient ways of doing 
things for communities 
and in the delivery of 
council services, the 
Group hopes to 
improve quality of life 
for every citizen.

Education  
 

Mouchel provides a wide 
range of support services 
that allow schools to focus 
on their core business of 
teaching and learning. 
Its services cover every 
aspect of school activities, 
including leadership 
support, wellbeing, ICT, 
finance, and the design 
and project management 
of building upgrades.

Blue-light  
services 

The blue-light sector is a 
core market for Mouchel. 
The Group helps to 
simplify business 
processes, automate 
systems delivering 
efficiencies in activities 
such as pensions and 
payroll, as well as 
helping to manage 
property assets.
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Business review
Current and future development and performance
Government and Business Services sector review

Market overview
Following the CSR, GBS clients will face cuts 
in central government funding over the next 
four years. At the same time, the Government 
has made a strong commitment towards 
devolving greater financial responsibility to 
councils and removing a large number of 
ring-fenced budgets. This will provide councils 
with extra flexibility to manage the cuts in 
spending. Mouchel is confident that the 
outsourcing and service re-engineering 
required to meet these challenges provide 
significant prospects for growth, especially 
in view of the Group’s recent development, 
following the acquisition and successful 
integration of HBS, the local authority 
business process outsourcing (BPO) 
specialist in August 2007, and the Hedra 
management consulting practice in 
March 2008. 

Local government
There are 466 authorities covering England 
and Wales. Together they represent more 
than 50m people and currently spend 
around £113bn a year on local services. 
They include county councils, metropolitan 
district councils, English unitary authorities, 
London boroughs, shire district councils 
and Welsh unitary authorities.

I would recommend the Mouchel Apprenticeship 
training programme to anyone. Not only has it has given 
me the opportunity to decide what career path I would 
like to follow and what I would like to do with my life, 
Mouchel is a company that works to improve society. 
Whether it’s fixing leaking water pipes, helping traffic 
along motorways or enhancing learning environments 
in our schools – working for Mouchel in whatever 
department, you feel involved with it all. ”
The Mouchel Training Centre offers vocational training 
to young people through ‘work-based learning’, 
giving 16 – 24-year-olds the opportunity to achieve a 
qualification in business administration. An essential 
part of the apprenticeship training is practical vocational 
experience within established organisations.

Key achievements

Appointment as preferred bidder for the 10-year contract with Bournemouth 
Council (with the potential of a five-year extension).

The five-year extension of Mouchel’s contract with Middlesbrough.

Stronger relationships and support to the delivery of significant transformational 
activities with all Mouchel’s key strategic partners.

Key performance indicators
Government and Business Services 2010 2009 % change

Revenue £m 231.3 225.0 3

Underlying operating profit £m 15.0 12.2 23

Underlying operating margins % 6.5 5.4 –

Order book £m 1,115 1,065 5

Bidding pipeline¹ £m 796 845 (6)

Contract win rate² % 37 38 –

Staff numbers¹,³ 4,101 4,322 (5)

Staff turnover (voluntary) % 8 8 –

1 At 31 July 2010
2 Win rate is calculated by contract value
3 Includes temporary staff
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The local government market is complex and 
fragmented, and historically there has been 
little joint procurement activity or common 
approaches across authorities. As a result, 
Mouchel has a wide range of service-based 
contracts, which include large multiple-service 
partnership contracts, single-service contracts 
and framework agreements.

The Government’s proposals to tackle national 
debt mean that local authorities face deep 
budgetary cuts. In the short term the impact 
of these will be felt in more discretionary areas 
of spending, with a proposed 30% cut in 
capital funded schemes. Mouchel’s strategy 
of focusing on long-term managed service 
contracts has reduced its exposure to a fall 
in these schemes; but short-term revenue 
projections will inevitably be affected. 

Despite these short-term challenges, the 
Group is optimistic about the medium- 
to long-term prospects within the local 
government market. There is already evidence 
of more local authorities looking to outsource 
services to the private sector as they seek 
efficiencies, service improvements and 
reduced costs. Mouchel is in a good position 
to provide support as it has a large number of 
long-term, large-scale local authority bundled 
service partnership contracts. There will be 
opportunities to support authorities who are 
yet to embrace outsourcing on any significant 
scale and others who may have outsourced 
single services already, but may now see 
further benefits of adopting bundled 
service arrangements. 

There is now an unprecedented case for 
councils to share back-office support costs, 
and in many cases the realisation of benefits 
will be accelerated through the procurement 
of a strategic private sector partner. The 
introduction of Community or Place-based 
budgets also presents an opportunity for 
councils to share services with other 
organisations in the same locality. 

Mouchel’s development of its transformation 
capability in recent years, and the integration 
of these capabilities with its business and 
professional services, means that it is 
well positioned to support clients in the 
transformation of their whole organisation 
to achieve budget cuts.

Infrastructure and capital investment has been 
used by local authorities as the primary driver 
for regeneration and urban renaissance in 
recent years. A fall in public sector funding  
will move authorities away from such 
schemes. However, economic and social 
regeneration will remain key priorities.  
Mouchel will continue to grow its community 
regeneration proposition, which provides  
a delivery vehicle to solve the problems of 
unemployment, skills shortages, poor health, 
industrial restructuring and housing shortages. 
This is closely aligned to the plans for local 
enterprise partnerships (with the business sector 
taking an increasingly important role) as well 
as supporting the principles of localism.
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Business review
Current and future development and performance
Government and Business Services sector review continued

Education
The total budget for Education has increased 
under the CSR, rising by £3.6bn in real terms 
to around £39bn. Despite this increase, only 
£15.8bn has been allocated for capital 
spending, representing a 60% cut during the 
review period. The cancellation of the Building 
Schools for the Future Programme does 
present further opportunity for Mouchel as 
contractors no longer have responsibility for 
selecting their partners which makes it easier 
and cheaper for Mouchel to bid for work.

New Government policies seek to improve 
standards by giving parents more freedom in 
their choice of school, by giving schools more 
choice in how they operate; and by increasing 
the range of education providers. Free 
Schools, promoted by parents and teachers, 
will be established and Education Trusts and 
Academy sponsors will increase the number 
of schools under their control. Within this new 
environment, Mouchel believes that schools 
will work together via federations and clusters 
to deliver broader educational services in a 
more efficient way. As more schools operate 
outside local government control, the role of 
local authorities will change. 

These new groupings of schools create a 
demand for Mouchel’s learning-led services 
and the Group anticipates that there will be 
a role for it in supporting, or delivering, a 
new operating model for the local authority 
education function. Mouchel has a 
successful track record both in the 
Academies programme and as a provider 
of school support services. Its existing 
experience, combined with its specialist 
consultancy expertise in local authorities 
and children’s services, will position the 
Group favourably for future growth in this 
market, and for its planned expansion into 
further and higher education.

Mouchel supports schools with a full range 
of support services (in property and facilities 
management, ICT, finance, payroll and HR, 
training, procurement etc). Its understanding 
of the operations of schools and colleges 
allows it to identify and deliver operating 
efficiencies which will be important as revenue 
reduces. The Group anticipates opportunities 
to act in programme management roles for 
local authorities and groups of schools, and 
to bid for ICT contracts for new schools. 
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By positioning itself for these additional 
opportunities, Mouchel has established 
the Group as one of the leading providers 
of bundled business process outsourcing 
services to local authorities in the UK. The 
prospects for new work in GBS are especially 
strong, reflecting the desire for local authorities 
to work with each other, alongside the private 
sector, to deliver services more efficiently 
and to reduce costs. 

Mouchel has been appointed as preferred 
bidder for the 10-year contract with 
Bournemouth Council during the period. 
We will deliver ICT, property and revenues 
and benefits services, and anticipate further 
service transfers (which fall within the 
provisions of this incremental partnership) 
during the course of the contract. One of the 
most exciting aspects of this new relationship 
is that we will be working closely with the 
Council to deliver efficiencies and 
transformation across the whole Council. 
There is the potential of a five-year extension.

The partnership between Middlesbrough 
Council and Mouchel is now set to continue 
to 2016, following the Council Executive’s 
decision to extend the contract by a further 
five years. The extension has been secured 
following extensive negotiations and 
represents a step-change to the existing 
contract terms. 

The Group has also secured a position 
with North East Lincolnshire Council on its 
four-year framework contract in support 
of its economic wellbeing programme.

Over the year, Mouchel’s GBS business has 
secured contracts with an estimated value 
of £238m at a win rate of 37% (by value). 

Blue-light/emergency services
Under the CSR, there is to be a 14% cut 
in police resource funding in real terms. 
Despite these cuts, there is a commitment 
to maintain front-line services, which means 
there will be a clear focus on reviewing 
terms and conditions of service, and making 
efficiencies in IT, back-office and 
procurement to improve productivity.

The blue-light sector remains some way 
behind many local authorities, who have 
collaborated with the private sector to simplify 
business processes, automate their systems, 
and ensure that they are compatible and 
accessible. If it is to meet internal and external 
calls for savings and improvement, the sector 
will have to become more innovative, efficient, 
intelligence-driven and collaborative. 
Mouchel already works with 18 out of the 
43 police services in England and Wales, 
and is therefore well placed to capitalise 
on this trend.

Performance
GBS saw underlying operating profit 
increase by 23% to £15m (with revenues 
up 3% at £231m). This was due to improved 
performance of the bundled service contracts, 
combined with the impact of efficiency 
measures across the business. 
Performance was offset slightly by some 
customers deciding to reduce certain areas 
of discretionary spend and by an adverse 
property market, particularly in the second 
half of the year.

During the year, GBS has developed its major 
partnerships in Lincolnshire, Milton Keynes, 
Middlesbrough, Bath and North East 
Somerset, Liverpool, Knowsley, Rochdale 
and Oldham; and sees the prospect of 
broadening these relationships in the future. 

Strategy/outlook
The CSR indicates that local government 
will be given more freedom and more 
responsibility, and will increasingly focus on 
policy and commissioning rather than delivery. 
Mouchel will continue to explore how it can 
support existing customers by providing a 
wide basket of services, allowing it to deliver 
more for councils in terms of saving money 
and improving people’s lives. Each of its 
large-scale partnership contracts has 
grown organically and most of Mouchel’s 
clients are talking about further significant 
contract expansion plans.

Aligned with this approach, Mouchel will  
seek to extend its services into other areas, 
such as neighbouring councils, educational 
establishments, the health sector, police 
forces, local enterprise partnerships and  
other local public sector bodies. It will  
develop strong new propositions in economic 
development, adult care and sustainable 
communities, and will become more influential 
in the market.

Mouchel will target new business in its  
core bundled service market – choosing 
opportunities where it can develop true 
partnerships, transform services and add 
most value to clients. 

The Group will also look to grow its business 
selectively in central government, challenging 
some of the more established players. It will 
target known client relationships and 
cross-over services and develop new partners 
where it needs complementary capability 
and knowledge. For example, it has recently 
partnered with A4E on a ‘welfare to work’ 
prospect (a Department for Work and 
Pensions scheme that helps unemployed 
people get back to work and break the cycle 
of benefit dependency). It will also target 
niche opportunities that play to its core 
strengths (such as pension management 
and administration).

The Government’s changes to education 
policy have resulted in a fragmented market 
and a wider range of potential clients, each 
with a differing skills base and experience. 
Mouchel’s focus will be to work with these 
new education providers using its existing 
knowledge and competencies in the sector 
and building on its portfolio of services from 
across the business.

The governors, staff and students of The Marlborough 
School at Woodstock are unanimous in their 
appreciation of Mouchel’s work in providing an excellent 
‘landmark’ building, which meets all of their hopes and 
aspirations. The finished product is both a pleasure to 
behold and a pleasure to occupy. ”
The Marlborough School Science Building was 
completed in June 2010 and Mouchel was responsible 
for its design and project management. The facility was 
part of wider development of the site commissioned by 
Oxford County Council. The design included a number 
of environmental features, such as renewable energy 
ground-source heat pumps and solar panels to assist 
with the pre-heating of hot water. In addition, a display 
screen has been installed so that pupils can understand 
the energy usage of the building. 
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Central  
government  

Mouchel delivers 
transformation projects 
relating to the outsourcing 
of central government 
services. The team also 
works for Her Majesty’s 
Courts Service – an 
executive agency of the 
Ministry of Justice – 
providing technical and 
programme assurance for 
refurbishment projects.

Health 
 
 
Mouchel is heading up 
the Centre for Workforce 
Intelligence (CfWI), 
an organisation 
commissioned by the 
Department of Health 
to determine its future 
workforce requirements. 
This contract takes 
Mouchel into a new area 
of long-term workforce 
planning.

Utilities 
 
 
Mouchel offers advisory 
services to water and 
electricity companies 
to help them with 
performance improvement 
and cost reduction 
processes. Clients include 
United Utilities (UU) and 
EDF. For UU, Mouchel 
helped to review the 
organisation’s SAP 
programme scope, its 
deployment strategy, 
solution architecture 
and detailed plans for 
back-office work and asset 
management. For EDF 
Mouchel developed its 
Smart Metering 
technology strategy. 

Management 
Consulting
Mouchel’s Management Consulting 
business provides professional  
services in four key areas: business 
transformation, performance 
improvement, efficiency and cost 
reduction, and managed services.  
Its clients work in local and central 
government organisations, health, 
education, transport and utilities. 
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‘Community  
budgets’ 

The Government’s pilot 
‘community budgets’ 
initiative offers significant 
scope for local authorities 
and their partners to 
further develop the 
approaches piloted under 
the banner of ‘Total Place’. 
Mouchel is able to help 
clients maximise the 
benefits of this initiative 
by defining the scope of 
services to be covered 
and the governance 
arrangements. In addition 
Mouchel can help councils 
to secure cash and 
non-cash benefits and 
to implement business 
and cultural change.

Local  
government 
transformation 
Mouchel is at the forefront 
of the change agenda, 
supporting innovative 
change programmes. 
In Lincolnshire, it is 
assisting the county 
council’s ‘Efficiency 
Programme’ by providing 
change management 
through ‘new ways of 
working’ (developing 
more agile and flexible 
work strategies) and 
providing advice to 
improve procurement 
and sourcing strategy. 

International  
 

Mouchel delivers business 
process improvement to 
Abu Dhabi municipalities.
The Group has also helped 
set up a new research 
and development authority 
in the region, and is 
currently working with the 
Abu Dhabi Land Registry 
on data quality 
improvement.

Integrated  
transport 

Working closely with the 
UK’s major transport 
operators and government 
agencies, Mouchel helps 
to procure and deliver 
major change 
programmes and to 
manage complex 
infrastructure or capital 
projects. We are also 
at the heart of the 
efficiency agenda, 
identifying new ways 
to optimise strategic 
transport assets 
and delivering ICT 
and back-office shared 
services schemes. 

Education 
 

Mouchel provides 
a complete range of 
services to help schools 
develop their education 
visions and in-school 
improvement. It has a 
successful track record 
both in the Academies 
programme and as a 
provider of school 
support services. 
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Current and future development and performance
Management Consulting sector review

Market overview
Spending cuts in central government 
departments and across the public sector 
during the year have led to a downturn in the 
demand for consulting services. However, 
Mouchel anticipates a new climate of cost 
reduction, service transformation and 
performance improvement, which the 
Group’s Management Consulting business 
is well-positioned to address. 

Local government
With a changing political environment, and a 
Government that has embarked on a radical 
agenda of change for all areas of the public 
sector, there are many challenges facing 
local government. Mouchel is at the forefront 
of the change agenda, helping clients to 
manage costs, and supporting innovative 
change programmes. In Lincolnshire, it is 
assisting the County Council’s ‘Efficiency 
Programme’ by providing change 
management through ‘new ways of working’ 
(developing more agile and flexible work 
strategies), increasing process efficiencies 
in its adult and social care programmes, 
and providing advice to improve procurement 
and sourcing strategy.

As a nurse, there’s often a lot to juggle and care 
situations need to be assessed and sometimes reacted 
to in an instant. Better planning across the health and 
social care system, which prioritises and supports 
frontline activities, will enable us to maintain our focus 
on people and on their care. ” 
The CfWI, operated by Mouchel in partnership with the 
University of Manchester, will create a primary source of 
intelligence for health and social care – enabling leaders, 
senior managers and clinicians to develop their 
workforce for the future.

Key achievements

The five-year appointment to run the Department of Health’s Centre for 
Workforce Intelligence (CfWI). 

A two-year contract with the Abu Dhabi government to carry out business 
process re-engineering for the municipalities.

An expansion of Mouchel’s existing contract with Lincolnshire County Council 
to provide improved ways of working, mobile/remote working and property 
and procurement strategy. 

The delivery of electronic documents and records systems, workforce 
scheduling, and enterprise resource systems by a range of IT companies 
forming the Mouchel Consortium.

Using operational insight from Mouchel’s Regulated Industries business to 
deliver cost efficiency and major transformation programme capabilities for 
Thames Water and IT change and performance improvement for EDF Energy.

Key performance indicators
Management Consulting 2010 2009 % change

Revenue £m 59.1 78.8 (25)

Underlying operating profit £m 3.8 2.3 65

Underlying operating margins % 6.4 2.9 –

Order book £m 107 51 110

Bidding pipeline1 £m 30 51 (41)

Contract win rate2 % 55 32 –

Staff numbers1,3 420 419 –

Staff turnover (voluntary) % 16 16 –

1 At 31 July 2010
2 Win rate is calculated by contract value
3 Includes temporary staff
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A key area of potential growth in this sector 
is through Community Budgeting, a pilot 
programme, which will give communities 
more power to target spending on key local 
priorities. From April next year, the first phase 
of 16 areas, covering 31 councils and their 
partners, will be put in charge of ‘community 
budgets’, which bring together various 
central government funding strands to 
develop local solutions to local problems. 
Mouchel is involved in two of these pilot areas: 
Lincolnshire and Greater Manchester (through 
its partnerships with Oldham and Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Councils). 

Health
The white paper Equity and Excellence: 
Liberating the NHS calls for the abolition of 
strategic health authorities and primary care 
trusts. GP consortia will be given authority 
to commission local health services, while 
NHS trusts will become foundation trusts. 
Patients will be given greater access to, 
and control over, their health data; and 
there will be greater focus on outcomes, 
safety and patient experience. 

In addition to traditional health care provision, 
there is a new trend in the health market 
towards wider programmes dealing with 
social care and public health. An example 
is the National Healthy Schools Programme, 
which promotes the health and wellbeing 
of pupils and staff, and which Mouchel 
continues to manage.

Central government
Strategies are in development with major 
Government departments currently drawing 
up their ‘deficit reduction plans’. These are 
likely to include smaller departments, 
improved efficiency, leaner procurement, 
greater sustainability, and rationalised estates. 
By leveraging its Group-wide capability, 
Mouchel can design innovative propositions 
to meet these strategies. Two recent examples 
are its ‘estates rationalisation proposition’ 
to analyse existing assets, recommend 
geographical and personnel integration, 
and assist with ‘re-commercialisation’ of 
the redundant estate; and its ‘sustainability 
proposition’, which looks at improving both 
day-to-day environmental factors and the 
procurement process, and at increasing 
savings throughout departments. 

With increased cuts to back-office spending, 
central and local government organisations 
may struggle to secure funding for ICT 
projects to support their transformation 
programmes. However, corporate document 
and records management solutions are 
increasingly being seen as a way to improve 
the efficiency and effectiveness of front-line 
services. Specific drivers include the 
rationalisation of office space, the introduction 
of new ways of working, and better use 
of information to provide improved quality 
of services for patients and citizens. 
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Management Consulting sector review continued

Performance
The general cutback in consulting 
expenditure had an adverse impact on the 
Management Consulting business, although  
it made progress in the health sector.  
The new management team cut costs and 
headcount and completed some low-margin 
and loss-making contracts in the year while 
winning new work on more favourable terms. 
The Management Consulting business has 
also been more closely integrated with the rest 
of Group. Gross margins improved as a result 
of these changes during the year and the 
business saw a 65% increase in underlying 
operating profit to £3.8m, despite revenues 
declining by 25%. 

In March, Mouchel was appointed for  
a five-year commission to establish the  
Centre for Workforce Intelligence (CfWI)  
– an organisation commissioned by the 
Department of Health to determine its future 
health and social care workforce 
requirements. 

The Group is also part of four of the six 
consortia chosen to bid for the construction 
of new health facilities via the new P21+ 
framework; and is an active member of the 
Computer Sciences Corporation (CSC) 
Alliance, which delivers the NHS’ National 
Programme for IT across northern England. 
The CSC Alliance delivers computer systems 
and services that improve ways in which 
patient information is stored and accessed.

Mouchel’s ability to compete head-to-head 
with the major consulting businesses is also 
evident from its recent success in the Office 
of Government Commerce Buying Solutions 
tender (previously known as the ‘Catalist’ 
framework). This is the main channel for 
government procurement of consulting and 
ICT services. Mouchel is on 12 out of 23 lots 
tendered across the various frameworks – 
the second highest number awarded to 
an individual provider.

In spite of the challenging market conditions, 
the Group secured contracts to the value 
of £85m at a win rate of 55% (by value).
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Health represents a significant opportunity for 
Mouchel’s Management Consulting business. 
Building on its long-term work with the CSC 
Alliance, the CfWI and Healthy Schools, there 
is a real opportunity for the Group to influence 
and deliver within this market, particularly in 
areas of health and wellbeing, performance 
improvement and cost cutting.

Private-sector utility companies offer an 
alternative market that is not under the same 
financial pressures as the public sector. 
Mouchel will build on its engineering and 
operational experience in Regulated Industries 
and its extensive client relationships to offer 
advisory services to water and electricity 
companies to help them with their 
performance improvement and cost 
reduction processes.

As a pensioner, I’m concerned about how the 
Government and my local council will meet the needs 
of a rapidly ageing population at a time of decreasing 
public sector funding. 40% of the Lincolnshire 
population is over 50 – compared to 34% of the UK 
as a whole – and this is set to rise in the county to 49% 
by 2033. We need to overcome traditional 
organisational boundaries to deliver real improvements 
for older people, their carers and families. ”
Excellent Ageing looks to transform Lincolnshire’s 
approach to its older citizens by exploring how to use 
the total resources and assets within the county more 
effectively to deliver better outcomes for the older 
population at a lower cost. By working alongside local 
professionals, councillors and central government, 
Mouchel will help understand and respond to the views, 
needs and priorities of older communities which will 
enable people in Lincolnshire to enjoy an active and 
happy later life. 

Strategy/outlook
Despite the uncertain outlook for consultancy 
support in central and local government, 
Mouchel will continue to benefit from key 
long-term contracts and from its expertise in 
transforming the way assets and services are 
funded, managed and delivered. Given the 
breadth of its service offer, the Group believes 
that, although it faces challenges in the short 
term, its prospects in the medium- to 
long-term remain healthy.

Building on its complementary activities  
with GBS (particularly in providing services to 
Lincoln, Milton Keynes and Bath), Mouchel’s 
Management Consulting business aims 
to penetrate the local government market 
further, providing cost reduction programmes, 
procurement, business processing 
improvement and outsourcing. The potential 
for community budgets will provide the 
opportunity to work with a range of local 
third-party organisations.

The central government market is expected 
to present fewer prospects to management 
consultants in the next financial year. 
However, there are opportunities in health 
and education, and within the Department 
of Work and Pensions, which the Group plans 
to pursue. This is a rapidly changing market 
and, while Mouchel remains cautious, it will 
continue to pursue those outsourcing and 
service contracts that match its strengths. 
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Water  
infrastructure 

Mouchel provides services 
to UK water companies to 
help them fulfil their Asset 
Management Plan (AMP) 
commitments. Working in 
partnership with 
contractors and clients, 
Mouchel provides a full 
range of capital design 
services, including 
process, civil, mechanical 
and electrical design. 
These projects are 
undertaken for all water 
company assets including 
reservoirs, pipelines, 
sewers and overflows, 
pumping stations and 
clean and dirty 
treatment works. 

Water  
asset  
management
Mouchel helps clients to 
optimise the delivery of 
potable water to 
customers across the UK 
and to ensure both 
customer and regulatory 
expectations are met 
and exceeded. Services 
include the asset 
management of 
wastewater systems 
from source to treatment 
and the provision of 
operational management 
activities. 

Energy 
 

Mouchel’s energy team 
provides a range of design 
and project services based 
on its core gas engineering 
business. It provides 
engineering and design 
consultancy for onshore oil 
and natural gas pipelines 
as well as the associated 
infrastructure across 
all pressure regimes, 
including high-pressure 
gas transmission and 
low-pressure gas 
distribution networks.

Regulated 
Industries
Mouchel’s Regulated Industries (RI) 
business provides a broad range of 
services to UK utility companies, and 
other organisations regulated by 
Government. This includes strategic 
consultancy, asset maintenance, multi-
disciplinary design, modelling and  
a ‘one-stop shop’ of engineering and 
environmental services. The business 
also undertakes a number of 
operational activities including leakage 
detection. The work is delivered through 
strategic alliances with utility companies 
and contractors, framework contracts 
and general consultancy agreements.
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Rail 
 

Mouchel provides 
multi-disciplinary design, 
strategic asset 
management and project 
delivery services to the UK 
rail industry. The Group’s 
principal clients are rail 
infrastructure owners 
Network Rail and London 
Underground and their 
supply chains, along with 
train operating companies 
and freight companies.

Coastal  
and flood  
prevention
Mouchel’s specialist flood, 
river and coastal engineers 
work with clients to help 
them understand flood 
and erosion risks and how 
these can be mitigated. 
Mouchel supports all 
aspects of schemes 
from planning and design 
through construction and 
ongoing management.

Ground  
engineering  

Mouchel has an integrated 
team of scientists and 
engineers who deliver the 
full spectrum of services 
required to manage 
ground risks and deliver 
potential engineering 
solutions on a variety of 
construction projects. 
The team’s services range 
from designing structures 
in the ground to assessing 
and managing the risks 
to human health and the 
environment. It specialises 
in roads, railways, 
pipelines, bridges, 
buildings, design 
earthworks and 
foundations projects.

Environment 
 

Mouchel adopts a 
multi-disciplinary approach 
to identifying and 
managing environmental 
risk for a range of clients 
in the public and private 
sector. It investigates and 
analyses environmental 
liabilities and site-specific 
constraints to ensure 
compliance with good 
practice and legislative 
requirements and to inform 
decisions on acquisitions 
and divestments. 

Geographical 
information systems 
(GIS) 
Mouchel provides GIS 
services and expert 
consultancy to public 
sector clients. Mouchel 
supports data collection, 
information management, 
surveying and user 
requirement assessments 
that enables clients to 
deliver their services to 
the public more efficiently. 
GIS services are integrated 
with Mouchel’s 
environmental and 
engineering disciplines 
providing specialist 
technical support and 
advice on mapping 
and information 
management needs.
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Current and future development and performance
Regulated Industries sector review

Market overview
Mouchel’s Regulated Industries (RI) business 
operates in the water, energy, environment 
and rail sectors and also includes Mouchel’s 
business in the Middle East. The Group is the 
UK’s third largest water business and one of 
the UK’s leading gas design businesses. 
The RI markets are heavily driven by legislation 
and the regulators – the Office of the Water 
Services (Ofwat), the Office of Gas and 
Electricity Markets and the Office of the 
Rail Regulator – who determine spend 
on asset base and outputs required. 

There is a trend in the RI market towards 
price-driven procurement and each sector is 
turning to technology to improve efficiencies 
and reduce costs. Mouchel believes it is 
ahead of its competitors in this regard.

Mouchel has ensured that water supplies to thousands 
of homes in Gloucestershire, including mine, are 
protected from disruption caused by flooding. Thanks 
to the measures put in place, such as flood walls and 
earth embankments, we’re much better protected. ”
The creation of a Flood Alleviation Scheme at the Mythe 
Water Treatment Works in Tewkesbury will prevent 
events similar to those that occurred in 2007 when 
flooding contaminated drinking water to 150,000 
households throughout the region. Sheet-piled flood 
walls and demountable barriers will protect the facility 
from any event up to a one-in-a-thousand-year flood.

Key achievements
Utilities (Water and Energy)
The signing of four AMP5 contracts with:
•  United Utilities (as part of KMI Plus – the joint venture with Murphy Group,  

Interserve Project Services and Kier Construction); 
•  Yorkshire Water; 
•  Wessex Water; and 
•  South West Water.

A two-year extension of meter-reading services for Veolia Water. 

The appointment to a three-year framework with National Grid to provide 
a range of engineering drawings for its liquefied natural gas facility on the 
Isle of Grain in Kent. The framework could be extended for a further four years. 

Rail
The delivery of detailed design for London Underground’s Power Upgrade 
Phase 1A (in partnership with Enterprise).

Engineering and Environment
The appointment by Thames Water to supply engineering, environmental 
assessment, and land services on the London Thames Tideway Tunnels 
project under a framework contract.

Key performance indicators
Regulated Industries 2010 2009 % change

Revenue £m 87.6 180.9 (52)

Underlying operating profit £m 2.9 13.0 (78)

Underlying operating margins % 3.3 7.2 –

Order book £m 147 217 (32)

Bidding pipeline1 £m 183 166 10

Contract win rate2 % 55 26 –

Staff numbers1,3 1,681 2,172 (23)

Staff turnover (voluntary) % 11 9 –

1 At 31 July 2010
2 Win rate is calculated by contract value
3 Includes temporary staff
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Utilities (Water and Energy)
In April 2010, Ofwat determined spending  
of £22bn for Asset Management Period 5 
(AMP5) on water and sewerage by 2015. 
This provides a significant opportunity for 
Mouchel, which delivers most of its services 
to water and sewerage companies through 
long-term frameworks. It is currently year  
one of the AMP5 cycle and peak spend  
is planned for years two and three, 
commencing April 2011 and 2012.

In 2011, the responsibility for most private 
gravity sewers and lateral drains will transfer  
to water and sewerage companies, doubling 
the length of mains to be maintained by them. 
Mouchel has already widened its traditional 
consultancy services to include operational 
and maintenance activities in order to take 
advantage of this opportunity.

In the past five years, there has been an 
increasing focus on the UK’s natural gas 
storage capabilities and Mouchel’s work in  
this field is increasing. Its engineering services 
include the design of major infrastructure 
projects, with an increasing emphasis on 
developing its project services offering.

Rail
In 2008/09, Mouchel substantially withdrew 
from its operational work within Network Rail. 
Mouchel’s strategy in Rail is to concentrate  
on London Underground’s committed tube 
signalling and power upgrades, including the 
Jubilee and Northern Line Upgrade Project 
and the Sub Surface Railway (SSR) 
programme, together with aspects of Network 
Rail’s core funded programme. Over the past 
six months, the SSR upgrade programme has 
provided significant success for Mouchel’s rail 
signal design services. 

Engineering and Environment
During the course of the Spending Review 
period, the Department for Environment, 
Food and Rural Affairs will reduce resource 
spending by 29% and capital spending by 
34%. A 15% efficiency saving will be made 
in the procurement strategy for flood and 
coastal defences and this will be reinvested 
into safeguarding and enhancing protection 
for people and property. This presents 
an opportunity for Mouchel to deliver 
cost-effective flood alleviation and coastal 
defence schemes. 
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Current and future development and performance
Regulated Industries sector review continued

Performance
Regulated Industries’ turnover declined by 
£93m and underlying operating profit by 
£10.1m to £87.6m and £2.9m respectively, 
with margins more than halving to 3.3%. 
This fall is primarily explained by the sharp 
decline in Middle East activities where turnover 
reduced by more than 70%. The water related 
business, while maintaining margin, saw 
both turnover and profitability decline by 
approximately 20% due to a temporary 
reduction in workload during the transition 
from AMP4 to AMP5. However, Mouchel’s 
reduced rail activities returned to profit with a 
focus on higher value consultancy activities 
following the withdrawal from loss-making 
re-signalling work. 

Utilities (Water and Energy)
Mouchel is the third largest provider of 
consultancy services to the UK water sector, 
working with nearly every water and  
sewerage company in the UK. This year,  
it has consolidated this position by securing 
appointments to new and extended 
frameworks in AMP5 to the value of £100m 
(over five years). Wins include contracts with 
United Utilities (as part of KMI Plus – the joint 
venture with Murphy Group, Interserve Project 
Services and Kier Construction); Yorkshire 
Water; Wessex Water, and South West Water. 
In addition, it has claimed a significant share 
of the market to prepare surface water 
management plans. These are a regulatory 
requirement following the Pitt Review and new 
legislation under the Flooding Regulations 
2009 and Water Management Act 2010.

The Floran [cleaning] project at Ashford has led to purer, 
cleaner drinking water in my area. I do a lot of sports 
and don’t want the fuss and the cost of buying bottled 
water. The work Mouchel has done means I can now fill 
up a bottle and go! ”
In March 2010, Mouchel started work on the gravity 
filters at Ashford Common Advanced Water Treatment 
Works, which treat water from the River Thames. Floran 
is a new filter cleaning process that offers clients a 
cost-effective process restoring filter beds to ‘as new’.
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Strategy/outlook
Mouchel’s strategy is to consolidate and,  
if possible, improve on its current position  
as one of the top three water consultants in 
the UK, while increasing its client base within 
AMP5. It intends to drive its water operations 
business into metering and private sewers  
in line with client needs. 

Advances in technology are vital to the  
water and energy industries and Mouchel  
will continue to play a key role in driving 
innovation in technology.

In addition, Mouchel has begun to undertake 
commissions for large commercial and 
industrial consumers of energy in the UK, 
concentrating on energy efficiency and the 
appropriate use of natural gas resources.

Mouchel will continue to focus on the core 
funded programmes within Network Rail and 
London Underground’s portfolio. The volume 
of work already committed in major 
enhancement programmes has produced  
a strong pipeline of opportunities for the rail 
business. Mouchel aims to increase its market 
share of multi-disciplinary design in the 
mainline rail market and to develop its 
specialist focus on the London Underground 
signalling market.

Mouchel’s strategy is to develop an integrated 
engineering and environment business that 
delivers multi-disciplinary schemes in a 
sustainable manner for its clients. Mouchel 
will focus on delivering opportunities from  
its framework contracts by building alliances 
with its partners.

UK Water Industry Research (which 
coordinates research for UK water operators), 
has appointed Mouchel to lead an industry-
wide review of the case for smart metering 
in the water industry. The Government has 
announced its smart meter initiative for the 
energy sector and confirmed the target of 
universal metering across the UK for 2020. 
Demand for metering services will provide 
significant growth opportunities for Mouchel. 

Rail
The past year has seen expansion into new 
markets for Mouchel’s rail business, following 
its exit from the former mainline operational 
business. Focusing on its two principal market 
areas of multi-disciplinary design and project 
delivery, the rail business has made progress 
in widening its customer base within the rail 
industry to include Network Rail’s contracting 
supply chain, train operating companies 
and local authorities. 

Engineering and Environment
By combining Mouchel’s complementary 
Engineering and Environment teams, the 
Group has developed a business where 
its engineers design solutions and its 
environmental, land and planning teams 
deliver the statutory consents. The result is a 
multi-disciplinary team capable of managing 
major infrastructure projects for clients. 

Over the year, the Group has secured 
contracts in the Regulated Industries sector 
to the value of £168m at a win rate of 55% 
(by value). 

I sometimes park my car in Watford and travel by 
tube into London, so the Croxley project is great for me. 
Also, as a football fan, it’s even better news that they’re 
opening a station near the Watford ground! ”
The Croxley Rail Link scheme aims to create a direct 
interchange between the London Underground 
Metropolitan line and the mainline at Watford Junction. 
Mouchel has been developing the designs for the 
Croxley Rail Link scheme on behalf of Hertfordshire 
County Council and their work will culminate in the 
Transport and Works Act application, which will enable 
detailed design and construction. 



34 Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2010

Business review
People

Overview
Mouchel understands and delivers high-quality 
public services and infrastructure. In spite  
of the challenges presented by an extensive 
restructuring exercise that has affected every 
part of the organisation, Mouchel’s people 
have remained as resourceful, hard-working 
and passionate about what they do as ever. 
This is a massive testament to the 
commitment and enthusiasm shown by  
its employees, whose efforts play a major  
part in the resilience of the business.

In 2009/10, the Company reduced its 
workforce by approximately 8% to 10,210 
(at 31 July 2010). Since the financial year-end, 
this figure has been cut by a further 4% 
(at 31 October 2010)1 as a result of a 
substantial management restructuring 
exercise. This rationalisation has involved  
a redesign of the management grades to 
widen levels of responsibility and extend 
spans of effective control so that, while it  
was necessary to make a proportion of 
management roles redundant, prospects 
for the resulting management team remain 
healthy within a leaner and fitter organisation. 

In addition, Mouchel is continuing to review 
the way in which it provides core support 
functions to the business and expects to 
make significant improvements in the cost 
effectiveness of these services within the  
first half of 2010/11.

Structure and communications
Mouchel’s Group Management Board (GMB) 
– comprising the Chief Executive, Finance 
Director, Managing Directors, the HR Director 
and Company Secretary – is responsible for 
the direction and policies of the business. It is 
supported by a leadership team of around 40 
senior managers, who collectively assess and 
manage the key strategic issues that influence 
day-to-day activities across the operations 
and Group functions. 

Communications in a professional services 
business such as Mouchel are vitally 
important. Management cascades ensure 
that corporate and business-specific 
information reaches those who need it,  
while films (coinciding with the full- and 
half-year reporting cycle) inform and update 
employees on both corporate performance 
and operational activities. 

Code of conduct and ethics
Corporate and personal integrity is important 
at Mouchel and the Group applies a strict 
code of conduct across all areas of business 
activity. Its policies on employee conduct, 
ethics, whistle-blowing and fraud set the 
standards Mouchel expects of its people. 

1  Figure based on October 2010 headcount projection.
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Mouchel has continued to ensure that  
its professional workforce is adaptable  
to changing client and public needs.  
Over the past year, it has introduced new 
talent management systems and tools that 
provide a more targeted and flexible approach 
to learning and development. Its latest 
systems allow managers and employees to 
capture and record personal performance 
appraisal/development information online, 
simplifying the overall process. It aims to roll 
out the system to all employees by early 2011.

Mouchel’s ‘Career Builder’ strategy is 
supported by a number of tools, frameworks 
and development programmes that help 
employees to progress through different  
levels of the organisation. Whether an 
employee chooses to focus on technical  
or management skills, the ‘Career Builder’ 
scheme helps to develop a ‘talent pipeline’  
for key roles across the business.

Career Builder is supported by a new training 
partnership with providers ARM, which aims 
to enhance its learning and development 
service, reduce costs and internal 
administration time, and more effectively 
monitor Mouchel’s investment in training. 

In September 2010, the Academy 
Development Programme welcomed 47 
graduates from across Mouchel and one joint 
venture (EnterpriseMouchel). The 20-month 
learning programme consists of workshops, 
e-learning, distance learning, mentoring and 
on-the-job training. It aims to develop 
transferable, rounded skills so that employees 
can succeed in their career, as well as to 
identify high-potential leaders and experts  
for Mouchel’s future.

‘Managing the Mouchel Way’ is a seven-day 
leadership and management programme, 
aimed at less senior managers. It is carried 
out over six months, and comprises a 
combination of workshops, distance learning 
and a programme project. So far 24 members 
of staff have completed the programme.

Board
A number of changes have been made  
to the Board, both during the financial year 
and more recently, as part of the Group’s 
planned succession arrangements.

On 2 June 2010, Lynton Barker stood down 
as a Non-Executive Director of Mouchel. 
Lynton joined the Mouchel Board in April 2008 
following Mouchel’s acquisition of Hedra 
Group plc, of which he had been Chairman. 

Kevin Young, who had been Group Finance 
Director for Mouchel since 1998, stood 
down from the post of Group Finance Director 
on 31 August 2010. David Tilston, who joined 
Mouchel on 13 September 2010 as Group 
Finance Director, has held a number of senior 
financial posts and has strong industry 
experience, having worked with Amec plc, 
Atkins, British Energy and Balfour Beatty. 

Three new Non-Executive Directors will join 
the Mouchel Board during the current financial 
year. They are: Richard Rae, David Sugden 
and Seamus Keating. Richard and Seamus 
will join on 4 November 2010; David on 
1 January 2011. 

Seamus will become Chairman of the  
Audit Committee immediately, in place of  
Ian Knight who will step down from the Board 
on 1 September 2011. Rodney Westhead 
will step down following the Group’s AGM 
on 31 January 2011, and Sir Michael Lyons 
will succeed Rodney as Senior Independent 
Director, in so doing relinquishing his 
chairmanship of the Remuneration 
Committee. Debbie Hewitt will take up  
the chair of the Remuneration Committee.  
The Group has issued a separate statement 
on these appointments. 

Staff numbers
10,210 (8%)
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Overview
Mouchel’s approach to corporate 
responsibility and sustainability is based 
on balancing the needs of its clients, its 
people, the communities it serves, and 
the environment within which it operates. 
Policy for corporate responsibility and 
sustainability is determined by the Group 
Management Board, which sets and 
reviews the Company’s objectives relating 
to its marketplace, to its people and 
communities, and to the environment. 

Marketplace
Mouchel obtains independent feedback 
from its larger clients on an annual basis 
to gain information about its performance, 
its strengths and weaknesses, and its 
future priorities for improvement. 

Mouchel works with its clients to reduce 
costs by improving the efficiency of their 
operations and the management of their 
assets, whilst innovation forums in Mouchel 
explore new technologies and techniques. 
As part of the water efficiency framework 
for Northumbrian Water, for example, 
Mouchel is undertaking water efficiency 
audits for more than 5,000 customers.

Good supplier relationships are important 
and Mouchel applies thorough assessment 
processes to ensure that all suppliers and 
contractors maintain the necessary technical, 

quality, environmental, safety, commercial, 
and information security credentials 
appropriate to the services for which they  
are employed. Mouchel promotes long-term 
partnerships with its suppliers, creating 
greater understanding and trust in working 
relationships. 

People and communities
Health and safety is crucially important in 
Mouchel. During the past year its accident 
incidence rate and the number of RIDDOR-
reportable injuries have remained well below 
the industry average for the sector and there is 
a downward trend in the number of reportable 
accidents. A number of innovations in 2009/10 
improved health and safety management in 
Mouchel. These included the introduction 
of a Company-wide safety competency 
management system, the mandatory 
assessment and training of all Company 
drivers, the introduction of a management 
and executive safety training programme, 
and the Company-wide launch of a safety 
awareness film. 

One enforcement action, relating to building 
work being undertaken by a Mouchel 
contractor, was served on the Company in 
2009/10. No injuries were sustained in the 
incident and steps were taken to avoid any 
repetition of the occurrence. Since the 
year-end, Mouchel has been prosecuted 
under the Road Traffic Act for an offence 
relating to the operation of a hire vehicle 
which proved to be unroadworthy. 
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Accidents reported under Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous 
Occurrences Regulations 1995 (RIDDOR)

Number reported Accident incidence rate (AIR)¹

Benchmark
AIR for

industry²

2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2007/08 2008/09 2009/10

Fatalities 0 0 0 0 0 0 0. 5
Major injuries 2 3 1 25 27 9  152.4
Over 3-day injuries 9 18 20 115 161 188  720

1  In accordance with standard HSE reporting, the accident incidence rate (AIR) is calculated using the formula: 
number of accidents/number of employees x 100,000. The number of employees is based on the average 
headcount for the financial year (10,601 for 2007/08, 11,592 for 2008/09 and 10,210 for 2009/10).

2  Figures taken from HSE website (www.hse.gov.uk): injuries in Great Britain by industry and severity of injury 
2008/09 for total public administration category.

There were no enforcement actions against 
the Group in 2009/10.

Over the past year, Mouchel has continued 
to promote schemes for reducing overall 
levels of waste from offices and to encourage 
recycling, in line with best practice 
benchmarks. It has also worked with the 
Group’s fleet provider to reduce average 
emissions of Company vehicles to 139g CO2/
km (4% less than 2009) and has extended the 
availability of hybrid/electric cars to employees. 
It has established minimum sustainability 
criteria for all office consumables and new 
supplier agreements ensure that only A-rated 
and Energy Star-accredited electrical 
appliances are provided to offices. Despite an 
increase in electricity costs during the year, 
Mouchel has continued to procure over 
one million kWh of green-tariff electricity 
from its providers. 

Environment 
Mouchel applies good environmental 
practices in its operations and encourages 
its employees to assess the environmental 
impacts of their activities at work. Although 
Mouchel does not qualify as a full participant 
under the Government’s Carbon Reduction 
Commitment legislation, many of its clients 
do. As a result, the Group regularly provides 
support in the development of low-carbon 
solutions for such organisations. In September 
2010, Mouchel provided full information 
disclosure under the new Regulations and 
has, for the fourth consecutive year, reduced 
its carbon footprint; this year achieving a 2.1% 
decrease, relative to revenue. The Group 
remains on-target to achieve Carbon Trust 
Standard certification for its UK business 
by the end of 2012. 

Employee wellbeing and engagement is 
another priority for Mouchel. Its aim is to 
attract and retain high-calibre, well-motivated 
employees by providing rewarding and varied 
careers, a healthy work-life balance, and a 
safe workplace. This year, despite extensive 
restructuring and a resulting reduction in staff 
numbers, Mouchel has continued to treat all 
its employees with integrity and consideration. 
Equality and diversity are promoted 
throughout the business and Mouchel strives 
to ensure that its population remains diverse  
in terms of gender and ethnicity while ensuring 
that each member of staff has the relevant 
skills and competency to carry out their role. 
Mouchel employs 10,210 people (31 July 
2010) of whom 38% are female and 12% 
are from black and ethnic-minority groups 
(compared with the previous year of 29% 
and 19% respectively). 

In 2009/10, Mouchel’s employees raised 
approximately £90,500 for good causes, 
half of which was derived from matched 
funding from the Company’s charity budget. 
The Group continued to promote a 
Give-As-You-Earn scheme as part of 
its flexible benefits programme.
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Risks and uncertainties
The identification, assessment and mitigation 
of strategic and operational risks are essential 
components of day-to-day management 
in Mouchel and there are well-defined risk 
management procedures to support 
this process.

The Group Management Board is responsible 
for assessing strategic risks to the business 
and for maintaining a risk register that details 
suitable and sufficient measures to control 
each area of risk and uncertainty. The risk 
environment varies considerably across the 
business according to the nature of the work 
Mouchel does and the industries in which it 
operates; but this approach ensures that 
Mouchel maintains a sound understanding 
of the environment in each sector.

The principal risks and uncertainties affecting 
the business are:

Source of risk Mitigating factors

Market and economic risks
The economic and fiscal pressures that affect 
many of Mouchel’s principal client groups – 
arising from the high public sector deficit and a 
change of government domestically together 
with a depressed property market in the 
Middle East – continue to present risks 
and uncertainties for the business.

Mouchel’s focus lies largely on essential 
services and vital public infrastructure rather 
than capital projects. Furthermore, Mouchel’s 
business is built around long-term contractual 
relationships, which means that changes in 
funding levels can be absorbed through 
progressive transformation of service delivery.

Competitive position
The market in which Mouchel operates may 
become attractive to companies who are 
more exposed to changes in public sector 
capital spending than Mouchel is.

Track-record and specialist expertise in its 
core markets presents significant barriers 
to entry for new providers and Mouchel’s 
substantial market share in highways, water 
and local authority BPO is a key strength.

Health and safety risks
Health and safety risks arise in all areas of 
Mouchel’s operations, though the nature 
and extent of risk varies considerably 
between different industries and work types. 
Its principal health and safety risks arise from 
the provision and use of motor vehicles; from 
works on, or adjacent to, highways and 
railways; and from slips, trips and falls in both 
office and site environments.

Mouchel systematically assesses all health 
and safety risks in accordance with the 
requirements of the Management of Health 
and Safety at Work Regulations, using a 
market-leading software product to ensure a 
consistent and thorough approach. It has 
developed a behavioural safety programme 
and introduced systems to mitigate 
occupational road risk, including a driver 
assessment and training programme. It has 
improved its systems to assess employee 
competencies in relation to health and safety 
and has broadened its training programme 
to improve awareness and skills in all relevant 
aspects of health and safety.

Information security risks
An increasing proportion of Mouchel’s work 
involves the management and storage of 
sensitive client data, the unauthorised release 
of which could lead to legal, contractual and 
reputational problems.

This year, Mouchel has made good progress 
towards the development and introduction of 
an ISO 27001 compliant information 
management system. In the coming year, 
it will be seeking external accreditation for this 
system and extending its scope to other areas 
of the Group.

Business continuity risks
The risk to the continuity of Mouchel’s 
operations arises from internal incidents (such 
as IT infrastructure failures) and/or external 
incidents (such as flu pandemics or acts 
of terrorism).

All employees have been issued with ‘crisis 
cards’ that provide them with the details 
needed to mobilise the Mouchel’s crisis 
management team. Business continuity 
plans exist for Mouchel’s more vulnerable 
offices and activities and the Group conduct 
rehearsals of scenarios that may threaten 
continuity of operations.
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Source of risk Mitigating factors

Workforce risks
Mouchel’s ability to attract and retain sufficient 
numbers of appropriately skilled and 
experienced employees and to offer them 
what is perceived to be fulfilling and secure 
careers may be affected by its recent 
restructuring programme.

Mouchel continues to improve its succession 
planning processes and its professional and 
technical training. The restructuring process 
has left Mouchel with leaner management 
structures in which employees can benefit 
from greater autonomy and faster career 
progression.

Joint venture risks
Joint ventures invariably lead to the sharing of 
responsibilities and to more arms-length 
planning, management and control systems. 
The commercial and operational actions of 
Mouchel’s joint ventures could result in a level 
of risk exposure that is higher than in Mouchel.

Approximately 39% of Mouchel’s work is 
undertaken through joint ventures with other 
private sector providers, for example 
Enterprise, Peek, and Downer; and with local 
authority partners such as Oldham and 
Liverpool councils. But in practice many of the 
systems operated in these JVs are based on 
those developed by Mouchel and there are 
robust control mechanisms to ensure that 
Mouchel is aware of the actions being taken 
by JV companies on its behalf.

Financial risks
The Group is exposed to risks arising from 
variations in interest rates, foreign exchange 
rates, credit and liquidity. Those risks relating 
to foreign exchange, credit and liquidity are 
relatively low. The risks relating to variations in 
interest rates arise from long-term pounds 
sterling borrowings at variable rates.

Group policy is to hedge a proportion of the 
drawn bank-revolving credit facility in order 
to mitigate interest-rate risk. The remainder 
of the risks and their mitigating factors are 
fully disclosed in note 23. Refinancing is 
outlined in Banking facilities overleaf.

Management risks
The significant reduction in the numbers of 
managers employed in the business during 
the past few months may lead to spans of 
decreased control and levels of responsibility 
that lead to errors and oversights.

The de-layering of Mouchel’s management 
structure is intended to improve 
communications and visibility as well as the 
cost-effectiveness of its services. Mouchel has 
now fully implemented SAP as its enterprise-
wide management system and this has 
substantially improved its access to financial 
and management information, enabling its 
managers to maintain a higher level of control 
on project performance.

Reputation risks
Design, management and communication 
errors; accidents, incidents and poor 
stakeholder management all threaten the 
reputation of the business.

This year, Mouchel has consolidated its 
press office team and strengthened the 
management links between communications, 
safety, environmental management and 
corporate responsibility to ensure that 
incidents are responded to quickly and 
effectively.

Pension risks
The Group’s defined benefit pension funds 
have a material deficit. The Group has 
previously agreed measures to reduce 
this deficit including for members of two 
of the schemes their pension benefits being 
calculated on a career average revalued 
basis (CARE); however the deficit is exposed 
to the risk of changes in interest rates and 
asset values, as well as inflation and the life 
expectancy of the members.

The Group’s defined benefit pension funds 
are closed to new members. The Group 
actively monitors the funds position, taking 
professional advice, assessing liabilities and 
the trustees are implementing inflation swaps 
to reduce future volatility. The next triennial 
valuation as at 31 March 2010 is underway, 
following which the Group will agree 
appropriate contributions into the fund to 
reduce the deficit over an agreed period of 
time. In addition, to further reduce risks the 
Group commenced, in September 2010, a 
consultation with members to cease future 
salary-related benefit accruals (except the 
ex-local government staff who continue 
to work on their originating contracts).
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Banking facilities
During the year the Group’s credit facilities 
were amended and restated. As at 31 July 
2009, the facilities were £125m in the form of 
revolving credit facilities and £65m term loan, 
in the aggregate £190m provided collectively 
by Royal Bank of Scotland, LloydsTSB and 
Barclays. The term loan is due for repayment 
on 31 October 2012. The revolving credit 
facilities reduce by £10m in March of each 
year (which commenced in March 2010), with 
£30m expiring on 1 August 2012 and £65m 
on 31 October 2012. As at 31 July 2010, 
therefore, the credit facilities were £180m.

Interest is charged at LIBOR plus a margin. 
The margin ranges from 0.65% to 3.65%, 
adjusted according to the ratio of net 
borrowings to earnings before interest, 
taxation, depreciation and amortisation.

The Directors recognise that the current 
trading environment and short-term outlook 
provides some challenges to Mouchel. 
However, as set out in the business review, 
the Directors are confident that they have 
taken decisive actions to secure the long-term 
prospects of the Group, one of which is the 
significant restructuring to ensure that the 
cost base is in line with revenue expectations. 
The Directors are therefore satisfied that there 
is sufficient available headroom in the existing 
banking facilities to support the current 
business for the foreseeable future. 

As previously announced, the Board has 
commenced refinancing its principal banking 
facilities and its lending banks are supportive 
of the process to complete such an exercise 
on appropriate terms by the time of Mouchel’s 
interim results are announced in March 2011.

It is anticipated that, as a result of current 
market conditions, the cost associated with 
any re-financed facilities will be higher than 
is currently the case.

Cash flow and working capital
At the operating cash flow level, the net cash 
generated from operations before exceptional 
items was £70.5m for the year versus £32.8m 
for the previous year, with equivalent annual 
cash conversion ratios of 171% and 69% 
respectively. This improvement was driven 
by a reduction in working capital of £18.1m 
resulting from a combination of targeted UK 
cash flow improvement plans and a 15% 
reduction in turnover. This compared with 
an increase in 2009 of £28.4m which was 
largely as a result of gross working capital tied 
up in the Middle East.

£17.9m of the cash generated from operations 
in 2010 has been used to reduce the net bank 
debt from £101.3m at the beginning of the 
year to £83.4m at 31 July 2010. The balance 
of the cash generated was consumed by 
exceptional costs of £17.6m (2009: £7.6m) 
relating to this year’s charges and amounts 
provided for in 2009; net interest, including 
interest rate swap payments, of £9.3m 
(2009: £6.5m); and capital expenditure of 
£10.6m (2009: £25.3m), which was lower 
due to completion of the corporate information 
system implementation during 2010. 
The remainder, mainly relating to dividends 
and pension deficit funding, was at similar 
levels to 2009.

Order book and pipeline
At 31 July 2010 the Group’s forward order 
book was £1.8bn (2009: £1.9bn), 
demonstrating Mouchel’s continuing good 
visibility of future workload. The order book 
includes more than 500 clients across all the 
Group’s core sectors, with the largest clients 
including the Highways Agency; GBS 
partnership authorities (Lincolnshire County 
Council, Milton Keynes, etc); Transport for 
London; Main Roads; the government body 
responsible for all state-wide road assets in 
Western Australia; and a number of water 
utility companies (United Utilities, Severn Trent, 
Thames etc).

Mouchel’s bidding pipeline of near-term 
opportunities (actual tenders being prepared, 
decisions awaited and anticipated extensions 
to existing contracts) stands at £2.2bn, equal 
in value to that in July 2009. The pipeline 
similarly includes opportunities from all 
sectors, including a further highway 
management opportunity in Western Australia; 
managed service opportunities with UK water 
companies; and strategic bids in Sheffield, 
Essex and Edinburgh. 

Mouchel targets a win rate in the range of 
one-in-three to two-in-five, by value. This year 
Mouchel has again achieved a win rate of 
above the top end of this range. This has 
resulted from some significant wins with 
the HA and Main Roads Western Australia, 
together with a large number of AMP5 
framework contract appointments in 
the water sector. 
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Taxation
The effective rate of tax on profit before tax 
and exceptional items was 30.4%, compared 
with 26% for the previous year with the 
majority of the increase resulting from the 
change in rate on deferred tax assets and 
liabilities from 28% to 27%, with effect from 
1 April 2011. The remaining difference 
between the effective rate of tax and the 
statutory rate of 28% reflects the benefit 
of additional reliefs and research and 
development tax credits partly offset by the 
normal level of disallowable expenditure.

Pensions
The Group currently operates three main 
defined benefit pension schemes; namely, 
the Mouchel Superannuation Fund (MSF), 
the Mouchel Staff Pension Scheme (MSPS) 
and the Mouchel Business Services Limited 
Pension Scheme. The Group also has 
Admitted Body status in the Teesside 
pre-funded defined benefit scheme. 
Approximately 13% of employees are 
members of one or other of these schemes. 
All remaining employees, who contribute to 
a pension, are members of the Group’s 
defined contribution schemes.

The Group accounts for all four defined benefit 
schemes under IAS 19, Employee Benefits. 
The IAS 19 charge for the year was £6.6m 
compared with £7.1m last year. The decrease 
was attributable to a £1.3m reduction in the 
current service cost and a £0.8m adverse 
movement in the financing element of the 
charge. The charge continues to benefit from 
the changes to the MSF and MSPS schemes 
in 2006/07, whereby most members in 
the non-public sector sections of the 
two schemes moved from a final salary 
arrangement to a career average revalued 
earnings (CARE) basis for the calculation of 
their pension benefits. 

Our focus, therefore, is on reducing our  
costs and conserving our cash resources.

The full benefit of our most recent cost 
reduction measures will impact during the 
second half of 2010/11 and we will continue 
to monitor our cost base, taking further 
actions as necessary to control operating 
costs. In parallel, the Board has commenced 
refinancing its principal banking facilities and 
its lending banks are supportive of the 
process to complete such an exercise on 
appropriate terms by the time our interim 
results announcement is made in March 2011. 
The Group’s renewed focus on cash 
generation and the efficient management 
of working capital will further strengthen 
our financial position.

Alongside these steps our attention remains 
firmly fixed on our clients and on helping them 
to maintain the highest possible levels of 
service to their customers and end-users. 
In spite of the downturn we continue to enjoy 
a significant level of secured workload and 
our expertise in tackling the challenges 
involved in providing public services more 
efficiently creates new opportunities as 
prospective clients formulate their plans for 
service delivery in the prevailing public sector 
economic climate. 

Mouchel has faced some challenges in recent 
times. We have taken the tough decisions 
needed to ensure that we are operating 
appropriately in the current business 
environment and that we can maximise the 
benefits of a return to growth. Trading in the 
current year has started more slowly than 
expected and the immediate outlook remains 
uncertain. Whilst we expect to see some 
improvement in the second half of 2010/11  
as cost savings impact, in these 
circumstances it is right that the Group takes  
a more cautious approach to performance 
through 2011 and perhaps beyond. However, 
the Coalition Government’s policies together 
with our focused business strategy, our 
reliance on long-term contracts and our 
leading role in transforming essential services 
and in sustaining vital infrastructure all give  
us confidence in the medium- and long-term 
prospects for the Group.

On behalf of the Board

Richard Cuthbert
Chief Executive

David Tilston
Finance Director

27 October 2010

At 31 July 2010, the total deficit under  
IAS 19 was £53.1m, compared with £60.3m  
at 31 July 2009. The movement in the deficit 
compared with a year ago reflects actuarial 
experience in the intervening period, 
principally increased asset values partially 
offset by increased liabilities arising from a 
reduction in the discount rate applied to 
the liabilities from 6% at 31 July 2009 to  
5.4% at 31 July 2010.

The Group has decided that the current 
pension arrangements must be changed and 
has therefore begun a process of consultation 
with scheme members that is expected 
to lead to a restructuring of its pension 
arrangements. The proposals involve the 
closure of the defined benefit schemes to 
future accrual for non-public sector members 
and a reduction in the overall employer 
contribution to the defined contribution 
pension schemes.

(Loss)/Earnings per share
Adjusted earnings per share decreased from 
26.4p to 18.9p. Adjusted earnings per share is 
calculated after adding back shares held by 
the employee share trusts to the weighted 
average number of shares. Earnings are 
adjusted to exclude amortisation of intangible 
assets arising from business combinations, 
impairment of intangible assets arising from 
business combinations and other exceptional 
items (net of taxation). Basic loss per share 
increased from 11.7p to 12.1p.

Dividends
The Group does not intend to pay a final 
dividend (2009: 3.85p) per ordinary share. 
The Board plans to resume dividend 
payments once improved performance, 
on the back of increased demand for its 
services, has become firmly established.

Outlook
While demand remains satisfactory in many 
areas, some of the Group’s services have 
been affected by measures taken by the new 
Government to address the budget deficit 
and by related cutbacks in the local 
authority market. 
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Board of Directors

Bo Lerenius
Chairman (63)

Bo joined the Mouchel Board in January 2009 
as Non-Executive Director and became 
Chairman on 1 May 2009. He is currently 
Honorary Vice President of the Swedish 
Chamber of Commerce, Non-Executive 
Director of G4S plc. He is also a senior 
advisor to EQT, a major private equity group, 
Land Securities Group plc and Thomas Cook 
Group plc. Bo is the former Group Chief 
Executive of Stena Line and Associated 
British Ports, and was awarded an 
honorary CBE in 2005.

Member of:  
Audit Committee,  
Nomination Committee (Chairman),  
Remuneration Committee

Richard Cuthbert
Chief Executive (57)

Richard joined Parkman Group as Chief 
Executive in April 2002 and continued in this 
role following the merger of Mouchel plc and 
Parkman Group plc in September 2003. 
He was formerly a Senior Director and a 
member of the Group Executive at WS Atkins 
plc. Richard is a Chartered Civil Engineer 
with extensive experience in the management 
of consultancy and outsourcing businesses 
in the UK and overseas.

David Tilston
Finance Director (53)

David joined Mouchel on the 13 September 
2010. David was Finance Director of Victrex 
from 1997 to 2000 and Finance Director of 
OverNet Data plc (floated as an AIM-listed 
company) from 2000 to 2004. He has also 
held senior financial roles in a number of FTSE 
350 and other large UK plcs. David is currently 
a Non-Executive Director of Sepura plc, 
where he is the Chairman of the Audit 
Committee. He is a Fellow of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants in England 
and Wales and is also a Fellow of the 
Association of Corporate Treasurers.
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Debbie Hewitt
Non-Executive Director (47)

Debbie joined Mouchel as an Advisor to 
the Board in April 2007 and was appointed 
Non-Executive Director in September 2007. 
She is Non-Executive Chairman of Moss Bros 
Group plc and HPI Limited. Debbie is also 
a Non-Executive Director of Redrow plc, 
Luminar plc, NCC Group plc, HR Owen plc 
and Domestic and General Limited. Debbie 
was Managing Director of the RAC Automotive 
Group and held various commercial and HR 
management positions at Marks & Spencer. 

Member of:  
Audit Committee,  
Nomination Committee,  
Remuneration Committee

Ian Knight
Non-Executive Director (59)

Ian joined the Mouchel Board as a Non-
Executive Director in 2001 and is Chairman 
of the Audit Committee. lan is a Non-Executive 
Chairman of QDS Environmental Limited, and 
Non-Executive Director of Morson Group plc. 
He was formerly Non-Executive Chairman 
of Delta Simons Environmental Consultants 
Limited and Group Treasurer of Yorkshire 
Water Group.

Member of:  
Audit Committee (Chairman),  
Nomination Committee

Rodney Westhead
Senior Independent Director (66)

Rodney joined the Board of Parkman Group in 
June 2001. He was appointed a Non-Executive 
Director following the merger of Mouchel plc 
and Parkman Group plc in September 2003. 
Rodney is the Chairman of Clean Air Power 
Ltd and a Non-Executive Director of AEA 
Technology plc and Transense Technologies 
plc. He was formerly Non-Executive Chairman 
of Carter and Carter plc, Group Chief Executive 
of Ricardo plc and a partner at Grant Thornton. 
Rodney is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales.

Member of:  
Audit Committee,  
Nomination Committee,  
Remuneration Committee

Sir Michael Lyons
Non-Executive Director (61)

Sir Michael joined the Board of Parkman 
Group in June 2001 and is Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee. He was appointed 
a Non-Executive Director following the merger 
of Mouchel plc and Parkman Group plc in 
September 2003. Sir Michael is Chairman 
of the BBC Trust and the English Cities Fund. 
He is a Non-Executive Director of Wragge 
& Co, SQW Group Limited and Tindal Street 
Press Limited. He has undertaken a series 
of independent reviews for the Government 
(including the Lyons Review 2004 to 2007, the 
future role and funding of local government). 
Sir Michael was formerly Acting Chairman 
of the Audit Commission, Professor of 
Public Policy at the University of Birmingham, 
Chief Executive of Birmingham City Council, 
Nottinghamshire County Council and 
Wolverhampton Metropolitan 
Borough Council.

Member of:  
Nomination Committee,  
Remuneration Committee (Chairman)

Amanda Massie
Group Company Secretary (40)

Amanda joined the Group in October 2004. 
She was previously Group Company Secretary 
at WS Atkins plc and a member of its Group 
Management Board. Prior to WS Atkins, she 
worked in the City as Company Secretary for 
a group of insurance companies. Amanda is a 
Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries 
and Administrators.



Directors’ report 

The Directors present their Annual Report and the audited Financial 
statements of Mouchel Group plc (the Company) and the Mouchel Group 
for the year ended 31 July 2010. 

Principal activities 
Mouchel is a consulting and business services group supporting clients  
in developing and managing their infrastructure assets. Services are 
delivered through four main businesses: Government and Business 
Services, Regulated Industries, Highways and Management Consulting. 

Business review 
The progress of the business during the year and anticipated future 
developments are discussed in the Chairman’s statement and Business 
review on pages 4 to 41 and provide information about the Group’s 
strategy, its business, its financial performance, key performance 
indicators, the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group  
and likely developments. 

Acquisitions 
The Company did not make any acquisitions during the year.  

Post balance sheet events 
Please refer to note 35 on page 104. 

Results and dividends 
The Group loss for the financial year after taxation and exceptional items 
amounted to £13.5m (2009: loss of £13.0m). An interim dividend of 
2.25p per ordinary share was paid on 4 June 2010. The Directors 
recommend not paying a final dividend (2009: 3.85p). Total dividends 
relating to the year will amount to 2.25p per share. 

Financial instruments 
The Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies can  
be found in note u of the Accounting policies on page 70 and note 23  
of the Notes to the financial statements on page 91. 

Directors 
Biographical details of the Directors who served on the Board during  
the year and up to the date of signing the annual report and their share 
interests can be found on pages 42–43 and 58 respectively.  

Kevin Young, the Group Finance Director for Mouchel from 1998 to 
2010, resigned on 31 August 2010. David Tilston, who joined Mouchel 
on 13 September 2010, succeeds Kevin as Group Finance Director. 
David has held a number of senior financial posts and has strong industry 
experience gained through periods with Amec plc, Atkins, British Energy 
and Balfour Beatty.  

On 2 June 2010, Lynton Barker resigned as a Non-Executive Director  
of Mouchel. Lynton joined the Mouchel Board in April 2008, following 
Mouchel’s acquisition of Hedra Group plc, where he had been Chairman.  

Three new Non-Executive Directors are to join the Mouchel Board; they 
are: Richard Rae, David Sugden and Seamus Keating. Richard and 
Seamus will join the Board on 4 November 2010; David on 1 January 
2011. Rodney Westhead is to resign as a Non-Executive Director 
following the AGM on 31 January 2011.  

As a result of these appointments, Sir Michael Lyons will succeed Rodney 
as Senior Independent Director, in so doing relinquishing his chairmanship 
of the Remuneration Committee. Debbie Hewitt will take up the chair of 
the Remuneration Committee. Ian Knight is to step down from his role  
as Audit Committee chairman on 4 November and will leave the Board  
on 1 September 2011. Ian will be succeeded by Seamus as Audit 
Committee chairman. 

These appointments form part of the Group’s succession strategy  
for the Board. 

Richard Rae (51) was a director and subsequently a managing director  
in the Global Equities division of ABN AMRO (later RBS) from 1995 to 
2009. Richard is currently an independent management consultant, 
providing due diligence and corporate advice to both listed and  
unlisted companies.  

Seamus Keating (47) has been Chief Financial Officer and a member of 
the Logica plc Board since February 2002, having been Director of Group 
Finance since 1999. He was appointed Chief Financial and Operations 
Officer in January 2010. He joined Logica from Getronics, where he had 
been Finance Director of its Olivetti Solutions business. Prior to that, he 
had been Finance Director of Olivetti’s UK operations, having joined its 
finance function in 1989. He is a Fellow of the Chartered Institute of 
Management Accountants. 

David Sugden (59) has been the Chairman of Findel plc since 2010, 
having previously been appointed as a Non-Executive Director in 2009. 
He has also been a Non-Executive Director of Greencore Group plc since 
2002. David was a Non-Executive Director, and later Chairman, of BPP 
Holdings plc during the period 2004 to 2009, is the former Chairman of 
MSB International plc (1996–2000) and was the Chief Executive of Geest 
plc from 1990 to 1996. 

Details of the remuneration of all Directors who served during the financial 
year and their service contracts are included in the Remuneration Report 
on pages 52 to 58. No Director was materially interested in any contract 
of significance to the Company’s business or the Group. During the year, 
the Group has maintained cover for its Directors and officers and those  
of its subsidiary companies under a Directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance policy, as permitted by the Companies Act 2006. 
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Share capital and change of control 
The authorised share capital of the Company as at 31July 2010, together 
with details of shares issued during the financial year is shown in note 27  
of the Notes to the financial statements on page 96. During the year, the 
Company’s ordinary share capital remained unchanged. The Company’s 
issued share capital consisted of 112,369,719 ordinary shares of 0.25p 
each at 31 July 2010.  

The rights and obligations attached to the Company’s ordinary shares are 
contained in the Company’s Articles of Association, a copy of which can 
be obtained on request from the Company Secretary. The Articles of 
Association can only be changed by a special resolution passed in a 
general meeting of the shareholders. There are no special control rights  
or restrictions on transfer or limitations on the holding of ordinary shares 
and no requirements for the prior approval of any transfers. No person 
holds securities in the Company carrying special rights with regard to 
control of the Company. The Company is not aware of any agreements 
between holders of securities that may result in restrictions on the transfer 
of securities or on voting rights. 

Each ordinary share (other than treasury shares, which have no voting 
rights) carries the right to vote at a general meeting of the Company.  
At any general meeting, a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall 
be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is duly demanded. On  
a show of hands, every member who is present in person or by proxy  
at a general meeting of the Company shall have one vote. On a poll,  
every member who is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote 
for every share of which they are a holder.  

The Trustees of the Company’s Employee Share Ownership Plan Trusts 
(ESOPs) have waived their rights to dividends in respect of 1,246,281 
shares and do not exercise their right to vote in respect of such shares. 
The Company’s employee share schemes contain provisions relating to  
a change of control of the Company. Under these provisions, a change  
of control of the Company would normally be a vesting event, subject  
to any relevant performance conditions being satisfied. The Company  
is not a party to any other significant agreements that take effect, alter  
or terminate upon a change of control nor is it party to any agreement 
with the directors or employees providing for compensation or loss  
of office or employment that occurs as a result of a takeover bid. 

Purchase of own shares 
The Company has authority from shareholders to purchase up to 10% of 
its own ordinary shares in the market. This authority was not used during 
the year nor in the period to 15 October 2010. The Board intends to seek 
shareholder approval to renew the authority at this year’s Annual General 
Meeting (AGM).  

In accordance with the Companies (Acquisition of Own Shares) (Treasury 
Shares) Regulations 2003, companies are permitted to hold purchased 
shares rather than cancelling them. The Board has no current intention to 
purchase shares as treasury shares, other than as required for employee 
share schemes. 

Substantial shareholders 
As at 15 October 2010, the Company had been notified of the following 
voting interests in its ordinary share capital, disclosable under the Financial 
Services Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules: 

Name of holder  
No. of ordinary 

shares 
% of issued 

share capital

Schroder Investment Management 17,529,020 15.60
M & G Investment Management 14,444,014 12.85
Invesco Perpetual Asset Management 10,610,737 9.44
Scottish Widows Investment Partnership 7,509,712 6.68
Legal and General Investment Management 6,004,541 5.34
Standard Life Investments 4,909,157 4.37
Artemis Investment Management 4,659,438 4.15
Aberforth Partners 4,592,800 4.09
BlackRock (BGI) UK 3,493,965 3.11

Corporate governance 
A report on corporate governance can be found on pages 48 to 51. 

Corporate responsibility 
A summary of the Group’s Corporate responsibility activities can be  
found in the Business review on pages 36 and 37. In addition, the Group 
has produced a separate online Sustainability Report, which provides 
more detailed information with respect to the environment, health  
and safety and employees. A copy of the report is available on the 
Company’s website. 

Employees 
As at 31 July 2010, there were 10,210 people including temporary staff 
working for the Group. The Group’s policy is to provide an environment 
for all employees to fully develop their individual potential and thereby 
encourage their contribution to the success of Mouchel. The Group 
places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and has 
Investors in People accreditation for all its UK offices and sites.  

Internal communication is a high priority within the Group and employees 
are kept informed on matters affecting them as employees and on  
the Group’s financial performance. This is achieved through informal  
and formal meetings and various communications. Following the 
announcement of the Group’s final and interim results, staff presentations 
are made in various locations across the Group by the senior 
management team. The Group uses its intranet to communicate  
job vacancies, Group policies and other Company news. 

Staff opinions are sought annually via a confidential staff survey.  
The results of the survey are communicated to staff and are reviewed  
and acted upon to make improvements. 

Employees are encouraged to own shares in the Company and this  
is actively promoted via the Sharesave scheme. 

The Group has a diversity and equal opportunities policy and is 
committed to providing equal opportunities to all employees and  
job applicants irrespective of gender, race, age, religion, disability  
or sexual orientation. 
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Directors’ report continued 

Employees continued 
The Group’s policy and practice in respect of disabled persons is  
to encourage the recruitment and subsequent training, career 
development and promotion of disabled persons and the retention  
and retraining of employees who become disabled, on the basis  
of their aptitude and abilities. 

The Group also has a policy of ensuring it offers family-friendly working 
arrangements. We consider requests for individuals to work flexibly to 
meet their needs and the needs of the business. Some people also  
have more formal arrangements in place such as part-time working  
and job-sharing. Our flexible benefits scheme offers childcare vouchers 
and the opportunity to extend a number of healthcare benefits to 
employees’ families. 

Learning and development is critical to the success of Mouchel and we 
have a performance management system that provides a bi-annual 
opportunity for employees to discuss their progress and identify training 
needs. We provide our employees with a wide range of resources to 
assist with their personal development, which includes a mix of formal 
and online training. 

Charitable and political donations 
During the financial year 2009/10 the Group made charitable donations of 
£43,965 to a range of charities, matching an equal amount raised by staff. 
A further £1,835 was donated to other charities, making total charitable 
donations for the year of £45,800 (2009: £65,866). For the financial year 
2010/11 the Group has decided not to match any amount raised by staff. 

We have developed a new community involvement policy, encouraging 
our employees to form long-term relationships with local charities, by 
focusing on volunteer work and fundraising which benefits the local 
community. We believe that these efforts will now have a significant 
impact and will build on the benefits we are already providing through  
the Group’s contracts with local authorities. The Group will, subject to 
budgetary considerations, match both time volunteered and funds raised 
and we aspire to devote time and resources to the community equivalent 
to 1% of any pre-tax profits.  

It is the Group’s policy not to make political donations in the UK or 
overseas and the Group has no intention of making any political 
donations or incurring such expenditure in the future. However, the 
Political Parties, Elections and Referendum Act (the PPER Act) and part 
14 of the Companies Act 2006 (the 2006 Act) define political parties, 
other political organisations or independent election candidates very 
widely. The Board will therefore seek authority at the forthcoming AGM  
for the Company and any Company that is or becomes a subsidiary 
during the period ending on the date of the AGM 2010 to incur such 
political expenditure up to £100,000 in aggregate in order to prevent  
an inadvertent breach of the PPER Act and the 2006 Act. 

Research and development 
During the year, the Group did not capitalise any research and 
development. (2009: £526,000)  

Supplier payment policy 
Mouchel Group plc is a holding Company and has no trade payables. 
Group companies aim to adhere to the payment terms agreed with 
suppliers. Payments are contingent on the supplier providing goods  
or services to the required standard, and purchasing is sometimes 
coordinated between Group undertakings. As at 31 July 2010, the  
Group had an average of 45 days purchases owed to trade payables 
(2009: 40 days). This represents the ratio, expressed in days, between 
the amounts invoiced to the Group by its suppliers in the year to the  
trade payables at year-end. 

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual report, the 
Remuneration Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year. Under that law the Directors have elected to prepare 
the Group financial statements and the Parent Company Financial 
Statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. Under company 
law the Directors must not approve the Financial Statements unless  
they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs  
of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group  
for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the Directors  
are required to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 

• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable  
and prudent; 

• state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union 
have been followed subject to any material departures disclosed  
and explained in the Group and Parent Company Financial Statements 
respectively; and  

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless  
it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue  
in business. 
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities continued 
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records 
that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s transactions and 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements and the Remuneration Report comply with the Companies 
Act 2006 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4  
of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable 
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the 
Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the  
Board of Directors on pages 42 and 43 confirm that, to the best of  
their knowledge: 

• the Group financial statements, which have been prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, give  
a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and loss  
of the Group; and 

• the Directors’ report which can be found on pages 44 to 47 includes  
a fair review of the development and performance of the business  
and the position of the Group, together with a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties that it faces. 

Going concern 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. 

The Directors recognise that the current trading environment and short-
term outlook provides some challenges to Mouchel. However, as set out 
in this Annual Report, the Directors are confident that they have taken a 
number of actions to secure the long-term prospects of the Group, one 
of which is the significant restructuring to ensure that the cost base is in 
line with revenue expectations. The Directors are therefore satisfied that 
there is sufficient available headroom in the existing banking facilities to 
support the current business for the foreseeable future. 

As previously announced, the Board has commenced refinancing its 
principal banking facilities and its lending banks are supportive of the 
process to complete such an exercise on appropriate terms by the time 
of our interim results announcement in March 2011. 

Auditors 
In accordance with section 418 of the Companies Act 2006, having 
made enquiries of fellow Directors, each of the Directors who was a 
member of the Board at the time of approving the Directors’ Report 
confirms that to the best of each Director’s knowledge, the financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as, after 
making appropriate enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future, there is no relevant  
audit information (ie information needed by the Company and Group’s 
Auditors in connection with preparing their Report) of which the Company 
and Group’s Auditors are unaware and that each Director has taken all 
steps that they ought to have taken as a Director to be aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that the Company and Group’s 
Auditors are aware of that information.  

Resolutions to reappoint PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as Auditors  
of the Company and to authorise the Audit Committee to determine  
their remuneration will be put to the members at the AGM. 

Annual General Meeting 
The AGM of the Company will be held at the offices of RBS, 3rd Floor 
Conference Centre, 250 Bishopsgate, London EC2M 4AA, on  
31 January 2011 at 2.00pm. The business to be put to the shareholders 
is detailed in the separate Notice of Meeting accompanying this Report. 

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf 

 

Amanda Massie  
Group Company Secretary  
27 October 2010 
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Corporate governance report 

The Group operates to a high standard of Corporate Governance.  
In pursuit of such standards, the Directors apply a governance approach 
that currently complies with all of the provisions of the Combined Code  
on Corporate Governance adopted by the Financial Reporting Council  
in June 2008 (the Code). The Group will be adopting the 2010 UK Code 
on Corporate Governance. Where practicable, the Directors seek to 
comply with guidelines issued by institutional investors and their 
representative bodies. A copy of the Code is available at www.frc.org.uk. 

The Board 
The role of the Board 
The Board’s principal responsibility is to deliver shareholder value and 
provide an overall vision and leadership for the Company. It determines 
the Company’s strategic direction; reviews the Company’s operating and 
financial performance; provides oversight that the Company is adequately 
resourced and effectively controlled; and is the primary decision-making 
body for all matters considered as significant to the Company as a whole.  

There is a formal schedule of matters reserved for the Board, which 
provides a framework for the Board to oversee the control of the Group’s 
direction and affairs. These include the approval of the Group’s long-term 
objectives and commercial strategy; the approval of budgets and 
business plans, and oversight of the Group’s compliance with  
regulatory obligations.  

The full schedule of matters reserved for the Board is available  
on the Company’s website. 

Board composition and Board balance 
The Board comprised eight members during the majority of 2009/10. 
Two members are Executive Directors and the other members, including 
the Chairman, are Non-Executive Directors. Collectively, they have a 
diverse range of skills and experience. The Board annually reviews the 
composition of the Board and considers that there is an appropriate 
balance of Executive and Non-executive Directors on the Board. 

Chairman and Chief Executive 
The separate roles and objectives of the Chairman and the Chief 
Executive are clearly defined in written role descriptions. 

These are reviewed and re-approved annually by the Board.  
The Chairman is responsible for the leadership and efficient operation  
of the Board, for ensuring that corporate governance matters  
are addressed, and for representing the Company externally  
and communicating with shareholders when required. 

The Chief Executive is responsible for the development and 
implementation of policy and strategy and for the day-to-day operations 
of the Group. He is also responsible for chairing the Group Management 
Board and leads the communication programme with analysts and 
potential investors, providing feedback to the Board on a regular basis. 

Independent Non-Executive Directors  
The Board considers that all of the Non-Executive Directors are 
independent of management and free of any business relationship or 
other circumstance that could materially interfere with the exercise of 
objective, unfettered or independent judgement. In determining their 
independence, the Board reviews all Directors’ interests which may give 
rise to a potential or perceived conflict, and any circumstances relevant  
to their current or ongoing independence as set out in the Code.  

Each Non-Executive Director serves for a fixed term of not exceeding 
three years that may be renewed by mutual agreement and by 
shareholders at the AGM. Subject to the Board being satisfied with  
a Director’s performance, independence and commitment, there  
is no specified limit regarding the number of terms a Director may  
serve. New and long-service Directors alike challenge and bring 
considerable knowledge. 

Senior Independent Director 
The Senior Independent Director, Rodney Westhead, is available to 
shareholders should they have any issues or concerns that they have 
been unable to resolve through normal channels, or when such channels 
would be inappropriate. He is also responsible for leading the Board’s 
discussion regarding the Chairman’s performance. 

Board process 
The Board is responsible for the overall strategy of the Group and carries 
out its duties assisted by the Board Committees. The Committees’ 
activities are described on pages 48 to 50.  

To enable the Directors to fulfil their duties and obligations, all Directors 
are fully briefed on important developments in the various business 
activities which the Group carries out and regularly receive information 
concerning the Group’s operations, finances and risk factors.  
The Directors are also frequently advised on regulatory and best  
practice requirements which affect the Group’s business.  
Comprehensive papers are circulated to Directors in advance  
of Board meetings and presentations made at the meetings  
where appropriate. 

The Board is scheduled to meet monthly and no less than ten times 
a year. In addition to normal scheduled meetings, the Board convenes  
from time to time to deal with urgent matters. In the year under review,  
the Board met 31 times and held five Committee meetings. The Board  
also meets at least once a year to review the strategic direction of the 
Group. The Chairman and Non-Executive Directors meet annually  
without the Executive Directors present.  
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Board process continued 
The table below shows the number of board meetings held during the 
year and the attendance by individual Directors. 

Number of Board meetings held in 2010  31
Bo Lerenius (Chairman)  29/31
Richard Cuthbert  31/31
Kevin Young  31/31
Lynton Barker* 25/27
Debbie Hewitt  31/31
Ian Knight  30/31
Sir Michael Lyons  29/31
Rodney Westhead  26/31

* Resigned 2 June 2010.  

Conflict of interest 
In line with the Companies Act 2006, the Company has established a 
robust procedure requiring Directors to seek appropriate authorisation 
prior to entering into any outside business interests. Actual or potential 
conflicts of interest are reviewed by the Board. In assessing potential 
conflicts, the Board takes into consideration the impact on time 
commitment. 

Group Company Secretary 
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company 
Secretary and may, in furtherance of their duties, seek independent 
professional advice, including legal advice at the Company’s expense. 
The Company Secretary is responsible for ensuring that Board 
procedures and applicable rules and regulations are followed.  
The Company Secretary, in consultation with the Chairman, ensures  
that the information presented to the Board is not only timely but of 
sufficient quality to enable members to make informed decisions. 

Board performance and evaluation 
An effective Board is crucial to the success of the Group. To assess the 
performance of the Board and its Committees, the Board undertook a 
formal and thorough evaluation of its own performance and that of its 
Committees. Each Board member completed a detailed questionnaire, 
the responses to which were all reviewed by the Chairman and discussed 
with the entire Board. The Board considered the merit of using an external 
body to manage the performance evaluation process and concluded that 
it remained appropriate for the Board to evaluate its own performance.  

The evaluation covered areas such as the Board’s role and culture, 
strategy, current issues and performance, risk management and controls, 
Board structure, succession planning, Board and principal committee 
meetings. The Chairman also held in-depth one-to-one meetings with 
each member of the Board. The conclusion from the review was that  
the Board operated effectively and the actions arising from the review 
were particularly focused on the Group’s culture, strategy, risk 
management, board structure and succession planning. 

The outcome of the evaluations undertaken over the past five years  
was also reviewed and the progress on any actions noted. 

Directors’ induction and training 
The Board receives regular briefings by senior executives, the Company’s 
advisors, and other means, to update and develop their skills and 
knowledge, and to gain a thorough understanding of the Group’s 
businesses and operations. During the year, the Board continued to 
receive briefings on new requirements introduced by the Companies  
Act 2006. External training is made available where appropriate. 

On appointment, new Directors receive a wide-ranging and 
comprehensive induction covering the Group’s operations and the  
legal, regulatory and other obligations of a Director of a listed company. 
The induction includes site visits and meetings with key management  
and the Company’s legal and financial advisors. The Directors also attend 
external courses where necessary. 

Election and re-election of Directors 
In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code guidance issued 
by the Financial Reporting Council in May 2010, all those who were 
incumbent members of the Board during the year, will be subject to  
re-election at the AGM. In addition, any Director appointed during the year 
is subject to election at the AGM after their appointment. In previous 
years, one-third of the Board was required to retire by rotation each year 
as per the Company’s Articles of Association. 

Board Committees 
The Board is assisted in discharging its responsibilities through three 
principal Committees: the Audit Committee; the Remuneration 
Committee and the Nomination Committee. In addition to the  
Board Committees, the Group Management Board assists the  
Chief Executive in implementing the day-to-day management 
responsibilities of the Group.  

Each Committee is responsible for the activities within its defined terms  
of reference. The Chairman of each Committee provides the Board with  
a summary of key issues considered at the meetings of the Committees 
and the minutes of the meetings were circulated to the Board. 

Board Committees are authorised to engage the services of external 
advisors as they deem necessary in the furtherance of their duties at  
the Company’s expense. Reports of the Committees are set out on 
pages 49 and 50 and pages 52 to 58. 

Audit Committee 
Number of meetings held in 2009/10  2
Ian Knight (Chairman)  2/2
Richard Cuthbert* 2/2
Kevin Young* 2/2
Debbie Hewitt  2/2
Rodney Westhead  1/2
Bo Lerenius  2/2
Sir Michael Lyons* 2/2

* Non-member – attended by invitation. 

The Audit Committee assists the Board in discharging its responsibilities 
for the integrity of the Company’s external financial reporting; the 
assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal financial 
and risk control function; the Group’s accounting policy and monitoring 
the effectiveness and objectivity of the external Auditors. The terms of 
reference of the Audit Committee were reviewed during the year. 
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Corporate governance report continued 

Board process continued 
Audit Committee continued 
The Committee members have broad experience and knowledge of 
financial reporting. Their biographical details can be found on pages 42 
and 43 of this Report. The Board believes that Ian Knight and Rodney 
Westhead have recent and relevant financial experience. 

The Committee held two scheduled meetings during the year and 
considered all matters under its remit. The external Auditors, the Group 
Finance Director, the Group Financial Controllers and the Chief Executive 
normally attend, by invitation, all meetings of the Committee.  
Other members of senior management are also invited to attend  
as appropriate to present reports.  

It is the Committee’s practice at each meeting to meet separately with  
the external Auditor and without any members of management being 
present, and to meet with the management without the external Auditor 
present to discuss matters relating to any issues arising from the audit 
and matters relating to the Auditor’s remit and performance. 

The Group’s Auditor has direct access to the Committee to raise  
any matters for discussion. During the year, the Committee’s  
activities included: 

• a review of the Company’s financial announcements including the 
Annual Report and Accounts and associated documentation, placing 
particular emphasis on their fair presentation and the reasonableness of 
the judgemental factors and appropriateness of significant accounting 
policies used in their preparation;  

• monitoring the Group’s overall system of risk management; 

• a review of the effectiveness of the internal systems with respect  
to financial control; 

• a review of the Auditors’ independence, performance and 
effectiveness;  

• review of the arrangements by which employees may, in confidence, 
raise concerns about possible improprieties in all areas; and  

• a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s Fraud policy, the Group’s 
Business Ethics policy, the Group’s Anti-Corruption policy and the 
Group’s Whistle-blowing policy.  

The effectiveness of the Committee’s performance was evaluated as part 
of the overall Board evaluation exercise during the year. 

The full terms of reference of the Committee can be found on the 
Company’s website. 

Remuneration Committee 
The Report of the Remuneration Committee can be found on pages 52 
to 58 of the Report. 

Nomination Committee 
Number of meetings held in 2009/10 6
Bo Lerenius (Chairman)  6/6
Richard Cuthbert1 5/6
Lynton Barker2  3/3
Debbie Hewitt  6/6
Ian Knight  6/6
Sir Michael Lyons  5/6
Rodney Westhead  5/6
1 Non-member – attended by invitation. 
2 Resigned 2 June 2010. 

The Nomination Committee primarily focuses on the structure, size, 
composition and skills of the Board to ensure that it is comprised of 
individuals who are best able to discharge the responsibilities required by 
the Group. It also makes recommendations to the Board concerning the 
succession planning for the Directors; advises the Board on issues of 
Directors’ conflicts of interest and independence and conducts a rigorous 
and transparent process when making or renewing appointments of 
Directors to the Board. 

The Committee met six times during the year and the members 
attendance record is set out above. 

Group Management Board 
The Group Management Board (GMB) supports the Chief Executive and 
the Group Finance Director in the performance of their duties, including: 

• the development and implementation of strategy, the Group corporate 
plan and operational plans, policies, procedures and budgets;  

• the monitoring of operating and financial performance on a day-to-day 
basis; 

• the assessment and control of risk; 

• the prioritisation and allocation of resources; 

• ensuring active cooperation and communication between all parts of 
the business; 

• monitoring of competitors; and 

• leading and facilitating change and learning in the organisation. 

The GMB is chaired by the Chief Executive, and comprises the Group 
Finance Director, the Group Company Secretary, the Human Resources 
Director and the Managing Directors of the principal businesses. 

Internal control and risk management 
The Board is responsible for establishing, reviewing and maintaining the 
Group’s systems of internal control and risk management and ensuring 
that these systems are effective for managing the business risk within  
the Group. 

The Group has established a framework for identifying, evaluating and 
managing significant risks faced by the Group. The framework of risk 
management and internal control operating within the Group has been  
in place throughout the year and is in accordance with the Turnbull 
Guidance. The framework is reviewed annually and is designed to 
safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets while 
ensuring that proper accounting records are maintained. 
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Board process continued 
Internal control and risk management continued 
It is the responsibility of management to ensure that the controls and 
procedures that operate within the framework are followed and that  
the Board is kept fully appraised of any risks and control issues, both 
operational and financial, that arise from the reporting structures which 
exist within the Group. The Board recognises that any system of internal 
control exists to minimise the risk of failure rather than to eliminate it,  
and that any system of internal control can only provide reasonable,  
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. 

The risk management of joint ventures and strategic partnerships  
is agreed between the parties and periodic reviews are carried out  
where appropriate. 

The Audit Committee annually reviews the effectiveness of the risk 
management system and its internal controls and reports its findings  
to the Board. 

The framework through which the Group mitigates both operational and 
financial risk is described below. The Group continually looks for ways  
to improve these processes and this year there have been a number  
of initiatives designed to reduce the commercial exposure of the Group 
and further embed a risk management culture within the Group. 

Strategic control 
The Board reviews the Group’s strategic plans annually. Progress against 
the strategic plan is monitored at Board and GMB meetings. The GMB  
is responsible for monitoring the Group’s strategic progress and is 
accountable to the Board in this regard. 

Delegated authorities 
The Board has set clear terms of reference for its Committees, all of 
which were reviewed during the financial year. The Group has an 
organisational reporting structure with clearly defined delegated authorities 
to executive management and reporting systems for financial results,  
risk exposure and control assessment. 

Financial control 
The Group has a suitable system for reporting financial results to the 
Board. Each business stream prepares monthly results with a 
comparison against budget and forecast. The Group Chief Executive  
and Group Finance Director hold monthly review meetings with each  
of the Managing Directors of the individual business streams. Actions  
are identified and a financial report prepared for the GMB and the Board 
for review of the Group as a whole. 

Business stream controls 
Each business stream is responsible for identifying, evaluating and 
managing major business risks. Procedures are in place to ensure  
that risks are identified from project bidding stage through to project 
completion stage and include reviews against key performance 
indicators. 

Risk management 
The Board has overall responsibility for identifying, evaluating and 
managing major business risks facing the Group. It regularly reviews 
business assessments of risk exposure and control, and it determines 
appropriate action. There is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating 
and managing the significant risks faced by the business. The process 
involves monthly reports, by management, of the risk and internal control 
issues faced by their business. These risks are then reported to the GMB 
and the Audit Committee and the Board is kept fully appraised of any 
risks and internal control issues arising from these reports. A Bid 
Committee meets fortnightly and reviews all material bids. The Board also 
receives monthly reports and key performance measures on health, 
safety and environmental matters. 

Internal Audit 
The Internal Audit function supports the internal control and risk 
management process. It is directly responsible to the Audit Committee, 
but also reports on progress and makes recommendations to the GMB 
and the plc Board. The Internal Audit function's remit is to review, as part 
of the Group’s risk management, the performance and conduct of the 
Group’s various activities, examining any relevant components of 
performance, including financial and commercial matters, risks and 
exposures, client relationships, progress and performance against 
programme. It also reviews, reports upon and makes recommendations 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls including systems 
and processes. 

Relations with shareholders 
The Board is committed to a continuing dialogue with its institutional 
shareholders. Following the announcement and presentation of the  
half-year and year-end results, there are a series of formal meetings  
with institutional shareholders. These meetings are a two-way  
dialogue whereby the Executive Directors can appraise the investors  
of the Group’s business and future plans and the shareholders can 
communicate any concerns they may have. The Non-Executive Directors 
and Chairman are available to attend these meetings. The Company’s 
brokers and financial PR advisors provide feedback from the shareholder 
and analyst meetings and present the results to the Board. 

The Group’s investor relations section on its website contains information 
on the Group’s financial results, its corporate policies and the analysts’ 
presentations. Additionally, the AGM provides a useful interface with 
shareholders. All shareholders are invited to attend the AGM and all 
members of the Board will be available at the meeting to answer 
questions.  

The Company seeks to promote the use of e-communications and 
encourages its shareholders to sign up to receive Company circulars  
by email. 

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf 

 

Amanda Massie 
Group Company Secretary  
27 October 2010 
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Remuneration report 

Introduction 
This Report sets out the Company’s remuneration policy and details the 
remuneration of each of the Directors for the financial year ended 31 July 
2010, the current financial year and, as far as practicable, for subsequent 
years. It complies with the Companies Act 2006 and Schedule 8 to the 
Large and Medium-Sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and 
Reports) Regulations 2008 (the Regulations), the 2008 Combined Code 
(in respect of the year ended 31 July 2010) and the 2010 Corporate 
Governance Code (in respect of the current financial year). In addition,  
the Committee has aimed to comply with best practice guidelines 
including guidance from institutional investors and their representative 
bodies. In accordance with the Regulations, relevant sections of this 
Report have been audited. A resolution to approve the Report will  
be proposed at the Company’s AGM on 31 January 2011, at which  
the financial statements will be presented for approval.  

The Regulations require the Auditors to report to the shareholders on 
certain sections of this Report and to state whether those sections have 
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006. 
The Report has therefore been divided into separate sections for audited 
and unaudited information. 

Unaudited information 
Committee’s objectives 
The Committee operates under authority delegated to it by the Board and 
under specific terms of reference which can be found on the Company’s 
website. Its terms of reference are reviewed annually as part of the 
Group’s annual corporate governance review. Its key objectives are to: 

• implement levels of remuneration to be sufficient to attract and retain 
the quality of Directors required to run the Company, but to avoid 
paying more than is necessary for the purpose; 

• ensure that a suitable proportion of executive remuneration is linked  
to corporate and individual performance; and  

• ensure that the performance related elements of directors’ 
remuneration should be stretching and designed to promote  
the long-term success of the Company. 

Remuneration Committee  
Number of meetings held in 2009/10 6
Sir Michael Lyons (Chairman)  5/6
Richard Cuthbert2 6/6
Kevin Young2 2/6
Lynton Barker1 1/4
Debbie Hewitt 6/6
Ian Knight2 1/6
Bo Lerenius  6/6
Rodney Westhead 6/6
1 Resigned on 2 June 2010. 
2 Non-member – attended by invitation. 

The Committee held six meetings during the year and the meeting 
attendance record is set out above. 

The Chief Executive, the Group Finance Director and the Human 
Resources Director attend the meetings by invitation as required.  

The Committee has a rolling calendar of items within its remit for 
discussion. In addition, the Committee consider issues relating to the 
operation of the remuneration policy and emerging market practices. 
During the year, the Committee considered various issues within its remit, 
in particular, the Committee: 

• considered and recommended to the Board the Group’s remuneration 
policy for the Executive Directors, and such other senior managers as it 
is designated to consider covering terms of employment, basic salary, 
performance bonus, long-term incentives, retirement benefits, and 
other benefits;  

• determined and kept under review the remuneration policy for the 
Group; and 

• recommended to the Board, incentive plans with appropriate 
performance conditions to motivate, retain and attract staff  
and ensuring effective operation of the incentive plans. 

Hewitt New Bridge Street (HNBS) is the independent remuneration 
advisor to the Committee. Neither HNBS (nor its parent company Aon) 
provides any other services to the Company. In addition, the Committee 
received advice from the Human Resources Director and the Group 
Company Secretary. 

In accordance with regulatory requirements, the Board undertook a 
review of the effectiveness of the Committee during the year to assess its 
effectiveness. The outcome of the review was to explore the scope for 
new measures to incentivise the urgent turn around of the business. 

Remuneration policy 
The Committee reviews the remuneration policy on a regular basis 
against regulatory developments and market practices. 

The objective of the remuneration policy is to attract, retain and motivate 
Executive Directors and senior managers with the relevant expertise, skills 
and qualities to achieve the Company’s strategic ambitions, business 
objectives and to align their interests with those of the shareholders.  
It is designed to reward performance and to maintain a high-performance 
culture within the Company. The interests of our senior management  
and our shareholders are also aligned through share incentives and  
share ownership.  

No individual is present when his or her own remuneration is under 
consideration. The Committee does not determine the fees payable  
to Non-Executive Directors, which are determined by the Board within 
limits set out in the Articles of Association. 

In reviewing and setting the remuneration policy for the employees, the 
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration pay and conditions 
across the Group.  

The Remuneration Committee believes that the balance of fixed-and 
performance-related remuneration, and the mixture of performance 
targets applying to variable elements (which comprise a balance of 
internal financial, non-financial and measures linked to the share price), 
are compatible with the Company's risk policies and procedures  
and that these do not encourage excessive risk taking.  
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Executive Directors 
The remuneration package for Executive Directors is made up of a  
mix of fixed and variable elements which consist of base salary, annual 
bonus and performance related long-term incentive plans. The relative 
proportion of performance-related and non-performance-related  
‘on-target’ remuneration for the financial year 2009/10 is as below: 

1 Base salary – 42%.
2 Performance-related bonus target – 25%.
3 Performance-related long-term incentives 
 (expected values) – 33%.

Excludes pensions and other benefits.

1

2

3

 

Basic salary and other benefits 
The Committee’s objective is to ensure that the basic salary for Executive 
Directors and key senior management is appropriate and competitive for 
the responsibilities involved. Salaries are reviewed annually, with changes 
normally taking effect from 1 August. 

Any increases are awarded only after taking into account individual 
performance, changes in responsibility, the Company’s performance, 
market conditions and external advice as to appropriate salary levels  
for each position. The Company has a rigorous personal performance 
appraisal process against which personal, business and Group-related 
targets are set and reviewed. 

The Committee’s policy is to set base salaries at the median level of an 
appropriate comparator group of companies of broadly similar size and 
business fit. Pay conditions elsewhere within the Group are also taken 
into account when setting base salary increases. The average pay 
increase across the Group from 1 August 2010 was 1.4% (2009: 1%). 

In light of the current economic conditions and the Company’s financial 
performance, the Committee decided to freeze the salaries of the 
Executive Directors for the financial year commencing 1 August 2010 
(which was the second consecutive year in which no increase was 
made). Therefore, Richard Cuthbert’s and Kevin Young’s base salaries 
were £410,000 and £250,000 respectively for the year ended 31 July 
2010. In the current year, Richard Cuthbert’s salary remains at £410,000. 
David Tilston was appointed Group Finance Director on 13 September 
2010 on a salary of £250,000. 

Annual bonus scheme 
The Executive Directors participate in the annual bonus scheme which 
rewards performance against challenging short-term targets. During the 
year under review, the maximum bonus available to Executive Directors 
was 60% of basic salary and remains this for the current financial year. 
Executive Directors and certain senior executives are also eligible to 
participate in the Company’s Co-Investment Plan under which they are 
invited to invest all or part of their annual bonus in shares. The investment 
is matched on a one-for-one basis subject to satisfactory achievement of 
performance conditions. The Co-Investment Plan is described in further 
detail below. 

The targets against which bonuses are paid are based on a combination 
of demanding financial and personal objectives. Two-thirds of the bonus 
for the Executive Directors is based on Group profit against financial 
targets and one-third is based on individual non-financial targets. The part 
of the total bonus attributable to the financial performance of the Group, 
will only be payable if the average working capital days over the year are 
no more than 10% greater than the average number of working capital 
days assumed in setting the annual budget. 

The targets are set annually and the achievement against these targets  
by the Executive Directors and senior management must be reviewed 
and agreed by the Remuneration Committee in order for any bonus to  
be payable. Bonus awards to the Executive Directors are discretionary, 
non-pensionable and non-contractual. For the year under review, the 
financial performance targets were not met and accordingly no bonuses 
are payable.  

The annual bonus scheme will operate on a broadly similar basis  
for 2010/11.  

Share incentive schemes 
Co-Investment Plan 
The Co-Investment Plan (CIP) is a discretionary plan in which participants 
are invited to invest either all or a proportion of their annual bonus in 
ordinary shares in the Company. Provided these shares are retained  
by the participants for three years, they will be matched by the  
Company on a one-for-one basis dependent on the extent to which  
the performance conditions set out below are met. If the participant 
withdraws all or part of their invested shares during the three-year period, 
their entitlement to matching shares will be reduced on a pro-rata basis. 

The performance conditions for the matching shares awarded to date  
are based on Group performance as measured by growth in earnings  
per share (EPS). The maximum number of shares will be delivered if EPS 
growth reaches Retail Prices Index (RPI) +12% per annum over the  
three-year period. These matching awards will not vest if EPS growth  
is RPI +5% per annum or less and for EPS growth between RPI +5%  
per annum and RPI +12% per annum a straight-line relationship applies.  
No retesting of performance is permitted if the performance condition  
is not met at the end of the three-year period. 

The Executive Directors and senior managers are eligible to participate  
in this plan and participation in this plan is reviewed annually. However,  
as bonuses will not be paid in respect of the year under review, the Co-
Investment Plan will not be operated during the 2010/11 financial year. 

Performance Share Plan 
The Performance Share Plan (PSP) is a long-term incentive plan under 
which Executive Directors, other members of the senior management 
team and certain other key staff may receive a conditional right to acquire 
shares, the vesting of which depends on the satisfaction of demanding 
performance conditions. During the year, the Committee made PSP 
awards at 60% of salary to the Executive Directors with lower awards  
to other managers.  

For awards made up to and including 2009, the primary performance 
measure determining the vesting of awards has been the Company’s 
relative Total Shareholder Return (TSR) performance over a fixed  
three year period. TSR is measured against the constituents of the  
FTSE All-Share Support Services Sector, with the performance period 
commencing on the first day of the financial year in which the award  
is made. 25% of the awards vest if the Company’s TSR performance 
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Share incentive schemes continued 
Performance Share Plan continued 
ranks at the median of the comparator group, with full vesting for 
performance at or above the upper quartile. Between these points, 
awards will vest on a pro rata basis. 

In addition, in order for shares to vest, the Company’s EPS must exceed 
the growth in RPI by an average of at least 3% per annum over the 
performance period. Participation in this scheme is reviewed annually. 

The Remuneration Committee is satisfied that these targets are 
appropriate and sufficiently challenging to be operated in normal 
circumstances. However for 2010, it considers that a different approach 
is necessary, and details of this are set out below. 

The Remuneration Committee will continue to review the  
appropriateness of the performance targets attached to its  
share schemes on a regular basis. 

2010 Performance Share Plan awards 
For awards to be made to Executive Directors in November 2010, a 
different approach to the above has been agreed by the Remuneration 
Committee. The Committee decided to review its approach in light  
of the challenges which have been faced by the Group over the last 
couple of years, and the work which will be required to reposition  
the Group to meet these challenges. 

Therefore with an emphasis on retaining a stable leadership team and 
sharpening their focus on an urgent recovery of the Group performance, 
the following approach is proposed for the current financial year: 

• For the two Executive Directors, a higher than policy grant of 150%  
of salary will be made under the PSP. This award will be made shortly 
after the announcement of results in early November 2010. 

• For this grant, the performance period will be staggered so that half of 
the awards will be assessed on the second anniversary of grant, and 
half on the third anniversary (ie 75% of salary will be assessed in 2012 
and 75% of salary in 2013). However, no shares will vest to employees 
until the end of year three, ie November 2013. For the avoidance of 
doubt, it should be noted that, to the extent that the two-year awards 
do not meet their performance conditions, those awards would lapse 
(ie they cannot be rolled over for assessment in year three).  

• The performance target applying to awards will measure absolute 
growth in Mouchel's TSR against the following ranges (the same 
annual growth ranges will apply to both the two- and three-year 
awards): 

Growth in absolute TSR over  
the performance period 

Proportion of that part of the award 
that vests 

Less than 30% pa Zero 
At least 30% pa 25% 
Between 30% pa and 55% pa Pro rata between 25% and 100% 
55% pa or above 150% 

• In addition to the requirement for growth in absolute TSR, no awards 
will vest unless the percentage growth in the Company's TSR is at 
least equal to the growth in TSR of the FTSE Small Cap (excluding 
Investment Trusts) Index.  

The Committee believes that this approach is the most appropriate for 
Mouchel's current circumstances, as it believes that the achievement  
of very stretching absolute, rather than relative, returns to shareholders  
(to be met over a sustained period) are the key objective for management 
in restoring shareholder value. Whilst the grant is higher than the 
Committee's normal policy, this reflects the very demanding targets which 
will be applied, such that for full vesting, the share price would need to 
have broadly recovered to its pre-recession high of around 450p. 

The Committee expects to revert to its normal policy (or similar) for grants 
in 2011 onwards. However, it will review the market conditions when 
those grants are due to be made before finalising its approach. 

Savings-related share option scheme 
The Company operates an all-employee HMRC-approved savings-
related share option scheme (SAYE). The Executive Directors, while 
eligible, do not currently participate in this scheme. During the year, the 
Company has remained within its headroom limits for the issue of new 
shares under share incentive schemes. The Company’s position under 
the Association of British Insurers’ guidelines (that dilution under 
discretionary schemes should not exceed 5% in 10 years) was that 
shares equivalent to only 0.5% of ordinary share capital had been 
allocated. Against the guideline that overall dilution under all schemes 
should not exceed 10% in 10 years; the Company had allocated only 
4.1% .These figures exclude obligations which are to be settled with 
shares purchased in the market. 

Restricted Share Plan 
The Restricted Share Plan (RSP) was adopted by the Remuneration 
Committee on 1 February 2008. It is used where the CIP and PSP are 
not considered appropriate vehicles. Executive Directors are not eligible  
to participate in the RSP. 

The RSP allows for the grant of conditional awards or nil-cost options 
over shares held in trust (through market purchase by the employee 
benefit trust) for a tie-in period, normally three years. At the end of the 
three-year period, shares are transferred to the individuals subject to them 
still being an employee. The individuals have no voting rights and are not 
the beneficial owners of the shares until they are transferred to them at 
the end of the three-year period. The Remuneration Committee has the 
discretion to attach performance criteria to individual grants if appropriate.  

Legacy executive share options 
The Company has a number of legacy executive share option plans.  
It has two approved schemes: The Mouchel Approved Executive Share 
Option Scheme and The Parkman Group 2001 Approved Share  
Option Plan; and two unapproved schemes: The Mouchel Unapproved 
Executive Share Option Plan and the Parkman Group 2001 Executive 
Share Option Plan. There have been no option grants under any of these 
plans since 2003, although a grant is proposed to be made below board 
managers in November 2010. 

Share ownership guidelines 
To further align the interests of the Executive Directors with those of the 
shareholders, Executive Directors are required to build a shareholding  
of at least 100% of annual salary, which can also be acquired from  
the retention of vested shares (net of tax and financing costs) under  
the Company’s share plans. No time limit has been placed on reaching 
this target. 

The Non-Executive Directors are expected to achieve a share interest  
in the Company amounting to 100% of their annual fee. 
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Pensions 
Executive Directors are members of HMRC-registered defined benefit 
pension schemes administered by Mouchel Pension Trustees Limited. 

The schemes are contracted out of the State Second Pension scheme. 
Richard Cuthbert contributes and Kevin Young contributed 7.75% of  
their pensionable earnings. The normal retirement age is 65 for Richard 
Cuthbert and was 60 for Kevin Young; Richard Cuthbert accrues benefits 
on a career average re-valued earnings (CARE) basis. Under CARE,  
the pensionable earnings are averaged over the pensionable service  
with the pensionable earnings re-valued in line with the Retail Prices Index, 
limited to a maximum uplift of 5% per annum. 

The schemes final lump sum death-in-service benefits of four times 
pensionable earnings in the case of Richard Cuthbert was three times 
pensionable earnings in the case of Kevin Young. In addition, in the event 
of their death in service widow’s pensions based upon 50% of their 
expected pensions (on a final salary, not CARE, basis) at their normal 
retirement age would be payable.  

All Executive Directors’ benefits under the registered pension schemes 
are subject to the notional HMRC Earnings Cap. 

David Tilston who joined the board on the 13 September 2010, receives 
employer pension contributions of 10% of his salary into his Self-Invested 
Pension Plan (SIPP). 

Performance graph 
The graph shows the Company’s TSR performance to 31 July 2010, 
measured against the FTSE All-Share Support Services Index, over the 
past five years. This is considered the most appropriate index since 
Mouchel is a member of the Support Service Sector.  

Mouchel Group – Net Total Shareholder Return.
FTSE All Share Support SVS £ – Net Total Shareholder Return.
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TSR is defined as the return shareholders would receive if they held a 
notional number of shares and received dividends on those shares over a 
period of time, assuming dividends are reinvested. The graph measures 
the percentage growth in the Group’s share price. 

Executive Directors’ service contracts 
It is the Company’s policy to include a rolling notice period by either party 
of no more than 12 months and a clause to that effect is included in the 
Executive Directors’ service contracts. The appointment date, notice 
period and re-election date of the Executive Directors are provided below: 

Name of Director 
Effective date  

of appointment 

Notice 
period for 
Executive 
Directors

Date of last 
re-election 
under the 
Articles of 

Association

Richard Cuthbert  19.09.2003  12 months 11.12.2008
David Tilston 13.09.2010  6 months –

Copies of each Director’s service agreement will be available for 
inspection prior to and during the AGM.  

External appointments 
While Richard Cuthbert does not currently hold any Non-Executive 
Directorships (David Tilston is a Non-Executive Director of Sepura plc),  
the Board believes that there are benefits from extending the range  
and experience of the Executive Directors by allowing them to accept  
a Non-Executive Directorship elsewhere. The Company has in place  
a policy which states that, with Board approval, the Executive Directors 
can hold one external Non-Executive directorship and that the time 
commitment to any external Non-Executive directorship will be  
annually reviewed by the Committee. Any fees earned in connection  
with an external Non-Executive directorship will be retained by the 
Executive Directors. 

Non-Executive Directors 
The Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment stating  
their annual fee payable and their time commitment required.  
All Non-Executive Directors (excluding the Chairman) are appointed  
for an initial term of three years subject to satisfactory performance  
and re-election by shareholders at the AGM. After the initial three-year 
term their appointment is subject to annual re-election. Their appointment 
can be terminated at any time without any damages or compensation  
for loss of office. Non-Executive Directors’ fees are determined by the 
Board within the limits set out in the Articles of Association and with 
reference to payments made by comparator companies.  

None of the Non-Executive Directors are eligible to participate in the 
Company’s pension schemes, share incentive schemes or receive  
an annual bonus or any payments other than fees and expenses. 

The Non-Executive Directors’ appointment and re-election dates  
are provided below: 

Name of Director  
Effective date 

of appointment

Date of last 
re-election 
under the 
Articles of 

Association

Lynton Barker1 01.04.2008 –
Debbie Hewitt  03.09.2007 –
Ian Knight  28.06.2002 11.12.2009
Bo Lerenius2 30.01.2009 11.12.2009
Sir Michael Lyons  19.09.2003 11.12.2009
Rodney Westhead  19.09.2003 11.12.2009
1 Resigned on 2 June 2010. 
2 Elected on 11 December 2009. 
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Remuneration report continued 

Audited information 
Directors’ emoluments 
The aggregate emoluments in respect of their roles as Directors, excluding pensions, of the Directors of the Company who served during the year are 
shown in the table below: 

 Salary/fees Bonus  Other benefits1   Total2 

 
2010  
£000 

2009 
£000

2010 
£000

2009 
£000

2010 
£000

2009  
£000  

2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Executive Directors     
Richard Cuthbert3 405 410 – – 12 12   417 422 
Kevin Young4  250 250 – – 13 13   263 263 

Non-Executive Directors    
Lynton Barker5 31 38 – – – –   31 38 
Debbie Hewitt  38 38 – – – –   38 38 
Ian Knight  38 38 – – – –   38 38 
Bo Lerenius6 114 55 – – – –   114 55 
Sir Michael Lyons  38 38 – – – –   38 38 
Rodney Westhead  38 38 – – – –   38 38 
Total 952 905 – – 25 25  977 930
1 Other benefits include such items as company cars, fuel, car allowance and medical insurance. 
2 Total excludes pension contributions, which are shown separately. 
3 Richard Cuthbert worked for free during a number of days over December 2009 and January 2010, thus reducing annual salary received by £5,000. 
4 Kevin Young was paid £131,500 termination fee upon resignation on 31 August 2010. 
5  Lynton Barker resigned on 2 June 2010. He continues to be paid an additional fee of £35,000 to maintain a relationship with CSC Computer Services in a strictly  

non executive capacity. 
6 Bo Lerenius became Chairman on 1 May 2009. The amount shown in 2009 reflected fees paid from the date of appointment. 

Directors’ pensions 

 

Accrued 
pension at 
31/07/09 
£000 pa

Accrued 
pension at 
31/07/10 
£000 pa

Increase in 
accrued 
pension 

during 
2009/10 

excluding any 
increase for 

inflation 
£000

Transfer value 
of accrued 
pension at 
31/07/09 

£000

Transfer value 
of accrued 
pension at 
31/07/10 

£000

Director 
contributions 

during the 
period 

01/08/09 to 
31/07/10  

£000 

Total change 
in value during 

2009/10 net 
of Director’s 

contributions 
£0001

Transfer value 
of increase 

less Director’s 
contributions 

£000

Richard Cuthbert  14 17 3 234 240 10 –3 22
Kevin Young  21 24 3 390 376 10 –25 26
1 Richard Cuthbert is, and Kevin Young was, a participant of different pension schemes which have differing transfer value bases. Both schemes have introduced new transfer value 

bases, which have contributed to increases in the transfer values. The changes are also due to market conditions over the period and the accrual of benefits. 
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Directors’ interests in the Co-Investment and Performance Share Plans 
The awards over Mouchel Group plc shares held by the Executive Directors under the Company’s Co-Investment (CIP) and Performance Share Plans 
(PSP) are detailed below: 

 
Scheme 

name  Date of award 

No. of shares 
1 August 

2009 

Awards 
granted 

during the 
year 

Awards 
exercised 

during 
the year4 

Awards 
lapsed during 

the year

Market price 
on award  

date (p)  

No. of shares 
at 31 July 

2010 Vesting date

Richard Cuthbert  CIP  23.11.2006 15,889 – (14,821) (1,068) 395 – 23.11.2009
 CIP  23.11.2007 16,890 – – – 428 16,890 23.11.2010
 CIP  21.11.2008 11,845 – – – 261.50 11,845 21.11.2011
 PSP  23.11.2006 39,215 – (9,804) (29,411) 395 – 23.11.2009
 PSP  23.11.2007 53,718 – – – 427.63 53,718 23.11.2010
 PSP  21.11.2008 87,904 – – – 261.50 87,904 21.11.2011
 PSP  16.11.2009 – 131,550 – – 187 131,550 16.11.2012
Total   225,461 131,550 (24,625) (30,479)  301,907
Kevin Young  CIP  23.11.2006 9,958 – (9,289) (669) 395 – 23.11.2009
 CIP  23.11.2007 10,183 – – – 428 10,183 23.11.2010
 CIP  21.11.2008 7,265 – – – 261.50 7,265 21.11.2011
 PSP  23.11.2006 24,541 – (6,135) (18,406) 395 – 23.11.2009
 PSP  23.11.2007 32,947 – – – 427.63 32,947 23.11.2010
 PSP  21.11.2008 53,600 – – – 261.50 53,600 21.11.2011
 PSP  16.11.2009 – 80,213 – – 187 80,213 16.11.2012
Total   138,494 80,213 (15,424) (19,075)  184,208
1 The awards made under the terms of the CIP are made as matching awards, which vest on the third anniversary of grant, subject to performance conditions being met and the bonus 

shares being retained by participants for three years. For CIP awards made on 23 November 2006, the performance conditions were met by 93.28%, accordingly 6.72% of the award 
lapsed on 23 November 2009. A summary of the CIP can be found on page 53 of the Remuneration Report. 

2 Vesting of awards made under the terms of the PSP is dependent on the Company’s relative TSR performance over a three-year period (with an EPS underpin) and the participants’ 
continued employment within the Group on the vesting date. For PSP awards made on 23 November 2006, the Company’s TSR over the performance period was –36.8% ranking 
the Company 28th out of 55 companies in the comparator group. In accordance with the terms of the PSP, 25% of the award vested on 23 November 2009. A summary of the PSP 
can be found on page 53 of the Remuneration Report. 

3 CIP and PSP option prices are £nil and the expiry date is up to six months after the vesting date. 
4 During the year, the Executive Directors exercised awards granted under the Mouchel Group Co-Investment Plan and the Mouchel Group Performance Share Plan. The aggregate of 

the gain made on these exercises, calculated on the difference between the award price and the mid-market price on the date of the award maturity, was £170,245 of which £104,698 
related to the gain attributable to the highest paid director.  

5 Kevin Young was deemed to be a good leaver under the scheme rules of the CIP and PSP and will receive a prorated number of shares, dependent on the length of the performance 
period completed and to what extent the performance criteria of the schemes will be met.  
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Remuneration report continued 

Directors’ beneficial interests 
The beneficial interests of the Directors and their families in the ordinary shares of 0.25p each in the Company as at 31 July were as follows: 

 
2010 

No. of shares
2009 

No. of shares

Executive Directors 
Richard Cuthbert  429,148 364,523 
Kevin Young  800,445 785,021 

Non-Executive Directors 
Lynton Barker6 629,837 629,837 
Debbie Hewitt  12,159 12,159 
Ian Knight  220,000 210,000 
Bo Lerenius  35,000 25,000 
Sir Michael Lyons 15,760 15,760
Rodney Westhead 9,844 9,844
1 The mid-market closing share price of Mouchel Group plc shares at 31 July 2010 was 125p and the lowest and highest mid-market share prices during the financial year were 95p  

and 266.75p per share respectively. 
2 At 31 July 2010, the Executive Directors of the Company, as potential beneficiaries under the Company’s Employee Benefit Trusts (the Trusts), were each technically deemed  

to be interested in 1,246,281 unallocated Mouchel Group plc shares held by the Trusts (note 30 of the Notes to the financial statements provides further information in relation  
to the Employee Benefit Trusts). 

3 These shareholdings are all beneficial interests and include shares held by Directors’ spouses and other connected persons. 
4 Richard Cuthbert and Kevin Young’s beneficial interests include Bonus Awards held under the terms of the CIP. 
5 The increase in the Executives Directors’ shareholdings in the Company was due partly to option exercises and partly to share acquisition from the market. On 23 July 2010,  

Richard Cuthbert acquired 40,000 shares. 
6 Lynton Barker resigned on 2 June 2010. 

 

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf 

Sir Michael Lyons 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee  
27 October 2010 
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Consolidated income statement 
for the year ended 31 July 2010 
 

Notes

Results 
before 

exceptional 
items 
2010 
£000

 Exceptional 
items1 
2010 
£000 

Total  
2010  
£000 

Results  
before  

exceptional 
items  
2009  
£000 

Exceptional 
items1

2009  
£000 

 Total 
2009 
£000

Continuing operations   
Revenue 2 632,616 – 632,616 740,550 – 740,550
Cost of sales (522,227) – (522,227) (616,370) – (616,370)
Gross profit 110,389 – 110,389 124,180 – 124,180
Administrative expenses (69,205) (45,229) (114,434) (76,855) (53,562) (130,417)
Operating profit/(loss) 2,4 41,184 (45,229) (4,045) 47,325 (53,562) (6,237)
Interest receivable  5 235 – 235 1,565 – 1,565
Finance costs 5 (10,918) – (10,918) (8,834) – (8,834)
Profit/(loss) before tax 30,501 (45,229) (14,728) 40,056 (53,562) (13,506)
Taxation 7 (9,284) 10,552 1,268 (10,401) 10,916 515
Profit/(loss) for the year  21,217 (34,677) (13,460) 29,655 (42,646) (12,991)
   
Basic and diluted loss per share 10 (12.1)p  (11.7)p

 
 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 July 2010 
 

 Notes 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Loss for the year  (13,460) (12,991)
Differences on exchange  1,037 (1,350)
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (interest rate swaps)  21 (3,367) (4,699)
Actuarial loss on pension scheme valuations 33 (689) (34,036)
Deferred tax on actuarial movement in pension scheme valuations 16,33 186 7,203
Net losses not recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement  (2,833) (32,882)
Total recognised loss for the year  (16,293) (45,873)

There is no tax effect for differences on exchange or changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges.  
1 Exceptional items are disclosed in note 3.  
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Group and Company balance sheets  
as at 31 July 2010 

 
Group  Company 

 Notes
2010 
£000

2009  
£000  

2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Assets   
Non-current assets   
Goodwill 11 109,717 109,717  – –
Other intangible assets 12 60,096 60,538  – –
Property, plant and equipment 13 16,913 24,769  – –
Investments in subsidiaries 14 – –  258,388 323,824
Deferred tax assets 16 26,524 28,739  – 114
Loan notes 22 – –  31,813 39,814
 213,250 223,763  290,201 363,752
Current assets   
Trade and other receivables 17 141,061 183,033  58,155 41,299
Cash and cash equivalents 32 45,376 52,426  – –
 186,437 235,459  58,155 41,299
Liabilities   
Current liabilities   
Borrowings 21 (736) (2,153)  – –
Trade and other payables 20 (118,463) (128,509)  (7,142) (4,722)
Current tax liabilities (12,253) (8,909)  – –
Retirement benefit obligations 33 (719) (857)  – –
 (132,171) (140,428)  (7,142) (4,722)
   
Net current assets 54,266 95,031  51,013 36,577
   
Non-current liabilities   
Borrowings 21 (125,978) (150,764)  – –
Loan notes 22 – –  (51,852) (51,852)
Trade and other payables 25 (157) (1,404)  – –
Derivative financial instruments 21, 23 (7,729) (4,362)  – –
Provisions for liabilities and charges 26 (28,983) (23,298)  – –
Deferred tax liabilities 16 (8,347) (12,325)  – (618)
Retirement benefit obligations 33 (52,342) (59,430)  – –
 (223,536) (251,583)  (51,852) (52,470)
Net assets 43,980 67,211  289,362 347,859
   
Equity   
Share capital 27 280 280  280 280
Share premium 28 27,853 27,853  27,853 27,853
Other reserves 10,943 13,214  9,763 9,763
Retained earnings 4,904 25,864  251,466 309,963
Total equity 43,980 67,211  289,362 347,859

The notes on pages 65 to 106 are an integral part of the financial statements.  

The financial statements on pages 59 to 106 were approved by the Board of Directors on 27 October 2010 and were signed on its behalf by: 

  

Richard Cuthbert David Tilston  
Director  Director 
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Consolidated cash flow statement  
for the year ended 31 July 2010 

 Notes 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Cash flows from operating activities  
Cash generated from operations before exceptional costs 31 70,514 32,801
Exceptional costs  (17,580) (7,585)
Cash generated from operations 31 52,934 25,216
Interest element of finance lease payments  (24) (46)
Interest element of other loan repayments  (105) (193)
Taxation refunded/(paid)  2,144 (4,192)
Net cash generated from operating activities  54,949 20,785
  
Cash flows from investing activities  
Investment in joint venture entities  – (20)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 18 – 9,500
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (2,083) (14,953)
Purchase of intangible assets – software and assets in the course of construction  (8,529) (10,344)
Special contributions to defined benefit pension schemes  (7,915) (8,310)
Interest received  235 1,565
Net cash used in investing activities  (18,292) (22,562)
  
Cash flows from financing activities  
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary share capital  – 674
Sale of own shares by employee share trusts  36 18
Dividends paid to shareholders 9 (6,770) (7,184)
Loan facility (repaid)/drawn down net of loan issue costs  (26,103) 17,656
Other loan payments  (1,171) (1,172)
Loan (to)/repaid by related party  (191) 95
Finance lease principal payments  (153) (153)
Finance costs paid  (9,455) (7,856)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities   (43,807) 2,078
  
Effects of exchange rate changes  100 333
  
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (7,050) 634
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 August  52,426 51,792
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 July 32 45,376 52,426
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
as at 31 July 2010 
 

Group 
 

Share
capital
£000

Share
premium

£000

Other 
reserves 

£000 

Retained
earnings

£000
Total
£000

Balance at 1 August 2008 279 27,180 22,379 69,052 118,890
Comprehensive income  
Loss for the year – – – (12,991) (12,991)
Other comprehensive income  
Actuarial loss on pension scheme valuations – – – (34,036) (34,036)
Deferred tax on pension scheme valuations – – – 7,203 7,203
Changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges – – (4,699) – (4,699)
Currency translation differences – – (1,350) – (1,350)
Total other comprehensive income  – – (6,049) (26,833) (32,882)
Total comprehensive income – – (6,049) (39,824) (45,873)
Transactions with owners  
Employee share option schemes:  
– proceeds from shares issued 1 673 – – 674
– sale of own shares by employee share trusts – – 96 – 96
Loss on sale of own shares held in employee share trusts – – – (78) (78)
Share-based payments – – – 686 686
Release of revaluation reserve on sale of property – – (3,212) 3,212 –
Dividends – – – (7,184) (7,184)
Balance at 31 July 2009 280 27,853 13,214 25,864 67,211
  
Balance at 1 August 2009 280 27,853 13,214 25,864 67,211
Comprehensive income  
Loss for year – – – (13,460) (13,460)
Other comprehensive income  
Actuarial loss on pension scheme valuations – – – (689) (689)
Deferred tax on pension scheme valuations – – – 186 186
Changes in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges – – (3,367) – (3,367)
Currency translation differences – – 1,037 – 1,037
Total other comprehensive income – – (2,330) (503) (2,833)
Total comprehensive income – – (2,330) (13,963) (16,293)
Transactions with owners  
Employee share option schemes:  
– sale of own shares by employee share trusts – – 59 – 59
Loss on sale of own shares held in employee share trusts – – – (23) (23)
Share-based payments – – – (204) (204)
Dividends – – – (6,770) (6,770)
Balance at 31 July 2010 280 27,853 10,943 4,904 43,980

Included in other reserves are accumulated translation reserves of £363,000 (2009: negative reserve of £674,000). 

Included within other reserves are ESOP reserves of £387,000 (2009: £446,000). More detail on these reserves can be found in note 30. 
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Company 
  

Share
capital
£000

Share 
premium 

£000 

Other 
reserves 

£000 

Retained
earnings

£000
Total
£000

Balance at 1 August 2008 279 27,180 12,975 305,865 346,299
Comprehensive income   
Profit for the year – – – 7,097 7,097
Total comprehensive income – – – 7,097 7,097
Transactions with owners   
Employee share option schemes:   
– proceeds from shares issued 1 673 – – 674
Share-based payments – – – 85 85
Release of revaluation reserve on sale of freehold property – – (3,212) 3,212 –
Share-based payments granted to subsidiary employees – – – 888 888
Dividends – – – (7,184) (7,184)
Balance at 31 July 2009 280 27,853 9,763 309,963 347,859
   
Balance at 1 August 2009 280 27,853 9,763 309,963 347,859
Comprehensive income   
Loss for the year – – – (51,534) (51,534)
Total comprehensive income – – – (51,534) (51,534)
Transactions with owners   
Share-based payments – – – (479) (479)
Share-based payments granted to subsidiary employees – – – 286 286
Dividends – – – (6,770) (6,770)
Balance at 31 July 2010 280 27,853 9,763 251,466 289,362
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Independent Auditors’ report to  
the members of Mouchel Group plc 

We have audited the financial statements of Mouchel Group plc for the 
year ended 31 July 2010 which comprise the Consolidated Income 
Statement, the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income,  
the Group and Company Balance Sheets, the Consolidated Cash Flow 
statement, the Consolidated and Company Statement of Changes  
in Equity and the related notes. The financial reporting framework that  
has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union 
and, as regards the parent company financial statements, as applied  
in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. 

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors  
As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set  
out on page 46, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair 
view. Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements in accordance 
with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and 
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices 
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.  

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for  
the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of  
Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, 
in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other 
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into 
whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing. 

Scope of the audit of the financial statements  
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the group’s and the parent company’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately 
disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made 
by the directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

Opinion on financial statements  
In our opinion:  

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the 
group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 July 2010 and of 
the group’s loss and the group’s cash flows for the year then ended; 

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;  

• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared 
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and as 
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; 
and 

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the group 
financial statements, Article 4 of the lAS Regulation.  

Emphasis of Matter – Going Concern 
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which is not qualified, 
we have considered the adequacy of the disclosures made in note 1 to 
the financial statements concerning the Company’s and the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. As described in note 1 the Group 
is currently renegotiating its banking facilities with its lenders and expects 
to finalise the refinancing by the time of the interim results announcement 
in March 2011. As the Group’s forecasts show expected covenant  

breaches in the short term, in the absence of a refinancing, the Group 
will be dependent on the existing lenders either waiving the covenant 
tests or not exercising their right to demand immediate repayment of 
those facilities and continuing to make the full amount of those facilities, 
including undrawn amounts, available until their maturity.  

These conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s and the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. The financial statements do not include the 
adjustments that would result if the Company and the Group were unable 
to continue as a going concern. 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006  
In our opinion:  

• the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; 

• the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for 
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements; and 

• the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement set out 
on pages 50 to 51 in the Corporate Governance Report with respect to 
internal control and risk management systems and about share capital 
structures is consistent with the financial statements. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception  
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:  

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if,  
in our opinion:  

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent 
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or  

• the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns; or  

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are  
not made; or  

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require 
for our audit; or 

• a corporate governance statement has not been prepared by the 
parent company.  

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:  

• the directors’ statement, set out on page 47, in relation to going 
concern; and 

• the parts of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the 
company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the June 2008 
Combined Code specified for our review. 

 

Paul Aitken  
Senior Statutory Auditor  
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors  
London  
27 October 2010 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2010 

1 Accounting policies 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these 
financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, except for changes arising 
on the adoption of new accounting standards as described below. 

a Basis of preparation  
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union, International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) interpretations and with those parts of the 
Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention except for the following items: land and buildings are valued  
at deemed cost and share-based payments, cash flow hedges and 
retirement benefit obligations are fair valued. A summary of the more 
important Group accounting policies is set out below. 

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.  

The Directors recognise that the current trading environment and short-
term outlook provides some challenges to Mouchel. However, as set out 
in this Annual Report, the Directors are confident that they have taken  
a number of actions to secure the long-term prospects of the Group,  
one of which is the significant restructuring to ensure that the cost base  
is in line with revenue expectations. The Directors are therefore satisfied 
that there is sufficient available headroom in the existing banking facilities 
to support the current business for the foreseeable future. 

As previously announced, the Board has commenced refinancing its 
principal banking facilities and its lending banks are supportive of the 
process to complete such an exercise on appropriate terms by the time 
of our interim results announcement in March 2011. 

The Group is currently in full compliance with the financial covenants 
contained in its borrowing agreements. However, whilst the Group is 
satisfied with the progress being made and fully expects to be able to 
conclude a satisfactory refinancing this timetable is not wholly under the 
Group’s control. As the Group’s forecasts show expected covenant 
breaches in the short term, in the absence of a refinancing, the Group  
will be dependent on the existing lenders either waiving the covenant 
tests or not exercising their right to demand immediate repayment of 
those facilities and continuing to make the full amount of those facilities, 
including undrawn amounts, available until their maturity.  

As a result the Directors are making appropriate disclosure, as required 
by accounting standards, to indicate the existence of a material 
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Company’s  
and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The financial 
statements do not include the adjustments that would result if the 
Company or Group were unable to continue as a going concern  
as the Directors do not believe that this is required.  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles requires the use of estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities  
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these 
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the amount, 
event or actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates. 

The Company has not presented its own cash flow statement as the 
Company does not maintain its own bank account. All transactions 
such as dividends and share issues are dealt with through subsidiary 
companies and settled via intercompany accounts. 

b Changes in accounting policies 
The Group has adopted the following accounting standards which  
are mandatory for the financial year ended 31 July 2010:  

IAS 1 (revised), ‘Presentation of financial statements’. The revised 
standard prohibits the presentation of items of income and expenses 
(that is ‘non-owner changes in equity’) in the statement of changes  
in equity, requiring ‘non-owner changes in equity’ to be presented 
separately from owner changes in equity. All ‘non-owner changes in 
equity’ are required to be shown in a performance statement. Entities can 
choose whether to present one performance statement (the statement 
of comprehensive income) or two statements (the income statement and 
statement of comprehensive income). The Group has elected to present 
two statements: an income statement and a statement of comprehensive 
income. The financial statements have been prepared under the revised 
disclosure requirements.  

IFRS 8, ‘Operating segments’. IFRS 8 replaces IAS 14, ‘Segment 
reporting’. It requires a ‘management approach’ under which segment 
information is presented on the same basis as that used for internal 
reporting purposes. Operating segments are reported in a manner 
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker has been identified 
as the Executive Directors. The disclosure under the revised standard  
is set out in note 2.  

The following new standards, amendments to standards and 
interpretations are mandatory for the first time for the financial year ended 
31 July 2010, but do not have a material impact on the Group’s results. 

• IFRS 2 (amendment), ‘Share-based payment; Vesting conditions  
and cancellations.  

• IAS 32 (amendment), ‘Financial instruments: Presentation’.  

• IFRIC 13, ‘Customer loyalty programmes’.  

• IFRIC 15, ‘Agreements for the construction of real estate’.  

• IFRIC 16, ‘Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation’.  

• IAS 39 (amendment), ‘Financial instruments: Recognition  
and measurement’.  

• IFRS 3 (revised), ‘Business combinations’ and consequential 
amendments to IAS 27, ‘Consolidated and separate financial 
statements’, IAS 28, ‘Investments in associates’ and IAS 31,  
‘Interests in joint ventures’.  

• IFRIC 17, ‘Distributions of non-cash assets to owners’.  

c Basis of consolidation 
The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the Financial 
Statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company  
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the power 
to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain 
benefits from its activities. 

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the Consolidated Income Statement from the effective date  
of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2010 continued 

1 Accounting policies continued 
c Basis of consolidation continued  
On acquisition, adjustments are made to the financial statements of 
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those used  
by other members of the Group. 

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are 
eliminated on consolidation. 

d Business combinations 
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the purchase 
method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of  
the fair values, at the date control passes, of assets given, less liabilities 
incurred or assumed and equity instruments issued by the Group in 
exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs directly attributable  
to the business combination. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities 
and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under 
IFRS 3 (Revised), ‘Business Combinations’ are recognised at their fair 
values at the acquisition date.  

e Interests in joint ventures 
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group and  
one or more other parties undertake an economic activity that is subject 
to joint control. Joint control is when the strategic, financial and operating 
policy decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent  
of the parties sharing control. 

The Group conducts its joint venture arrangements through both jointly 
controlled entities and jointly controlled operations. In both cases, the 
Group reports its interests using proportional consolidation. The Group’s 
share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses are combined  
with the equivalent items in the Consolidated Financial Statements  
on a line-by-line basis. 

f Goodwill 
Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the cost of 
acquisition over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable 
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary recognised at the date of acquisition. 
Goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently 
measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is 
included in the determination of the profit or loss on disposal. 

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS  
was tested for impairment at the transition date and was retained at its 
previous UK GAAP value. Positive goodwill arising on acquisitions prior  
to 1998 that was written off against reserves under UK GAAP has not 
been reinstated and is not included in determining any subsequent profit 
or loss on disposal.  

g Foreign currencies 
The individual financial statements of each Group entity are presented  
in the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity 
operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements, the results and financial position of each entity  
are expressed in pounds sterling, which is the functional currency  
of the Company and the presentation currency for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

(i) Individual entity financial statements  
Transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency 
(foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing  
on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet date, monetary 
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the balance sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at  
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated  
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in  
a foreign currency are not retranslated. 

Exchange differences arising on the settlement or retranslation of 
monetary items are included in the Income Statement for the year. 
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items 
carried at fair value are included in the Income Statement for the period 
except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items 
in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in equity.  
For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain  
or loss is also recognised directly in equity. 

(ii) Consolidated financial statements  
The assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are expressed 
in pounds sterling using exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet 
date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange 
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during 
that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions are used.  

Any exchange differences arising are classified as equity and transferred 
to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation differences are 
recognised in the Income Statement in the period in which the foreign 
operation is disposed of. 

h Revenue recognition 
Revenue represents the fair value of services provided in the case of time 
charge work and the value of services provided as a proportion of the 
total value of the contract in the case of fixed fee contracts. Revenue is 
net of value added tax. Under certain services contracts, the Group 
manages customer expenditure and is obliged to purchase goods  
and services from third-party contractors and recharge them on to the 
customer at cost. The amounts charged by contractors and recharged  
to customers are excluded from revenue and cost of sales. Receivables, 
payables and cash relating to these transactions are included in the 
consolidated balance sheet. 

Revenue recognition on outsourcing contracts is determined by reference 
to the proportion of the annual service delivered to date. Where the costs 
of obligations in relation to the non-renewal or termination of a contract 
are higher in the final period of the contract, a proportion of revenue is 
deferred each period to meet these anticipated costs. 

Provision is made in full for estimated losses, if the costs of fulfilling the 
contract exceed the recoverable amount. Revenue is only recognised  
to the extent that it is probable that it will be recoverable. Where the 
outcome cannot be measured reliably, revenue is recognised to the 
extent of costs incurred to date where it is probable that costs will be 
recoverable. 

Where revenue that has been recognised is found to not be recoverable 
due to a dispute with the client, these amounts are charged against  
the revenue recognised. Where non-recovery is as a result of inability  
of a client to meets its obligations, these amounts are charged to 
administrative expenses. 
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1 Accounting policies continued 
h Revenue recognition continued  
As described above, revenue represents the fair value of services 
provided as a proportion of the total value of the contract. Unbilled 
revenue is the difference between the revenue recognised and the 
amounts actually invoiced to customers. Where invoicing exceeds  
the amount of revenue recognised, these amounts are included  
in deferred income. 

Consumables are stated at cost. When consumables are used,  
a charge is made to cost of sales.  

i Pre-contract costs 
The Group accounts for pre-contract costs on both time charge work 
and service contracts in accordance with IAS 11 ‘Construction 
Contracts’. Costs incurred before it becomes virtually certain that the 
contract will be awarded are charged directly to the Income Statement. 
Costs incurred after that point are recognised as an asset in the balance 
sheet and charged to the Income Statement over the duration of  
the contract. 

j Employee benefits 
The Group operates several occupational pension schemes, of both  
the defined contribution and defined benefit type. 

(i) Defined contribution pension schemes 
Contributions to the Group’s defined contribution schemes are 
recognised as an employee benefit expense when they fall due.  
Employer pension contributions in respect of employees who transferred 
under TUPE to Mouchel, but who remain members of their respective 
councils’ defined benefit pension scheme are treated as being made  
to defined contribution schemes where under the terms of the contract 
the defined benefit liability effectively remains with the relevant council. 

Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent that they 
result in either a cash refund or a reduction in future payments.  

(ii) Defined benefit pension schemes 
The liability recognised in the balance sheet for the Group’s defined 
benefit pension schemes is the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation at the balance sheet date as adjusted for unrecognised past 
service cost, less the fair value of scheme assets. The defined benefit 
obligation is calculated by independent actuaries using the projected unit 
credit method and by discounting the estimated future cash flows using 
interest rates on high-quality corporate bonds that have terms to maturity 
approximating the terms of the related pension liability. Any asset resulting 
from this calculation is limited to unrecognised past service costs plus  
the present value of available refunds and reductions in future 
contributions to the scheme. 

The pension expense for the Group’s defined benefit schemes is 
recognised as follows: 

Within operating profit 
Current service cost – representing the increase in the present value  
of the defined benefit obligation resulting from employee service in the 
current period. 

Past service cost – representing the increase in the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation resulting from employee service in prior periods, 
which arises from changes made to the benefits under the scheme  
in the current period. To the extent that the changes to benefits vest 
immediately, past service costs are recognised immediately; otherwise 
they are recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. 

Gains and losses arising on settlements and curtailments – where the 
item that gave rise to the settlement or curtailment is recognised within 
operating profit. 

Within finance costs 
Interest cost on the liabilities of the scheme – calculated by reference  
to the scheme liabilities and discount rate at the beginning of the year  
and allowing for changes during the year. 

Expected return on the assets of the scheme – calculated by reference  
to the scheme assets and long-term expected rate of return at the 
beginning of the year and allowing for changes during the year. 

Within the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
Actuarial gains and losses arising on the assets and liabilities of the 
scheme. 

When a curtailment (reducing future obligations as a result of a material 
reduction in the scheme membership or a reduction in future entitlement) 
occurs, the obligation and related plan assets are remeasured using 
current actuarial assumptions and the resultant gain or loss is recognised 
in the Income Statement during the period in which the curtailment 
occurs. 

(iii) Share-based payments 
The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain 
employees. Equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair 
value (excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting conditions)  
at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the 
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line  
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of the 
shares that will eventually vest. 

Save As You Earn (SAYE) options are treated as cancelled when 
employees who remain in employment cease to contribute to the 
scheme, resulting in an acceleration of the remainder of the related 
expense. 

The grant by the Company of options over its equity instruments  
to the employees of subsidiary undertakings in the Group is treated  
as a capital contribution. 

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense  
is calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period  
has expired and management’s best estimate of the achievement  
or otherwise of non-market conditions and hence the number of  
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The movement in the 
cumulative expense since the previous balance sheet is recognised  
in the Income Statement. 

For share options where there are no market-based vesting conditions, 
fair value is measured using the Black-Scholes pricing model. For share 
options where there are market-based vesting conditions, the Monte 
Carlo simulation model is used for fair value measurement.  
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2010 continued 

1 Accounting policies continued 
k Taxation 
Taxation in the Income Statement represents the sum of the tax  
currently payable and deferred tax on items charged or credited  
to the Income Statement. 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.  
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the Income Statement 
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never 
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated 
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by  
the balance sheet date. 

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding 
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted  
for using the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are 
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred  
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised.  

Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences 
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint 
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference  
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance 
sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset  
to be recovered. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in  
the year when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. Deferred tax is 
charged or credited to the Income Statement, except when it relates to 
items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax 
is also dealt with in equity. Examples of items charged to equity are gains 
or losses in relation to pension scheme valuations and actual amounts 
received in respect of relief obtained in granting options to employees 
under share incentive schemes. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities 
and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and 
liabilities on a net basis. 

l Intangible assets  
(i) Computer software costs 
The cost or valuation of assets acquired or created to fulfil customer 
contracts, less their estimated residual value, is written down in equal 
instalments over the life of the contract to which the assets relate. 

Acquired computer software licences and software development costs 
are capitalised and amortised over their estimated useful lives of between 
three and eight years.  

The Group’s corporate information systems are treated as an intangible 
asset. Costs included are those directly attributable to the design, 
construction and testing of new systems (including major enhancements 
and internally generated costs) from the point of inception to the point of 
satisfactory completion where the probable future economic benefits 
arising from the investment can be assessed with reasonable certainty  
at the time the costs are incurred. Maintenance and minor modifications 
are expensed in the Income Statement as incurred. The corporate 
information systems are amortised on a straight-line basis over their 
estimated useful economic life of eight years. 

(ii) Customer relationships 
Customer relationships are measured as the present value of cash flows 
attributable to the relationship after deduction of appropriate contributory 
asset charges. The relationship is amortised over its expected useful life. 

(iii) Assets in the course of construction 
Capital software projects which are incomplete at the balance sheet date 
are included within this category of intangible assets until the projects are 
commissioned and transferred to computer software costs. 

(iv) Other intangible assets 
Other intangible assets are acquired assets comprising trade names, 
non-compete agreements and specialist software and licences.  
The values of these assets are individually determined using appropriate 
valuation methods and deducting contributory asset charges as required. 
Further detail is given in note 12 of the financial statements. 

m Property, plant and equipment 
The cost or valuation of assets acquired or created to fulfil customer 
contracts, less their estimated residual value, is written down in equal 
instalments over the life of the contract to which the assets relate. 

Cost includes the original purchase price of the asset and the  
costs attributable to bringing the asset to its working condition for  
its intended use.  

Assets are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Subsequent costs are capitalised only when it is probable that they will 
result in future economic benefits flowing to the Group and when they can 
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance expenditure is 
charged to the Income Statement in the year in which it is incurred. 

Depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight-line method to 
write off their cost less their residual value over their estimated useful lives 
as follows: 

Leasehold improvements over the expected term of the lease 
Plant and office equipment 3–10 years 
Vehicles 3–5 years 
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1 Accounting policies continued 
m Property, plant and equipment continued 
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected 
useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. Residual values and 
estimated useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least  
at each financial year-end. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable 
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated 
recoverable amount. 

Gains and losses arising on disposals are determined by comparing net 
sales proceeds with carrying amounts and are recognised in the Income 
Statement in the period of the disposal. 

n Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
(i) Goodwill 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to the  
cash-generating units expected to benefit from the combination.  
Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested  
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication  
that the unit may be impaired. 

If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the 
carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce 
the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the 
other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of 
each asset in the unit. 

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a 
subsequent period. 

(ii) Other tangible and intangible assets (including investments) 
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amount of its 
tangible and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication 
that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  

If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 
estimated in order to determine the extent, if any, of the impairment loss. 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the  
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 

An intangible asset with an indefinite life is tested annually for impairment 
and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be impaired an 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Income Statement 
unless the relevant asset is carried at the revalued amount.  

A reversal of an impairment loss for tangible and intangible assets  
other than goodwill is recognised immediately in the Income Statement  
to the extent that the original impairment loss was recognised in the 
Income Statement. 

(iii) Assets in the course of construction 
As stated in note 1l(iii) incomplete capital projects are included within other 
intangible assets. They are not amortised. Once the project is complete 
and transferred to software it will be amortised in accordance with 
note 1l(i). 

o Leases 
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease 
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. 
All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

(i) Finance leases 
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group 
at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to  
the lessor is included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation.  
Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction 
of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on  
the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged  
to the Income Statement. 

(ii) Operating leases 
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the Income 
Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. 
Benefits received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating 
lease are also spread on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

A provision is made for all unavoidable costs arising on an onerous 
contract, where such costs exceed the economic benefits expected to 
be generated over the remaining life. Any such value ascribed is disclosed 
within provisions for liabilities and charges. 

p Financial instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group’s balance 
sheet when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions  
of the instrument. There are no assets classified as at fair value through 
profit and loss. 

(i) Trade receivables and unbilled revenue  
Trade receivables and unbilled revenue including contract retentions are 
initially measured at fair value, do not carry any interest, and are reduced 
by appropriate impairment provisions for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

A provision for impairment of trade receivables and unbilled revenue is 
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be 
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the 
receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the customer, probability that 
the customer will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and default 
may be considered indicators that the trade receivable may be impaired. 
Delinquency of payments is an indicator that we consider when assessing 
whether the asset needs to be impaired.  

The amount of the impairment provision is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The carrying 
amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an impairment 
provisions account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the 
Income Statement within administrative expenses. When a trade 
receivable is uncollectable, it is written off against the impairment 
provisions account for trade receivables. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2010 continued 

1 Accounting policies continued 
p Financial instruments continued 
(ii) Cash and cash equivalents  
These comprise cash in hand and on demand deposits, and other  
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash 
and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

(iii) Trade payables 
Trade payables are not interest-bearing and are initially measured at  
their fair value. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

(iv) Assets held for sale 
Non-current assets held for sale are classified as held for sale if their 
carrying amounts will be recovered principally through a sale transaction, 
not through continuing use. 

(v) Borrowings 
Bank overdrafts and interest-bearing loans are initially measured at fair 
value and obligations under finance leases are dealt with in accordance 
with the Group’s policy on leases (note 1o). After initial recognition loans 
and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, taking 
into account issue costs. 

(vi) Equity instruments 
Equity instruments issued are recorded at the proceeds received,  
net of direct issue costs. 

(vii) Financial liabilities and equity 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according  
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.  

(viii) Derivative financial instruments 
The derivative instruments used by the Group, which are used solely  
for hedging purposes (ie to offset interest rate risks) comprise interest  
rate swaps. Such derivative instruments are used to alter the risk profile  
of an existing underlying exposure of the Group, in line with the Group’s 
risk management policies. 

The Group has designated these derivatives as cash flow hedges. 
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative that  
is designated and qualifies for hedge accounting is recognised as a 
separate component of equity. The ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in the Income Statement. Amounts accumulated in equity 
are recycled to the Income Statement in the period in which the hedged 
item affects profit and loss. 

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Group is required to 
document the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument. The Group is also required to document and demonstrate 
that the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging 
instrument will be highly effective. The effectiveness test is reperformed  
at each period end to ensure that the hedge remained and will continue 
to remain highly effective. 

q Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as  
a result of a past event, and it is probable that the Group will be required 
to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best 
estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the  
balance sheet date, and are discounted to present value where  
the effect is material. 

r Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale and discontinued operations 
are measured at the lower of the carrying amount and fair value less costs 
to sell. The assets are not depreciated. 

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale 
if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction 
rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as 
having been met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset 
(or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its present condition. 
The Directors must be committed to the sale, which should be expected 
to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the 
date of classification. 

s Segmental reporting 
Segment reporting requires a ‘management approach’ under which 
segment information is presented on the same basis as that used for 
internal reporting purposes. Operating segments are reported in a 
manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker has been 
identified as the Executive Directors. A geographical segment is engaged 
in providing services within a particular world location. 

The four operating segments used by management to review the 
business are defined at the front of this report. These segments form  
the basis for reporting the Group’s primary segment information as  
they are the main segments used for internal reporting purposes.  

t Investments in subsidiaries 
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. 

u Financial risk management 
The Group has a limited number of overseas operations, significant cash 
balances and a revolving credit facility which expose the Group to the 
effects of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, changes in  
interest rates and credit risk. The Group finance department manages 
these risks within a defined set of policies and procedures laid down  
by the Board. The Board has identified that the Group is exposed  
to foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk  
and price risk in varying degrees.  

The Group’s policy for managing these risks is set out in note 23.  

The Group hedges against interest rate risk on bank borrowings. 

v Research and development 
Expenditure on research is recognised as an expense in the period in 
which it is incurred. Development costs are expensed in the period in 
which the costs are incurred unless the criteria for capitalisation are met. 
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1 Accounting policies continued 
w Dividends 
Final dividends are recorded in the Group’s Consolidated Financial 
Statements in the period in which they are approved by the Group’s 
shareholders. Interim dividends are recognised when paid. 

x Exceptional items 
Material and non-recurring items of income and expense are disclosed  
in the Income Statement as exceptional items. Examples of items which 
may give rise to disclosure as exceptional items include gains or losses  
on the disposal of businesses, costs of restructuring and reorganisation  
of existing businesses, integration of newly acquired businesses, asset 
impairments and pension fund settlements and curtailments. 

Amortisation of acquired intangible assets is also treated as an 
exceptional item so that the underlying profit of the Group can be 
measured from year to year. Underlying operating profit is one of the key 
measures used by the Board to monitor the Group’s performance. 

y Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or 
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take  
a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,  
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets  
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period  
in which they are incurred. 

z Key accounting estimates 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies which are 
described above, management has made the following judgements 
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised  
in the financial statements:  

(i) Retirement benefit obligations 
The Group has retirement benefit obligations for which management have 
made judgements in arriving at their value. The key assumptions made 
and the sensitivity to these judgements are shown in note 33.  

(ii) Intangible assets  
As described in note 1l, the Group recognises certain intangible assets  
on acquisition. Judgements in respect of useful lives, discount rates and 
valuation methods affect the carrying value and amortisation charges  
in respect of these assets. These judgements are shown in note 12. 

(iii) Goodwill 
An annual impairment review of goodwill is undertaken in accordance 
with note 1n. The Group performs these reviews by estimating the future 
cash flows for the appropriate cash-generating units.  

(iv) Revenue recognition 
The Group’s revenue recognition policy is stated in note 1h. In some 
cases, judgement is required to determine the appropriate proportion  
of the value delivered on the contract and the extent to which fees will  
be recoverable.  

(v) Deferred tax and income taxes 
Management has estimated the likely value of deferred tax assets in 
respect of trading losses. There are many transactions and calculations 
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Group 
recognises liabilities and assets for anticipated tax audit issues based  
on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.  

(vi) Share-based payment estimates 
The Group’s accounting policy for share-based payments is stated  
in note 1j. The fair value of equity settled share-based payments  
is partly determined from estimates of factors such as lapse rates  
and achievement of performance conditions. 

aa New IFRS standards not applied  
(i) Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards 
that have been published as mandatory for later accounting periods 
but are not yet effective and have not been adopted early by the 
Group are: 

IFRS 2 (amendment), ‘Share-based payment; Group cash settled share-
based payment transactions’ – effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2010.  

The following IFRIC’s have been published but are not yet effective and 
are not expected to have an impact on the Group’s Financial Statements:  

IFRIC 18, ‘Transfers of assets from customers’, effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 31 October 2009. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2010 continued 

2 Segmental analysis  
Business segments 
The Group’s operations are organised and managed separately, according to the nature of services provided. A description of each of the primary 
segments can be found in the Business Review on pages 7 to 33. 

Analysis of results by business segment is as follows: 

Group 

2010 
Highways 

£000

Government
and Business

 Services  
£000

Management 
Consulting  

£000 

Regulated 
Industries 

£000

Total 
Group 
£000

Revenue 254,567 231,271 59,139 87,639 632,616
  
Underlying operating profit 19,422 15,021 3,847 2,894 41,184
Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges (7,268) (8,194) (3,648) (17,390) (36,500)
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations (2,132) (1,337) (2,823) (504) (6,796)
Segment operating profit/(loss) 10,022 5,490 (2,624) (15,000) (2,112)
Other Group exceptionals  (1,933)
Operating loss  (4,045)
Interest receivable  235
Finance costs  (10,918)
Loss before tax  (14,728)
Taxation  1,268
Loss for the year  (13,460)
  
Assets by segment  
Goodwill and other intangibles 34,740 61,159 56,191 17,723 169,813
Trade and other receivables 40,966 29,316 9,766 33,132 113,180
Other segment assets 6,706 25,403 1,906 5,915 39,930
Unallocated assets:  
– deferred tax assets  26,524
– cash  45,376
– other unallocated assets  4,864
Total assets   399,687
  
Liabilities by segment  
Trade payables – current (13,797) (21,091) (6,530) (6,196) (47,614)
Other segment liabilities (20,869) (38,681) (3,798) (33,479) (96,827)
Unallocated liabilities:  
– borrowings  (126,714)
– current tax liabilities  (12,253)
– deferred tax liabilities  (8,347)
– retirement benefit obligations  (53,061)
– financial instruments  (7,729)
– other unallocated liabilities  (3,162)
Total liabilities  (355,707)
Total net assets  43,980
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2 Segmental analysis continued 
Business segments continued 

Group 

2010 
Highways 

£000

Government 
and Business 

 Services  
£000 

Management 
Consulting  

£000 

Regulated 
Industries 

£000

Total 
Group 
£000

Other segment items   
Capital expenditure (intangible and tangible assets) 4,760 4,605 555 937 10,857
Depreciation charge 1,202 4,362 190 804 6,558
Amortisation of intangible assets – software and other acquired intangibles  371 4,045 347 103 4,866
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations 2,132 1,337 2,823 504 6,796

The financing of the Group’s activities is undertaken centrally and consequently net financing costs cannot be analysed segmentally. The unallocated net 
assets principally comprise items relating to the captive insurance company and the parent company. All operations in 2010 and 2009 are continuing. 

Group 

2009 
Highways 

£000

 Government 
and Business 

Services  
£000 

Management 
Consulting  

£000 

Regulated 
Industries 

£000

Total 
Group 
£000

Revenue 255,824 224,981 78,820 180,925 740,550
 
Underlying operating profit  19,824 12,244 2,301 12,956 47,325
Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges – – (4,740) (28,134) (32,874)
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations (2,163) (1,354) (3,332) (512) (7,361)
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets arising on business combinations – – – (17,141) (17,141)
Segment operating profit/(loss) 17,661 10,890 (5,771) (32,831) (10,051)
Net gain on disposal of freehold property 3,814
Operating loss (6,237)
Interest receivable 1,565
Finance costs (8,834)
Loss before tax (13,506)
Taxation 515
Loss for the year (12,991)
 
Assets by segment 
Goodwill and other intangibles 33,542 60,301 56,604 19,808 170,255
Trade and other receivables 46,166 33,263 18,277 64,254 161,960
Other segment assets 3,045 31,183 4,772 6,528 45,528
Unallocated assets:   
– deferred tax assets 28,739
– cash 52,426
– other unallocated assets 314
Total assets  459,222
 
Liabilities by segment 
Trade payables – current (13,289) (28,701) (8,847) (7,997) (58,834)
Other segment liabilities (9,956) (37,205) (9,280) (35,117) (91,558)
Unallocated liabilities: 
– borrowings (150,906)
– current tax liabilities (8,909)
– deferred tax liabilities (12,325)
– retirement benefit obligations (60,287)
– financial instruments  (4,362)
– other unallocated liabilities (4,830)
Total liabilities (392,011)
Total net assets 67,211
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for the year ended 31 July 2010 continued 

2 Segmental analysis continued 
Business segments continued 

Group 

2009 
Highways 

£000

Government 
and 

Business 
Services  

£000 

Management 
Consulting  

£000 

Regulated 
Industries 

£000

Total 
Group 
£000

Other segment items   
Capital expenditure (intangible and tangible assets) 7,137 12,953 176 5,031 25,297
Depreciation charge 2,215 4,236 239 1,716 8,406
Amortisation of intangible assets – software and other acquired intangibles  541 3,110 193 387 4,231
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations 2,163 1,354 3,332 512 7,361
 
Geographical analysis 
The table below represents revenue by geographical origin (the analysis by geographical destination is not materially different to that by origin) and the 
carrying amount of net assets and capital expenditure by the location of those assets. 

Group 
Revenue Segment net assets Capital expenditure

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

2010 
£000

2009  
£000 

2010 
£000

2009 
£000

United Kingdom 612,055 667,466 53,899 50,140 10,844 24,633
Middle East 19,192 68,648 (9,250) 15,104 13 654
Ireland and other overseas 1,369 4,436 (669) 1,967 – 10
 632,616 740,550 43,980 67,211 10,857 25,297
 
Company 
The Company’s business is to invest in its subsidiaries and therefore it operates in a single segment. 

3 Exceptional items  
 Group 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges in the Middle East1 (15,164) (21,008)
Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges in Management Consulting2, 4 (3,648) (4,740)
Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges in Rail3 – (24,267)
Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges in Government and Business Services4 (8,194) –
Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges in Highways4 (7,268) –
Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges in Regulated Industries4 (2,226) –
Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges in Group4 (1,266) –
Bid defence costs7 (667) –
Profit on sale of freehold property5 – 3,814
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations6 (6,796) (7,361)
Total exceptional items (45,229) (53,562)

Management use underlying profit to measure and manage the financial performance of the Group on a day-to-day basis. Underlying profit excludes 
material income and charges considered to be one-off or non-recurring in nature. Underlying profit also excludes the amortisation of intangible assets 
arising from business combinations. The Group presents these items as exceptional in a separate column in the Income Statement so that the 
underlying and statutory performance can be seen clearly. 
1 The economic slowdown in Dubai has resulted in the decision to close our Dubai operations following our significant presence reduction in 2009. As a result, the Group incurred 

restructuring charges of £5.2m (2009: £6.0m) mainly in respect of redundancies and surplus property provisions. The Group also recorded asset impairment charges in the period  
of £10.0m (2009: £15.0m) to reduce the value of contract receivables to the amounts the Group believes it should be able to collect.  

2 Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges were incurred in the second half of 2009 to better align demand and supply for the Group’s management consulting services  
with the current environment. 

3 During 2009 the Group decided to substantially withdraw from the rail sector. The Group incurred restructuring charges of £7.2m, mainly in respect of redundancies and surplus 
property provisions, and has impaired in full the intangible assets (mainly goodwill and customer relationships) associated with the Rail business of £17.1m.  

4 Restructuring costs and asset impairment charges were incurred in 2010, ensuring that we have the right organisational structure, staffing levels and office portfolio going forward.  
5 The Group completed the sale of its freehold property in March 2009 and relocated staff and equipment prior to completion to new leasehold premises in Woking. The sale proceeds  

of £9.5m exceeded the carrying value of the property and the associated disposal costs. 
6 The Group does not consider the amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations to be part of the underlying business performance and therefore treats them  

as exceptional costs.  
7 Costs incurred as a result of the VT Group plc’s unsolicited approach for Mouchel in December 2009.  
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3 Exceptional items continued 
The tax effect of the exceptional items is a credit of £10,552,000 (2009: £10,916,000) in the Income Statement. This credit, which is at a lower rate 
than the standard rate of corporation tax, reflects in 2010, a prudent assessment in respect of the creation of deferred tax assets on carried forward 
losses. In 2009 the lower rate reflected disallowed costs principally relating to the Rail intangible assets impairment charge and the effect of capital gains 
tax on the disposal of the freehold property. 

4 Operating profit – analysis of costs by nature 
 Group 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Staff costs – excluding exceptional staff costs (note 6) 329,650 366,963
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 6,558 8,406
Amortisation of software and other acquired intangibles  4,866 4,231
Amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations (note 3) 6,796 7,361
Restructuring costs and fixed asset impairment charges (note 3) 27,766 17,874
Exceptional costs – bid defence costs (note 3) 667 –
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets arising on business combinations (note 3) – 17,141
Net profit on disposal of freehold property (note 3) – (3,814)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 25 –
Other operating lease rentals payable 16,785 17,911
Trade receivables and unbilled revenue impairment 14,148 20,308
Profit on foreign exchange (181) (328)
 
Auditor’s remuneration 
Services provided by the Group’s Auditors and its network firms were as follows: 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Audit services 
Fees payable to the Company’s Auditor for the statutory audit of the Company’s and Group’s 
 consolidated annual financial statements1 452 452
 
Non-audit fees 
Fees payable to the Company’s Auditor and its associates for the statutory audits of the Company’s 
 associates and for other services: 
– the auditing of financial statements of the Company’s associates pursuant to legislation  75 75
– other services relating to taxation  76 146
– actuarial services 52 128
– all other services 2 532 20
 1,187 821 
1 The fees payable in respect of the statutory audit of the Company were £20,000 (2009: £20,000). 
2 Fees payable in respect of the post implementation review of the Group’s corporate information system, debt restructuring and corporate structure planning. 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2010 continued 

5 Finance income/(costs) 
 Group 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Interest income 235 919
Net interest receivable on retirement benefit obligations (note 33) – 646
Interest receivable  235 1,565
Interest expense: 
– interest payable on bank facilities (100) (209)
– interest payable on finance leases (24) (50)
– interest payable on other loans (105) (193)
– interest payable on revolving credit facility (5,500) (7,067)
– amounts payable on interest rate hedges (note 21) (3,949) (932)
– interest payable on bonds (274) (394)
- net interest payable on retirement benefit obligations (note 33) (140) –
Amortisation of loan issue costs (1,071) (434)
Less interest capitalised on intangible assets 245 445
Finance costs (10,918) (8,834)
Net finance costs (10,683) (7,269)

6 Employees and Directors 
Staff costs during the year were as follows: 

 Group 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Wages and salaries 309,312 326,599
Social security costs 23,347 25,635
Other pension costs (note 33) 15,959 17,804
Share-based payments (note 29) (204) 1,043
 348,414 371,081

Staff costs include £18,764,000 (2009: £4,118,000) relating to exceptional staff costs.  

Staff costs include temporary staff. 

The number of people (including Executive Directors and temporary staff) employed at the year-end was as follows: 

Group 

2010 
Highways 

No.

Government 
and Business 

Services 
No.

Management 
Consulting 

No. 

Regulated 
Industries  

No. 

Group 
Functions 

No.
Total 
No.

Total staff 3,781 4,101 420 1,681 227 10,210
 

Group 

2009 
Highways 

No.

Government
and Business 

Services 
No.

Management 
Consulting 

No. 

Regulated 
Industries  

No. 

Group 
Functions 

No.
Total 
No.

Total staff 3,997 4,322 419 2,172 211 11,121
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6 Employees and Directors continued 
The average number of people (including Executive Directors and temporary staff) employed during the year was as follows: 

Group 

2010 
Highways 

No.

Government 
and Business 

Services 
No.

Management 
Consulting 

No. 

Regulated 
Industries  

No. 

Group 
Functions 

No.
Total 
No.

Total staff 3,987 4,201 448 1,888 233 10,757
 

Group 

2009 
Highways 

No.

Government 
and Business 

Services 
No.

Management 
Consulting 

No. 

Regulated 
Industries  

No. 

Group 
Functions 

No.
Total 
No.

Total staff 3,992 4,333 430 2,621 216 11,592 
 

 Group  Company 

Key management compensation 
2010  
£000 

2009  
£000  

2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 2,203 2,190  1,124 1,189
Post-employment benefits  179 120  57 28
Share-based payments – –  – –

Key management comprises Executive and Non-Executive Directors and members of the Group Management Board. There were no other 
transactions with key management personnel during the year ended 31 July 2010 (2009: £nil). 

More detailed information on the emoluments, pensions, option holdings and shareholdings for each Director is shown in the Remuneration Report  
on pages 52 to 58. 
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for the year ended 31 July 2010 continued 

7 Taxation 
a Analysis of tax charge for the year 

 Group 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Corporation tax charge for the year (398) (1,414)
Over provision of tax in prior years 110 1,125
Current tax charge (288) (289)
 
Deferred tax credit for the year 1,556 1,895
Deferred tax – under provision of tax in prior years – (1,091)
Total deferred tax credit 1,556 804
Tax credit for the year 1,268 515
 
b Factors affecting the tax charge for the year 
The tax charge for each year is different to the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 28% (2009: 28%). The differences are explained below: 

 Group 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Loss before tax (14,728) (13,506)
Loss multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 28% (2009: 28%) 4,124 3,782
Effects of: 
– permanent differences (946) (3,007)
– change in future tax rate (816) –
– research and development 871 112
– adjustment in respect of prior years 110 34
– losses utilised, previously unrecognised 508 (406)
– unrecognised losses (2,583) –
Tax credit for the year  1,268 515

c Tax on items charged to equity 
The income credited directly to equity during the year is as follows: 

 Group 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Movement in pension scheme valuations 186 7,203
Adjustments to estimated recoverable deferred tax assets – (359)
Deferred tax on items credited to equity 186 6,844
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7 Taxation continued 
d Net movement in deferred tax 

 Group 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Movement in pension scheme valuations 186 7,203
Adjustments to estimated recoverable deferred tax assets – (359)
Deferred tax on items credited to equity 186 6,844
Deferred tax on items credited to the Income Statement 1,556 804
Total deferred tax credit 1,742 7,648

Unrecognised deferred tax assets in relation to trading losses total £19,438,000 (2009: £17,000,000). In addition there are unrecognised deferred tax 
assets in respect of non-trading losses of £3,648,000 (2009: £3,260,000). 

Deferred tax assets have been recognised as the Directors believe that there will be sufficient future profits for the asset to be recovered. 

A number of changes to the UK Corporation tax system were announced in the June 2010 Budget Statement. The Finance (No 2) Act 2010,  
which was substantively enacted on 20 July 2010, includes legislation reducing the main rate of corporation tax from 28% to 27% from 1 April 2011. 
The effect of this change was to reduce the net deferred tax asset provided at 31 July 2010 by £757,000, with a corresponding decrease in profit  
for the year but with no effect on other comprehensive income.  

Proposed reductions to the main rate of corporation tax by 1% per annum to 24% by 1 April 2014 are expected to be enacted separately each year. 
As these had not been enacted at the balance sheet date they have not been included in these financial statements. The overall effect of the further 
proposed changes from 27% to 24%, if these applied to the net deferred tax balance at 31 July 2010, would be to reduce the net deferred tax asset 
by approximately £2,019,000 (being £673,000 recognised in 2012, £673,000 recognised in 2013 and £673,000 recognised in 2014).  

8 Profit of the Parent Company 
The Group Income Statement consolidates the Income Statement of the Parent Company and subsidiary undertakings. As permitted by section 408  
of the Companies Act 2006, the Income Statement and the Statement of Comprehensive Income of the Parent Company are not presented as part  
of these financial statements.  

The Parent Company’s result for the financial year amounted to a loss of £51,534,000 (2009: profit of £7,097,000) after impairment provisions  
of £75,192,000 (2009: £nil).  

9 Dividends 
 Group and Company 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Final paid in respect of the previous year 3.85p (2009: 4.25p) 4,326 4,774
Interim paid in respect of the current year 2.25p (2009: 2.25p) 2,528 2,528
Less: dividend waived by employee share ownership trusts (84) (118)
Total dividends paid 6,770 7,184
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10 (Loss)/earnings per share 
 Group 
 2010 2009

Basic and diluted loss per share (12.1)p (11.7)p
Adjusted earnings per share 18.9p 26.4p
  

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Loss for the year (13,460) (12,991)
Loss for basic and diluted earnings per share (13,460) (12,991)
Adjustments:  
– other exceptional costs (net of taxation) 29,716 20,205
– impairment of goodwill and intangible assets arising on business combinations  – 17,141
– amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations (net of taxation) 4,961 5,300
Earnings for adjusted earnings per share 21,217 29,655
  

  
2010 
000s

2009 
000s

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 111,400 111,156
Dilutive share options – –
Dilutive Save As You Earn schemes – –
Diluted weighted average number of ordinary shares 111,400 111,156
 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 111,400 111,156
Average number of shares held by the employee share trusts 1,361 1,709
Share options matured in respect of executive share option schemes (392) (520)
Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares 112,369 112,345

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of shares 
during the year. 

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue on the assumption of conversion 
of all dilutive share options in issue and shares under Save As You Earn schemes. The share price used to calculate diluted earnings per share is based 
on a weighted average price of 196.31p (31 July 2009: 296.47p). Potential ordinary shares are not treated as dilutive when their conversion would 
increase earnings per share or decrease loss per share from continuing operations. As the Group reported a loss for the year the effects of 13,000  
anti-dilutive share options were ignored when calculating earnings per share for 2010. 

Adjusted earnings per share is calculated after adding back shares held by the employee share trusts to the weighted average number of shares. 
Earnings are adjusted to exclude exceptional items (net of taxation). The Directors believe that this additional measure provides a better indicator  
of the underlying trends in the business.  
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11 Goodwill 

2010 
Group 
£000

Cost 
At 1 August 2009 and 31 July 2010 121,944
Impairment 
At 1 August 2009 and 31 July 2010 12,227
Net book value 
At 31 July 2010 109,717
 

2009 
Group 
£000

Cost 
At 1 August 2008 118,121
Adjustment to fair values (note 34) 998
Transferred from other intangible assets 2,825
At 31 July 2009 121,944
Impairment 
At 1 August 2008 –
Impairment in year 12,227
At 31 July 2009 12,227
Net book value 
At 31 July 2009 109,717

Adjustment was made to the value of goodwill associated with the purchase of Hedra plc following a review of the value of net assets acquired.  

Goodwill created upon the acquisition of ServiGroup plc was impaired in 2009 following the decision to substantially exit the rail sector. 

Impairment tests for goodwill 
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) identified according to the business segment. 

A segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below: 

 2010 2009 

 
Highways  

£000 

Government 
and Business 

Services  
£000 

Management 
Consulting

£000

Regulated 
Industries 

£000
Total 
£000

Highways 
£000

Government 
and Business 

Services  
£000 

Management 
Consulting 

£000 

Regulated 
Industries 

£000
Total 
£000

United Kingdom 17,905 40,287 40,431 11,094 109,717 17,905 40,287 40,431 11,094 109,717

The recoverable amount of goodwill for each CGU has been based on value-in-use as represented by the net present value of future cash flows.  
Cash flows are projected forwards for four years based on the latest one-year board approved budget extrapolated for three future years, assumed 
operating margins, by a growth rate applicable to each unit; an appropriate terminal value based on a perpetuity calculation using long-term average 
growth rates is then added. They are then discounted using a pre-tax discount rate based on the Group’s nominal weighted average cost of capital  
of 6.87% per annum which has been applied consistently across each CGU based on their similar risk profiles. 

As at 31 July 2010, based on these internal valuations, the recoverable value of goodwill required no impairment. 

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are as follows: 

Highways  
% 

Government 
and Business 

Services  
% 

Management 
Consulting

%

Regulated 
Industries 

%

Growth rate for the first three years 5–10 5–10 5 5–10
Long-term average growth rate  2.3 2.3 2.3 2.3
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12 Other intangible assets 
Group 

2010 

Assets in the 
course of 

construction 
£000

Customer 
relationships 

£000

Other 
acquired 

intangibles 
£000

Software  
£000 

Other 
intangibles 

£000
Total 
£000

Cost  
At 1 August 2009 13,661 47,614 1,034 18,663 4,200 85,172
Additions 7,154 – 258 1,362 – 8,774
Disposals – – – (99) – (99)
Transferred from fixed assets 2,534 – – 11 – 2,545
Transferred to software (21,912) – – 21,912 – –
At 31 July 2010 1,437 47,614 1,292 41,849 4,200 96,392
Accumulated amortisation   
At 1 August 2009 – 11,510 293 10,035 2,796 24,634
Charge for the year – 5,995 261 4,605 801 11,662
Disposals – – – (58) – (58)
Transfers – – – 58 – 58
At 31 July 2010 – 17,505 554 14,640 3,597 36,296
Net book value  
At 31 July 2010 1,437 30,109 738 27,209 603 60,096
 

Group 

2009 

Assets in the 
course of 

construction 
£000

Customer 
relationships 

£000

Other 
acquired 

intangibles 
£000

Software  
£000 

Other 
intangibles 

£000
Total 
£000

Cost  
At 1 August 2008 4,900 56,655 4,063 17,260 4,360 87,238
Additions 9,807 – – 537 – 10,344
Disposals – – – (180) – (180)
Impairment – (9,245) – – (160) (9,405)
Transferred to goodwill – – (2,825) – – (2,825)
Transferred to customer relationships – 204 (204) – – –
Transferred to software (1,046) – – 1,046 – –
At 31 July 2009 13,661 47,614 1,034 18,663 4,200 85,172
Accumulated amortisation   
At 1 August 2008 – 8,089 100 6,175 1,386 15,750
Charge for the year – 5,951 193 4,038 1,410 11,592
Disposals – – – (178) – (178)
Impairment – (2,530) – – – (2,530)
At 31 July 2009 – 11,510 293 10,035 2,796 24,634
Net book value  
At 31 July 2009 13,661 36,104 741 8,628 1,404 60,538

Assets in the course of construction are not amortised, in accordance with note 1l of the financial statements. They include costs associated with 
replacing the Group’s management reporting systems. 

Customer relationships brought forward have a useful life of between five and 13 years. The approximate remaining lives of these relationships are 
between three and seven years. The values of these relationships were arrived at by discounting attributable future cash flows. A discount rate of 
between 10% and 13% was used as appropriate, based on the weighted average cost of capital of the acquired entity. A customer attrition rate  
of between 7% and 15% was assumed. 

Software costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of between three and eight years. All amortisation charges in the year have been charged 
through administrative expenses. Additions relating to the Group’s corporate information systems include £245,000 of interest capitalised at an average 
borrowing rate of 4% (2009: £445,000). 
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12 Other intangible assets continued 
Other intangibles comprise non-compete agreements, specialist software acquired and a licence for the Contractors Assurance Case (CAC) which 
enables us to work on UK railways. The software was valued on a replacement cost basis and is amortised over five years. The values of the non-
compete agreements were calculated using discounted cash flows on two base cases; one assuming employees did compete and comparing that 
with the values obtained if employees did not compete. Their useful lives are between two and three years; the same time span as the non-compete 
agreement is enforceable for. The CAC was originally valued on a replacement case basis.  

Assets in the course of construction and software are internally generated. 

Intangible assets created upon the acquisition of ServiGroup plc were impaired following the Group’s decision to substantially exit the rail sector. 

13 Property, plant and equipment 
Group 

2010 

Leasehold  
improvements  

£000 

Plant and 
office 

equipment  
£000 

Vehicles 
£000

Total 
£000

Cost    
At 1 August 2009 5,052 51,026 92 56,170
Foreign exchange translation difference (2) 169 4 171
 5,050 51,195 96 56,341
Additions 184 1,727 172 2,083
Disposals1 (1,214) (3,874) (62) (5,150)
Transfers to other intangible assets  (217) (2,449) 121 (2,545)
At 31 July 2010 3,803 46,599 327 50,729
Accumulated depreciation   
At 1 August 2009 2,844 28,501 56 31,401
Foreign exchange translation difference (1) 79 (2) 80
 2,843 28,580 54 31,481
Disposals1 (1,115) (2,984) (62) (4,165)
Charge for the year 660 5,745 153 6,558
Transfers to other intangible assets  (39) (19) – (58)
At 31 July 2010  2,349 31,322 145 33,816
Net book value   
At 31 July 2010 1,454 15,277 182 16,913
At 31 July 2009 2,208 22,525 36 24,769

The net book value of assets held under finance leases was £122,000 (2009: £270,000). Depreciation in the year on those assets was £148,000 
(2009: £187,000). All assets held under finance leases are categorised as plant and office equipment.  
1 Items with a gross value of £2,375,000 and a £nil net book value were written off during 2010. 
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13 Property, plant and equipment continued 
Group 

2009 

Leasehold 
improvements 

£000

Plant and 
office 

equipment  
£000 

Vehicles 
£000

Total 
£000

Cost   
At 1 August 2008 4,734 39,282 138 44,154
Foreign exchange translation difference 4 251 9 264
 4,738 39,533 147 44,418
Additions  701 14,239 13 14,953
Disposals (387) (2,746) (68) (3,201)
At 31 July 2009 5,052 51,026 92 56,170
Accumulated depreciation  
At 1 August 2008 2,439 23,546 75 26,060
Foreign exchange translation difference – 65 2 67
 2,439 23,611 77 26,127
Disposals  (387) (2,677) (68) (3,132)
Charge for the year  792 7,567 47 8,406
At 31 July 2009  2,844 28,501 56 31,401
Net book value  
At 31 July 2009 2,208 22,525 36 24,769
At 31 July 2008 2,295 15,736 63 18,094

14 Investments in subsidiaries 
Shares in subsidiary undertakings 

2010 
Company 

£000

Cost 
At 1 August 2009 323,824
Additions 9,470
Capital contributions 286
At 31 July 2010 333,580
Impairment 
At 1 August 2009 –
Impairment in year 75,192
At 31 July 2010 75,192
Net book value 
At 31 July 2010 258,388
 

2009 
Company 

£000

Cost and net book value  
At 1 August 2008 322,736
Additions 200
Capital contributions 888
At 31 July 2009 323,824

During the year the Company subscribed for 1,050,000 (2009: 200,000) additional £1 ordinary shares in its subsidiary Mouchel Insurance Limited, 
together with an increased investment of £8,419,836 in Mouchel Finance and Treasury Holdings Limited. 

As a result of the annual impairment review the Company impaired its investment in Mouchel Finance and Treasury Holdings Limited by £75,000,000 
in the year and Mouchel International Limited by £192,000. 

Capital contributions were made to trading subsidiaries in respect of share-based payments granted to employees of those subsidiaries. 
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14 Investments in subsidiaries continued 
Subsidiaries 
The principal subsidiaries in which the Company had an interest at 31 July 2010, their country of incorporation and registration as well as ownership of 
their ordinary share capital, are listed below: 

Company 

Group 
proportion of 

shares held (%) 
Country of registration/

incorporation

Mouchel Limited1  100 England and Wales
Mouchel Rail Limited1  100 England and Wales
Mouchel Traffic Support Limited1  100 England and Wales
Mouchel Ewan Limited1  100 England and Wales
Mouchel Holdings Limited1,3 100 England and Wales
Parkman Consultants Limited1  100 England and Wales
Mouchel Finance and Treasury Holdings Limited  100 England and Wales
Mouchel Finance Limited1  100 England and Wales
Mouchel Dormant Holdings Limited  100 England and Wales
Mouchel Ireland Limited1  100 Republic of Ireland
Mouchel Insurance Limited  100 Guernsey
Mouchel International (Jersey) Limited1  100 Jersey
Mouchel International Limited  100 Hong Kong
Mouchel Business Services Limited1  100 England and Wales
Mouchel Management Consulting Limited1  100 England and Wales
MPHBS Limited2  100 England and Wales
1 Held indirectly. 
2  Joint venture entity between Mouchel Holdings Limited and Mouchel Business Services Limited (MBS). On 6 August 2007, Mouchel Holdings Limited acquired MBS (formerly HBS 

Business Services Group Limited), thereby gaining 100% control of the joint venture. 
3  15.8% held directly.  
 
All companies have a 31 July year-end.  

All the trading subsidiaries have the same principal activity as the Group except for Mouchel Holdings Limited and Mouchel Dormant Holdings Limited 
which are holding companies, Mouchel Finance and Treasury Holdings Limited and Mouchel Finance Limited which are internal financing companies 
and Mouchel Insurance Limited which is a captive insurance company.  

All subsidiaries are included within the consolidated results of the Group. 

Joint ventures 
The Group has interests in the following joint ventures: 

Incorporated joint ventures: 

Name 
Country of registration/ 

incorporation 
Equity proportion of joint 

interest held % Voting rights 

2020 Liverpool Limited England and Wales 80.1 50
2020 Knowsley Limited England and Wales 64.2 25
EnterpriseMouchel Limited England and Wales 50 50
Hackney Schools for the Future Limited England and Wales 40 40
Mouchel Babcock Education Services Limited England and Wales 50 50
Mouchel Babcock Education Investments Limited England and Wales 50 50
Mouchel South Africa (PTY) Limited South Africa 49 49
The Impact Partnership Limited (Rochdale Borough) Limited England and Wales 80.1 50
The Unity Partnership Limited England and Wales 67 67

 

Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2010 85



Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2010 continued 

14 Investments in subsidiaries continued 
Unincorporated joint ventures: 

Name 
Country of 
operation 

Proportion of
 joint interest 

held % Voting rights 

Scotland Transerv Great Britain 30 50
Mouchel Fairhurst Great Britain 50 50
Rail Structures Midlands Great Britain 50 50
Southern Assessment Contract Great Britain 40 33
Westminster TranServ Great Britain 20 50
KMI+ Great Britain 7.5 25
Amey Mouchel Great Britain 25 50
Children First Great Britain 70 50
PeekMouchel Great Britain 50 50
WHIMS Great Britain 60 60

All of these arrangements are accounted for in accordance with the policy detailed in note 1e. 2020 Liverpool Limited, 2020 Knowsley Limited,  
The Impact Partnership (Rochdale Borough) Limited and MPHBS Limited have a 31 March year-end. Mouchel Babcock Education Services Limited 
has a 31 May year-end and Mouchel Babcock Education Investments Limited has a 31 December year-end. Hackney Schools for the Future Limited 
has a 31 October year-end. Where joint venture entities do not have a 31 July year-end, unaudited accounts for the period from 1 August to 31 July 
are used for consolidation purposes. 

In relation to the Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities, the assets, liabilities, income and expenses recognised are shown below:  

 Group 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Non-current assets 4,152 3,920
Current assets 39,534 43,172
Current liabilities (35,822) (42,589)
Non-current liabilities (663) –
Net assets 7,201 4,503
 
Revenue 163,636 142,683
Expenses (160,902) (139,000)
Profit before tax 2,734 3,683
Taxation (766) (980)
Share of post-taxation results from jointly controlled entities 1,968 2,703

15 Capital commitments 
Group 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Contracts placed for future capital expenditure 1,100 2,123

Company 
The Company was not committed to any material capital expenditure as at 31 July 2010 or 31 July 2009. 
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16 Deferred tax 
Group 

2010 

Employee 
benefits 

£000

Share-based 
payments 

£000

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances 
£000 

Retirement 
benefit 

obligations 
£000 

Losses and 
provisions 

£000
Total 
£000

Deferred tax assets   
At 1 August 2009 699 3,559 – 16,488 7,993 28,739
Effect of reduction in future tax rate to 27% (25) (298) – (589) (285) (1,197)
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances – – 6,742 – – 6,742
Actuarial loss on pension scheme valuations – – – 186 – 186
Timing differences on exceptional items – – – – 908 908
Special contributions to retirement benefit schemes – – – (2,584) – (2,584)
Share-based payments – (222) – – – (222)
Losses utilised in year – – – – (6,360) (6,360)
Losses carried forward – – – – 291 291
Foreign exchange movement – – – – 21 21
Reclassification – (637) (107) 1,288 (544) –
At 31 July 2010  674 2,402 6,635 14,789 2,024 26,524
 

Group 

Intangible 
assets 
£000

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances 
£000 

ESOP  
£000 

Freehold 
property 

£000
Total 
£000

Deferred tax liabilities    
At 1 August 2009 (10,447) (1,148) (112) (618) (12,325)
Effect of reduction in future tax rate to 27% 373 41 4 22 440
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,835 – – – 1,835
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances – 1,107 – – 1,107
Unwind of deferred tax liability – – – 596 596
At 31 July 2010 (8,239) – (108) – (8,347)
 

Group 

2009 

Employee 
benefits 

£000

Share-based 
payments 

£000

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances 
£000 

Retirement 
benefit 

obligations 
£000 

Losses and 
provisions 

£000
Total 
£000

Deferred tax assets   
At 1 August 2008 699 4,158 294 11,137 5,638 21,926
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation – – (294) – – (294)
Actuarial loss on pension scheme valuations – – – 7,203 – 7,203
Sale of freehold property – – – – (982) (982)
Special contributions to retirement benefit schemes – – – (1,852) – (1,852)
Share-based payments – (599) – – – (599)
Losses carried forward – – – – 3,337 3,337
At 31 July 2009  699 3,559 – 16,488 7,993 28,739
 

Group 

Intangible 
assets 
£000

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances 
£000 

ESOP  
£000 

Freehold 
property £000

Total 
£000

Deferred tax liabilities    
At 1 August 2008 (14,469) – (112) (541) (15,122)
Impairment of intangible assets acquired 1,961 – – – 1,961
Amortisation of intangible assets 2,061 – – – 2,061
Capital allowances in excess of depreciation – (1,148) – – (1,148)
Sale of freehold property – – – (77) (77)
At 31 July 2009 (10,447) (1,148) (112) (618) (12,325)
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16 Deferred tax continued 

Company 

2010 

Share-based 
payments 

£000 

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances 
£000

Total 
£000

Deferred tax assets  
At 1 August 2009 47 67 114
Effect of reduction in future tax rate to 27% (2) (2) (4)
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances – (65) (65)
Share-based payments (45) – (45)
At 31 July 2010  – – –
 

 

Freehold 
property

£000
Total 
£000

Deferred tax liabilities  
At 1 August 2009 (618) (618)
Effect of reduction in future tax rate to 27% 22 22
Unwind of deferred tax liability 596 596
At 31 July 2010 – –

Unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities are disclosed in note 7d. 

Management estimate that £7,600,000 of the Group’s deferred tax asset and £2,144,000 of the Group’s deferred tax liability will unwind within  
one year with the remainder unwinding in more than one year.  

Company 

2009 

Share-based 
payments 

£000 

Accelerated 
capital 

allowances 
£000

Total 
£000

Deferred tax assets  
At 1 August 2008 145 38 183
Depreciation in excess of capital allowances – 29 29
Share-based payments (98) – (98)
At 31 July 2009  47 67 114
 

 

Freehold 
property

£000
Total 
£000

Deferred tax liabilities  
At 1 August 2008 (541) (541)
Sale of freehold property (77) (77)
At 31 July 2009 (618) (618)
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17 Trade and other receivables 
Group  Company 

Gross 
2010 
£000

Impairment 
provision 

2010 
£000

Net  
2010  
£000 

Net  
2009  
£000  

Net 
2010 
£000

Net 
2009 
£000

Trade receivables 74,361 (8,028) 66,333 96,576  – –
Unbilled revenue 76,177 (25,982) 50,195 64,011  – –
Amounts owed by Group undertakings – – – –  58,155 41,299
Other receivables 8,539 – 8,539 5,987  – –
Prepayments and accrued income 15,994 – 15,994 16,459  – –
 175,071 (34,010) 141,061 183,033  58,155 41,299

The 2009 trade receivables and unbilled revenue are stated after provisions for impairment of £2,566,000 and £17,474,000 respectively.  

The Company receivables had £nil provisions for impairment in both the current and prior years. 

As at 31 July 2010, trade receivables of £32,546,000 (2009: £42,424,000) were past due but not impaired. The ageing analysis of these trade 
receivables is as follows: 

 Group 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Up to three months 10,199 22,327
Over three months 22,347 20,097
 32,546 42,424

Included within trade receivables is £205,000 which is due after more than one year (2009: £391,000). 

As at 31 July 2010 trade receivables and unbilled revenue of £34,010,000 (2009: £20,040,000) have been impaired so as to reduce the value of 
contract receivables to the amounts the Group believes it should be able to collect. This includes the impairment charge of £10.0m (2009: £15.0m) 
made against receivables in Dubai, as explained in note 3, plus an increase of £1.2m resulting from foreign exchange retranslation. The ageing of these 
receivables is as follows: 

 Group 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Up to three months – –
Over three months 34,010 20,040
 34,010 20,040

Movements on the Group provision for impairment of trade receivables and unbilled revenue are as follows: 

 Group 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

At 1 August 20,040 2,635
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable (1,360) (2,903)
Provision released during the year (602) –
New impairment provisions made 14,750 20,308
Foreign exchange retranslation difference 1,182 –
At 31 July 34,010 20,040

No amounts of collateral are held as security. 

The creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have been included in administrative expenses in the Income Statement. 
Amounts charged to the provisions account are generally written off when there is no expectation of cash recovery. 

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets. 

18 Assets held for sale 
In 2008 the Group agreed to sell the freehold property and completion took place in March 2009. The sale proceeds of £9.5m exceeded the carrying 
value. The net gain has been included within 2009’s exceptional items detailed in note 3. 
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19 Bank overdrafts 
The Group has an unsecured overdraft facility of up to £5.0m, and overseas facilities of AED 1.5m. Within the Group’s joint ventures there is also an 
unsecured overdraft facility of £0.5m. 

20 Trade and other payables – current 
Group  Company 

2010 
£000

2009  
£000  

2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Trade payables 47,614 58,834  – –
Amounts owed to Group undertakings – –  7,142 4,682
Other tax and social security payable 14,819 13,648  – –
Finance lease liability 127 153  
Other payables 8,916 5,179  – –
Accruals and deferred income 46,987 50,695  – 40
 118,463 128,509  7,142 4,722

Within trade payables is £13,539,000 relating to customer advances (2009: £17,884,000). 

21 Borrowings 
The Group had unsecured revolving credit facilities of £190.0m at 31 July 2009, with a group of core relationship banks, which reduced by £10.0m in 
March 2010. Of the remaining £180.0m, £115.0m is in the form of revolving credit facilities which reduce by £10.0m in March 2011 and 2012, with the 
remaining balances of £30.0m expiring on 1 August 2012, and £65.0m expiring on 31 October 2012. The balance of £65.0m is in the form of a term 
loan which also falls due for repayment on 31 October 2012.  

As at 31 July 2010 amounts totalling £128.7m had been drawn down. Also drawn against the facility are bonds and guarantees, as detailed in note 34, 
of £21.5m, leaving £29.8m of the facility undrawn. Interest is charged at LIBOR plus a margin. The margin ranges from 0.65% to 3.65% adjusted 
according to the ratio of net borrowings to earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation.  

In addition, there are two secured loans totalling £0.8m at 31 July 2010 which are repayable in instalments until October 2011. Interest is charged  
at 6.84% on the first loan and 7.44% on the second loan, per annum.  

Loans are repayable as follows: 

 Group 

 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Obligations due within one year 736 2,153
Obligations due within one and two years 103 10,839
Obligations due within two and five years 128,740 142,758
Total loans due 129,579 155,750
Loan issue costs incurred (4,540) (3,437)
Amortisation of loan issue costs 1,675 604
Net borrowings 126,714 152,917

Loan issue costs of £4,540,000 (2009: £3,437,000) have been capitalised and are being amortised over the life of the loan. The unamortised amount 
at 31 July 2010 was £2,865,000 (2009: £2,833,000). 

The Group has complied with its banking facility covenants during the year. The Group’s refinancing plans are discussed in the business review.  

The Group has entered into agreements to partially hedge against the interest rate risk on the revolving credit facility above. The fixed interest rate 
hedges vary from 3.76% to 5.36% against the floating LIBOR rate. The expiry date of these hedges is between 17 December 2010 and 31 October 
2012. At 31 July 2010, the total fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges was a liability of £7,729,000 (2009: liability of £4,362,000).  
The whole movement in the fair value is recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity as the hedges are considered highly effective. 

90 Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2010



 
 

22 Loan notes 
Group  Company 

2010  
£000 

2009  
£000  

2010 
£000

2009 
£000

Intercompany loan notes owed by Group undertakings – –  31,813 39,814
    
Intercompany loan notes owed to Group undertakings – –  (51,852) (51,852)

The loan notes arose on the Group restructuring that took place with effect from 1 August 2006. 

All intercompany loan notes, both payable and receivable, have a five-year term and attract interest at a fixed rate of 6% per annum. 

23 Financial instruments 
The Group is exposed to risks arising from variations in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, credit and liquidity. Those risks relating to foreign 
exchange and credit are relatively low. The risk relating to liquidity is also low, subject to successful refinancing of the Group’s facilities as outlined in  
the business review. The risks relating to variations in interest rates arise from long-term pounds sterling borrowings at variable rates. Group policy is  
to hedge a proportion of the drawn revolving credit facility. The Group has not undertaken hedging or complex financial instruments to mitigate risk 
other than interest rate risk. Details of the Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies are provided in note 1u.  

The financial instruments of the Group comprise bank loan facilities, internal cash resources and trade receivables and payables arising from trading 
activities. The Group’s policy is to manage the financial instruments centrally to provide both the working capital and the investment funds necessary 
for ongoing operations and future development.  

The majority of UK projects and contracts are in pounds sterling, and otherwise are in the currencies in which the majority of the costs are 
denominated. The Group’s principal overseas subsidiaries have arranged working capital facilities in their local currency and it is unusual for them  
to contract in currencies other than their own functional currency. Consideration is given to hedging against possible currency movements where 
considered appropriate. It is the Group’s policy not to trade in derivatives. 

In accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instruments, Recognition and Measurement, the Group has reviewed all contracts for embedded derivatives  
that are required to be separately accounted for. None were identified as part of the review. 

Classification of financial instruments 
Group 

At 31 July 2010 

At fair 
value 
£000

Loans and 
receivables 

£000 

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging  

£000 

Liabilities at 
amortised 

cost 
£000

Total 
£000

Financial assets:   
Trade and other receivables – 116,528 – – 116,528
Cash and cash equivalents 45,376 – – – 45,376
 45,376 116,528 – – 161,904
   
Financial liabilities:   
Trade payables – – – 47,614 47,614
Bank borrowings – 128,740 – – 128,740
Other loans – 839 – – 839
Cash flow hedges – – 7,729 – 7,729
Obligations under finance leases – – – 127 127
 – 129,579 7,729 47,741 185,049
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23 Financial instruments continued 
Classification of financial instruments continued 
 Group 

At 31 July 2009 

At fair 
value 
£000

Loans and 
receivables 

£000

Derivatives 
used for 
hedging  

£000 

Liabilities at 
amortised 

cost 
£000

Total 
£000

Financial assets:  
Trade and other receivables – 160,587 – – 160,587
Cash and cash equivalents 52,426 – – – 52,426
 52,426 160,587 – – 213,013
  
Financial liabilities:  
Trade payables – – – 58,834 58,834
Bank borrowings – 153,740 – – 153,740
Other loans – 2,010 – – 2,010
Cash flow hedges – – 4,362 – 4,362
Obligations under finance leases – – – 280 280
 – 155,750 4,362 59,114 219,226

The fair value of current borrowings equates to their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant. Cash flow hedges are recognised 
in accordance with the provisions governing fair value hedge accounting; that is at amortised cost less the fair value of the hedged interest rate risk. 
Their fair values are determined using valuation techniques which use data from observable markets, and assumptions are based on market 
conditions existing at each balance sheet date. 

The Company only has financial instruments which would be categorised as loans and receivables.  

Interest rate risk 
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term debt obligations with floating 
interest rates. 

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate debts. To manage this, the Group enters into interest rate 
swaps in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by 
reference to an agreed upon notional principal amount. These swaps are designated as a cash flow hedge to hedge underlying debt obligations. 

The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 July shows payable amounts as follows: 

At 31 July 2010 

Within 
1 year 
£000

Between 
1–2 years 

£000

Between  
2–3 years  

£000 

Between 
3–4 years 

£000
Total 
£000

Fixed rate:  
   Other loans (736) (103) – – (839)
Obligations under finance leases (127) – – – (127)
Floating rate:  
   Bank borrowings – – (128,740) – (128,740)
   Cash in hand 45,376 – – – 45,376
   Cash flow hedges (interest rate swaps) – – (7,729) – (7,729)
 

At 31 July 2009 

Within 
1 year 
£000

Between 
1–2 years 

£000

Between  
2–3 years  

£000 

Between 
3–4 years 

£000
Total 
£000

Fixed rate:  
   Other loans (1,171) (736) (103) – (2,010)
Obligations under finance leases (153) (127) – – (280)
Floating rate:  
   Bank borrowings (982) (10,000) (10,000) (132,758) (153,740)
   Cash in hand 52,426 – – – 52,426
   Cash flow hedges (interest rate swaps) (4,362) – – – (4,362)
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23 Financial instruments continued 
Interest rate risk continued 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax 
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings). There is no impact on the Group’s equity. 

 

Increase/
decrease in 
basis points

Effect 
on profit 

before tax 
£000

2010 + – 0.25 + – 322
2009 + – 0.25 + – 384

Foreign exchange risk 
The Group has operations where transactions are denominated in foreign currencies. In these operations, the working capital facilities are maintained 
in local currency with funds being remitted back to the UK to minimise exposure to foreign exchange risk. The Group does not hedge against foreign 
currency exchange risk as balances in foreign currency are not significant to the Group. The extent of foreign currency exposure is monitored on an 
ongoing basis. All bonds and guarantees are funded out of the UK.  

At 31 July 2010, if the euro had weakened/strengthened by 1% against the UK pound with all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for the year 
would have been £16,000 (2009: £18,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of UK pound-denominated 
trade receivables.  

At 31 July 2010, if the UAE dirham had weakened/strengthened by 1% against the UK pound with all other variables held constant, pre-tax profit for 
the year would have been £95,000 (2009: £19,000) lower/higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of UK pound-
denominated trade receivables. 

Credit risk  
The Group’s principal financial assets are cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and unbilled revenue. The Group does not hold any collateral as 
security. The Group manages these risks through a number of measures. Counterparty risk on cash deposits is managed by adhering to the guidelines 
set by the Board. Currently the limits are that up to £5,000,000 of cash can be deposited with any one UK counterparty.  

Trade receivables and unbilled revenue are managed through set-up and authorisation policies for new customers. It is the Group’s policy that all 
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. An assessment of credit quality of the customer is made  
as appropriate taking into account their financial position, past experience, external agency ratings and other factors. Where possible, the risk is 
mitigated by use of advanced payments. Group policy is not to apply individual credit limits to trade and other receivables, although total exposure  
and payment performance are monitored monthly both at individual project and client level. The Group has a wide range of customers and in the  
view of management, excluding the Middle East as discussed elsewhere in the Financial Statements, there are no concentrations of credit risk  
that cause concern. 

Counterparty 

31 July 
2010 

Balance 
£000

31 July 
2009 

Balance 
£000

Local government 49,146 57,194
Central government 20,512 25,356
Regulated industries 14,428 20,559
Private sector companies 66,452 77,518
 150,538 180,627

The table below shows the Group’s cash and cash equivalents balances at the year-end date classified according to the banks credit rating. 

Rating 
2010 
£000

2009 
£000

AA 1,035  6,347 
AA– 1,371  6,701 
A+ 32,125 29,360 
A 88 10,018 
A–  10,757 –
Cash and cash equivalents 45,376  52,426 
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23 Financial instruments continued 
Liquidity risk  
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of funding through an adequate 
amount of committed credit facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Group maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining 
availability under committed credit lines. Details of the Group’s financing plans are set out in note 1.  

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s liquidity reserve (which comprises undrawn borrowing facility and cash and cash equivalents) on 
the basis of expected cash flow. In addition, the Group’s liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows and considering the level of liquid 
assets necessary to meet these and monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and external regulatory requirements. 

Details of the Group’s unsecured revolving credit facilities are disclosed in note 21. 

The table below analyses the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities. Figures shown are undiscounted. 

2010 

On demand
or within

1 year
£000

Between 
1–2 years 

£000 

Between
2–5 years

£000

Over
5 years

£000

Finance leases 127 – – –
Trade payables 47,614 – – –
Bank borrowings and other loans 736 103 128,740 –
 

2009 

On demand
or within

1 year
£000

Between 
1–2 years 

£000 

Between
2–5 years

£000

Over
5 years

£000

Finance leases 153 127 – –
Trade payables 58,834 – – –
Bank borrowings and other loans 2,153 10,839 142,758 –

Price risk 
The Group does not hold any equity securities that are available for sale and does not have any exposure to commodity price risk.  

Capital risk  
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for 
shareholders, benefits for other stakeholders and to minimise the cost of capital by maintaining an optimal capital structure. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, 
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

For capital management purposes, the Group monitors consolidated net borrowings to consolidated capital and reserves. 

The Group maintains or adjusts its capital structure through the payment of dividends to shareholders, issues of new shares and through its 
banking/leasing facilities.  

24 Lease obligations 
Operating lease commitments – minimum lease payments 

Group 
2010 2009

Property
£000

Vehicles, 
plant and 

equipment 
£000 

Property
£000

Vehicles,
plant and

equipment
£000

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases payable:  
Within one year 9,311 6,685 10,118 5,438
Later than one year and within five years 19,189 9,448 23,648 7,506
After five years 6,881 436 10,637 –
 35,381 16,569 44,403 12,944

The Group leases various offices under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases have various terms, escalation clauses and renewal 
rights. The Group also leases vehicles, plant and machinery under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. 

The Company had no operating lease commitments as at 31 July 2010 (2009: none). 
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24 Lease obligations continued 
Operating lease commitments – minimum lease payments continued 
At 31 July the Group had the following amounts receivable in respect of subleases on the above: 

 Group 

 
2010
£000

2009
£000

Leases which expire: 
Within one year 67 227
Later than one year and within five years 17 –
 84 227

25 Other non-current liabilities – trade and other payables 
Group  Company 

2010 
£000 

2009 
£000  

2010
£000

2009
£000

Finance lease liability – 127  – –
Other payables and deferred income 157 1,277  – –
 157 1,404  – –

26 Provisions for liabilities and charges 
Group 

Restructuring
provisions

£000

Insurance/ 
Claims 

provisions 
£000 

Dilapidation 
provisions 

£000 

Onerous
contracts

£000
Total
£000

At 1 August 5,069 5,340 3,542 9,347 23,298
Amounts provided for during the year 19,994 1,179 490 2,558 24,221
Amounts released to the Income Statement (84) (1,832) (299) (80) (2,295)
Amounts utilised during the year (8,687) (1,325) (185) (6,044) (16,241)
Reclassification 976 238 (238) (976) –
At 31 July 2010 17,268 3,600 3,310 4,805 28,983
 

Group 

Restructuring
provisions

£000

Insurance/ 
Claims 

provisions 
£000 

Dilapidation 
provisions 

£000 

Onerous
contract 

provisions
£000

Total
£000

At 1 August – 3,438 1,666 5,429 10,533
Amounts provided for during the year 5,069 2,337 1,876 4,961 14,243
Amounts utilised during the year – (435) – (1,043) (1,478)
At 31 July 2009 5,069 5,340 3,542 9,347 23,298

Restructuring provisions will unwind within one year. Insurance/claims provisions will unwind when claims are settled. Dilapidation provisions will unwind 
over the life of the lease which may be between one and 10 years. Onerous contract provisions will be released over the next two years. 
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27 Share capital 
Group and Company 

No. of shares
2010 
£000 No.of shares 

2009
£000

Authorised   
Ordinary shares of 0.25p 158,682,800 397 158,682,800 397
Allotted, called-up and fully paid   
Ordinary shares of 0.25p each at 1 August 112,369,719 280 112,088,261 279
Allotted under share option schemes – – 281,458 1
At 31 July 112,369,719 280 112,369,719 280

During the previous year the Company received £674,000 from shares allotted under share option schemes.  

28 Share premium 
 Group and Company 

 
2010 
£000 

2009
£000

Balance at 1 August 27,853 27,180
Issue of new shares – 673
Balance at 31 July 27,853 27,853

29 Share-based payments 
a Overview of schemes 
Approved and Unapproved Executive Share Option Schemes (AES and UES) 
The Executive Share Option Scheme applies to senior executives, including Executive Directors. For options granted, the option price is not less than 
the market value of an ordinary share, or the nominal value if higher. A performance condition has to be met before options can be exercised.  

No options were granted during the financial year ended 31 July 2010. For approved options granted between March 1997 and November 2003, 
options are exercisable on condition that the Company’s adjusted earnings per share (EPS) increases by RPI +6% over a three-year period. 
For unapproved options granted between March 1997 and November 2003, options are exercisable on condition that the Company’s adjusted EPS 
increases by RPI +12% over a three-year period. 

Co-Investment Plan 
Details of the Co-Investment Plan terms and conditions can be found on page 53 of the Remuneration Report. As at 31 July 2010, there were 
conditional rights over 311,413 ordinary shares outstanding under the Co-Investment Plan.  

Performance Share Plan 
Details of the Performance Share Plan terms and conditions can be found on page 53 of the Remuneration Report. As at 31 July 2010, conditional 
rights over 3,391,956 ordinary shares were outstanding under the Performance Share Plan. 

Restricted Share Plan 
Details of the Restricted Share Plan terms and conditions can be found on page 54 of the Remuneration Report. As at 31 July 2010, conditional rights 
over 7,978 ordinary shares were outstanding under the two-year Restricted Share Plan and conditional rights over 58,539 ordinary shares were 
outstanding under the three-year Restricted Share Plan. 

Sharesave scheme 
The Sharesave scheme is a savings plan whereby employees contract to save a fixed amount each month with a savings institution over a three-year 
period. At the end of the savings term, the employees are given the option to purchase shares at a price set before savings began. The option must be 
exercised within six months of maturity of the savings contract, otherwise it lapses. Participants leaving for a qualifying reason have six months within 
which to exercise their option up to their savings amount. Options over 2,313,001 ordinary shares were granted under this scheme during the year, 
of which 2,307,718 remain at 31 July 2010. 

96 Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2010



 
 

29 Share-based payments continued 
b Annual bonus schemes 
The fair value per option granted and the assumptions used in the calculations are as follows: 

Scheme 
Grant date   

PSP
Nov 09

PSP
May 10

Share price at grant date (p)    180.00 198.75
Exercise price (p)   – –
Number of employees remaining in schemes   365 2
Shares under option at 31 July 2010 (no.)   2,497,036 18,268
Vesting period (years)   3.00 3.00
Expected volatility   44.50 44.50
Option life (years)   0.5 0.5
Expected life (years)   3.00 3.00
Risk-free rate (%)   1.99 1.99
Expected dividends expressed as dividend yield (%)   n/a n/a
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting (%)   n/a n/a
Expectations of meeting performance criteria (%)   100 100
Fair value per option (p)   81.00 89.00
 

Scheme 
Date of

grant

Options 
as at beginning 

of year 

Granted
during

year

Exercised
during

year

Expired
during

year

Options
as at end

of year
Option 

price (p) Exercisable between

AES 11.2003 42,289 – – – 42,289 214.50 26.11.2006-26.11.2013
UES 11.2003 21,315 – – – 21,315 214.50 26.11.2006-26.11.2010
PSP  04.2006 27,572 – (26,140) – 1,432 – 26.04.2009-25.10.2009
CIP  11.2006 113,371 – (102,066) (8,846) 2,459 – 24.11.2009-23.05.2010
PSP  11.2006 210,446 – (40,951) (158,183) 11,312 – 24.11.2009-23.05.2010
CIP  11.2007 129,395 – – (437) 128,958 – 23.11.2010-23.05.2011
PSP  11.2007 371,739 – – – 371,739 – 23.11.2010-23.05.2011
RSP 05.2008 153,004 – (20,970) (124,056) 7,978 – 23.05.2010-23.11.2010
RSP 05.2008 91,392 – – (32,853) 58,539 – 23.05.2011-23.11.2011
CIP  11.2008 189,485 – – (9,489) 179,996 – 21.11.2011-21.05.2012
PSP  11.2008 522,542 – – (30,373) 492,169 – 21.11.2011-21.05.2012
PSP  11.2009 – 2,534,173 – (37,137) 2,497,036 – 16.11.2012-16.05.2013
PSP  05.2010 – 111,085 – (92,817) 18,268 – 05.05.2013-05.11.2013
 1,872,550 2,645,258 (190,127) (494,191) 3,833,490  

The weighted average share price during the year was 196.31p (2009: 296.47p). 

The weighted average life of the outstanding options at 31 July 2010 was 845 days (2009: 740 days). 
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29 Share-based payments continued 
c Sharesave schemes 
The fair value of Sharesave options granted and the assumptions used in the calculations are as follows: 

Grant date Jun 09 Jun 10

Exercise from 01.08.12 01.08.13
Exercise to 31.01.13 31.01.14
Share price at grant date (p) 247.50 177.00
Exercise price (p) 261.00 158.00
Number of employees remaining in schemes 935 1,115
Shares under option at 31 July 2010 (no.) 844,938 2,307,718
Vesting period (years) 3.00 3.00
Expected volatility 42.26 50.01
Option life (years) 3.00 3.25
Expected life (years) 3.00 3.25
Risk-free rate (%) 1.09 1.49
Expected dividends expressed as dividend yield (%)  2.60 3.45
Possibility of ceasing employment before vesting (%) – –
Expectations of meeting performance criteria (%)  100 75
Fair value per option (p) 65.07 43.50

d Share option movements 
Awards outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry dates and exercise prices: 

 2010 2009 

Range of exercise prices (p) 

Weighted
average
exercise
price (p)

No. of
shares

Weighted
average

remaining life:
expected 

and
contractual

(days)

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price (p) 

No. of
shares

Weighted
average

remaining life:
expected and

contractual
(days)

0 – 100 – 3,769,886 831.21 – 1,808,946 699.01
101 – 200 158.00 2,307,718 768.05 – – –
201 – 300 257.74 908,542 214.98 258.45 1,162,536 624.46
301 – 400 353.00 713 – 353.00 383,141 29.11
401 – 501 464.07 689,549 67.20 464.46 926,318 287.69

The weighted average share price during the period for options exercised over the year was nil (2009: 239.40p). 

Movements in the number of awards outstanding and their related exercise prices are as follows: 

 No. 

AES
Weighted

average
exercise
price (p) No. 

UES
Weighted

average
exercise
price (p) No.

CIP
Weighted

average
exercise
price (p) No.

PSP
Weighted

average
exercise
price (p) No. 

Sharesave 
Weighted 

average 
exercise 
price (p) No.

RSP
Weighted

average
exercise
price (p)

Awards outstanding 
at 1 August 2009 42,289 214.50 21,315 214.50 432,251 – 1,132,299 – 2,408,391 353.89 244,396 – 
Granted – – – – – – 2,645,258 – 2,313,001 158.00 – – 
Exercised/transferred – – – – (102,066) – (67,091) – – – (20,970) – 
Lapsed – – – – (18,772) – (318,510) – (878,474) 355.57 (156,909) – 
Awards 
outstanding at  
31 July 2010 42,289 214.50 21,315 214.50 311,413 – 3,391,956 – 3,842,918 235.60 66,517 – 

The Group recognises an expense for employee services received that is settled by the issue of equity instruments. The expense is measured by 
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments settled at the date of grant and is recognised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. 
Adjustments are made as appropriate for leavers and non market vesting conditions to the number of shares expected to vest. 

The accounting treatment applies to all grants of equity instruments after 7 November 2002 that were unvested as at 1 August 2004.  
The total expense recognised in the year for these schemes was £204,000 release (2009: £1,043,000 cost). 
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30 ESOP reserves 
The ESOP reserve arises because Mouchel Trustee Limited holds shares in Mouchel Group plc as agent for the trustees of the Mouchel Employees’ 
Share Ownership Plan Trust. Also, Halifax EES Trustees International Limited holds shares in Mouchel Group plc as trustee for the Mouchel No. 2 
Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust. Shares held by the ESOP trusts are available for distribution to the employees of the Group at the discretion 
of the trustees. In accordance with SIC 12, the investment in own shares arising out of ESOP trusts has been shown as a reduction in the reserves  
of the Group. 

As at 31 July the shareholding in own shares was as follows: 

2010 No. 
Cost 
£000 

Nominal
value
£000

Market 
value1

£000 

Mouchel Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust 374,758 115 1 468
Mouchel No. 2 Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust 871,523 272 2 1,089
 

2009 No. 
Cost 
£000 

Nominal
value
£000

Market 
value1

£000 

Mouchel Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust 404,800 124 1 644 
Mouchel No. 2 Employees’ Share Ownership Plan Trust 1,032,044 322 3 1,641 
1 Based on a share price on 31 July 2010 of 125.00p per ordinary share (2009: 159.00p). 

Movement on ESOP reserve 
 Group 

 
2010
£000

2009
£000

Balance at 1 August  (446) (542)
Sale of shares 59 96
Balance at 31 July  (387) (446)
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31 Cash generated from operations 
 Group 

 
2010
£000

2009
£000

Loss for the year before taxation (14,728) (13,506)
Adjustments for: 
– depreciation 6,558 8,406
– gross loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 25 (5,516)
– amortisation of intangible assets – arising from business combinations 6,796 7,361
 – software and other acquired intangibles 4,866 4,231
– impairment of goodwill and intangible assets arising from business combinations – 17,141
– share-based payments (credit)/cost (excluding tax) (204) 1,272
– other exceptional costs 38,433 34,576
– interest receivable (235) (1,565)
– finance costs 10,918 8,834
Changes in working capital: 
– decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables including unbilled revenue (before exceptional impairment charges) 34,199 (32,512)
– (decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (16,114) 4,079
Cash generated from operations before exceptional items 70,514 32,801
Exceptional items (17,580) (7,585)
Cash generated from operations 52,934 25,216

Receipts and payments for the Company are received or paid by other Group companies. Therefore the Company has no cash flows and as a result 
no cash flow statement has been presented. 

32 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents are analysed as follows: 

Group  Company 
2010
£000

2009 
£000  

2010
£000

2009
£000

Cash and cash equivalents  45,376 52,426  – – 

Of the above cash balances, £23,272,000 is restricted by virtue of it being held within our joint ventures and captive insurance company  
(2009: £22,874,000). 
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33 Retirement benefit obligations 
The Group operates several occupational pension schemes for its employees. These schemes are a combination of defined benefit, defined 
contribution and third-party defined benefit schemes.  

a Schemes accounted for on a defined contribution basis  
Cash contributions to the Group’s defined contribution schemes are recognised as pension costs in the Consolidated Income Statement  
and no asset or liability is shown on the balance sheet. 

Some employees who transferred to the Group under the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations (1981) as amended 
(TUPE) remain members of their previous schemes, which are pre-funded defined benefit schemes. Where under the terms of the contracts,  
the defined benefit liability effectively remains with the transferor, the Group accounts for these schemes as defined contribution schemes.  
Cash contributions are recognised as pension costs in the Consolidated Income Statement and no asset or liability is shown on the balance sheet. 

b Schemes accounted for on a defined benefit basis – third-party schemes 
MBS have admitted body status in the Teesside pre-funded defined benefit scheme, as employees of MBS who were previously employed by the 
local council remain members of the Teesside Pension Fund. The assets and liabilities of this scheme are identified under retirement benefit obligations 
on the balance sheet and disclosed as third-party schemes in section d overleaf. 

c Schemes accounted for on a defined benefit basis – Group schemes 
The Mouchel Business Services Limited Pension Scheme (MBS), the Mouchel Superannuation Fund (MSF) and the Mouchel Staff Pension Scheme 
(MSPS) are funded defined benefit schemes and are disclosed as Group schemes in section d overleaf. For these three principal defined benefit 
schemes the future liabilities for benefits are provided for by the accumulation of assets held externally to the Group in separate, trustee-administered 
funds. The cost of these schemes is determined in accordance with the advice of independent, professionally qualified actuaries on the basis of formal 
actuarial valuations using the projected unit credit method. In line with normal business practice these valuations are undertaken on a triennial basis. 

All schemes are closed to new entrants except for employees transferring to the Group under TUPE, where the Group is required to provide benefits 
which are broadly comparable to those provided under the Local Government Pension Scheme or another defined benefit scheme provided by the 
transferring employer.  

Given the membership of the schemes, under the projected unit credit method the current service cost would be expected to increase as the 
members of the scheme approach retirement.  

The most recent full triennial actuarial valuations for all of the schemes was at March 2007. 

The key assumptions used in valuing the retirement benefit obligation at the end of the year were: 

 
2010

%
2009

%

Discount rate 5.4/5.4 6.0/6.0
Expected rate of increase in pensionable salaries 2.6/3.0 3.0/3.3
Expected rate of increase in pensions in payment 2.3/3.0 3.2/3.3
Expected rate of price inflation 3.0/3.0 3.3/3.3

Note: Data for Group schemes is given first, followed by data for third-party schemes. 

 

 
2010
Years 

2009
Years

Life expectancy at age 65: 
– current pensioners: male 87.1/87.2 87.0/87.0
 female 90.0/90.1 89.9/89.9
– future pensioners: male 88.1/88.1 88.1/88.1
 female 90.9/90.9 90.9/90.9

Note: Data for Group schemes is given first, followed by data for third-party schemes. 
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33 Retirement benefit obligations continued 
c Schemes accounted for on a defined benefit basis – Group schemes continued 
The sensitivity associated with these assumptions is as follows: 

Effect on deficit 

Change

Mouchel 
Group 

schemes 
£000 

MBS Group
scheme

£000

Third-party
schemes

£000

Discount rate –/+ 0.1% +/–4,300 +/–1,500 +/–1,500
Expected rate of price inflation –/+ 0.1% –/+3,400 –/+1,300 –/+1,400
Life expectancy –/+ 1 year –/+5,000 –/+1,800 –/+2,200

The trustees of each scheme determine the investment strategy for the assets held by the scheme, in consultation with the principal employer. 

The expected return on the scheme assets in the forthcoming year is as follows: 

%

Equities 7.9%/8.3%
Bonds, gilts and cash 4.4%/2.7%
Property 6.5%/6.5%

Note: Data for Group schemes is given first, followed by data for third-party schemes. 

d Defined benefit pension schemes 
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows: 

Group 
Group

schemes
2010

Third-party 
schemes 

2010 
Total
2010 

Total
2009

Equities and diversity growth funds 167,504 48,978 216,482 181,460
Bonds and gilts 73,295 5,442 78,737 69,953
Cash 4,181 3,628 7,809 11,133
Property 10,681 2,419 13,100 6,530
Unpaid contributions (719) – (719) (857)
Fair value of plan assets 254,942 60,467 315,409 268,219
Present value of obligations (303,967) (64,503) (368,470) (328,506)
Liability in the balance sheet (49,025) (4,036) (53,061) (60,287)
Current liability (719) – (719) (857)
Non-current liability (48,306) (4,036) (52,342) (59,430)
Total liability in the balance sheet as above (49,025) (4,036) (53,061) (60,287)

Movements in the defined benefit obligation are as follows:  

Group 
Group

schemes
2010
£000

Third-party 
schemes 

2010 
£000 

Total
2010
£000

Total
2009
£000

Retirement benefit obligations at the beginning of the year (272,098) (56,408) (328,506) (308,356)
Service cost (5,203) (1,251) (6,454) (7,734)
Interest cost (16,498) (3,402) (19,900) (20,559)
Employee contributions (2,515) (568) (3,083) (3,541)
Benefits paid 9,731 1,136 10,867 10,163
Actuarial (loss)/gain (17,384) (4,010) (21,394) 1,521
Retirement benefit obligation at the end of the year (303,967) (64,503) (368,470) (328,506)
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33 Retirement benefit obligations continued 
d Defined benefit pension schemes continued 
Movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows:  

Group 
Group 

schemes 
2010 
£000 

Third-party 
schemes 

2010 
£000 

Total
2010
£000

Total
2009
£000

Plan assets at the beginning of the year 217,207 51,012 268,219 273,795
Expected return on plan assets 15,795 3,965 19,760 21,205
Company contributions 13,145 1,364 14,509 15,398
Employee contributions 2,515 568 3,083 3,541
Benefits paid (9,731) (1,136) (10,867) (10,163)
Actuarial gain/(loss) 16,011 4,694 20,705 (35,557)
Plan assets at the end of the year 254,942 60,467 315,409 268,219
 

Group 
Group 

schemes 
2010 
£000 

Third-party 
schemes 

2010 
£000 

Total
2010
£000

Total
2009
£000

Current service cost – included in cost of sales 4,740 1,140 5,880 6,967
Current service cost – included in administrative expenses 463 111 574 767
Total current service cost 5,203 1,251 6,454 7,734
Interest cost 16,498 3,402 19,900 20,559
Expected return on plan assets (15,795) (3,965) (19,760) (21,205)
Net finance cost/(income) 703 (563) 140 (646)
Total recognised in the Income Statement 5,906 688 6,594 7,088

The principal employer, after consulting with the actuaries, has agreed with the trustees of each of the schemes appropriate recovery plans. 

The expected contributions payable, based on existing funding plans and contribution rates, to the defined benefit schemes for the forthcoming year  
is £13,694,000. 

Actuarial gains and losses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income are as follows: 

Group 
Group 

schemes 
2010 
£000 

Third-party 
schemes 

2010 
£000 

Total
2010
£000

Total
2009
£000

Actual return less expected return on pension scheme assets 16,011 4,694 20,705 (35,557)
Effect of changes in assumptions on the present value of scheme liabilities (17,384) (4,010) (21,394) 1,521
Deferred tax on movement in scheme deficits 371 (185) 186 7,203
Total recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (1,002) 499 (503) (26,833)

Cumulative actuarial losses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income total £44,374,000 (2009: £43,685,000). 
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Notes to the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 July 2010 continued 

33 Retirement benefit obligations continued 
Five-year summary 
The amounts recognised in the balance sheets are as follows: 

 
2006
£000

2007
£000

2008 
£000 

2009
£000

2010
£000

Defined benefit obligation (200,847) (188,670) (308,356) (328,506) (368,470)
Fair value of plan assets 152,556 170,666 273,795 268,219 315,409
Retirement benefit obligation (48,291) (18,004) (34,561) (60,287) (53,061)

History of experience gains: 

 
2006
£000

2007
£000

2008 
£000 

2009
£000

2010
£000

Experience gain/(loss) on scheme assets (£000) 1,607 3,493 (39,298) (35,557) 20,705
Percentage of scheme assets 1.1% 2.0% (14.4)% (13.3)% 6.6%
Experience gain/(loss) on scheme liabilities (£000) 854 (833) (6,524) – –
Percentage of scheme liabilities (0.4)% 0.4% 2.1% 0.0% 0.0%

On 6 August 2007, the Group acquired HBS Business Services Group Limited and became responsible for its defined benefit schemes.  
Assets increased by £101,987,000 and the defined benefit obligation increased by £115,273,000 as a result. 

e Defined contribution schemes  
Contributions to the defined contribution schemes are between 3% and 14% for the employer and between 2% and 10% for the employee. 
Contributions are dependent on age. 

The pension charge for contributions payable to the defined contribution schemes was £9,505,000 (2009: £10,070,000). 

34 Contingent liabilities 
Contingent liabilities at 31 July 2010 in respect of guarantees and indemnities in the normal course of business totalled £21,523,000 (2009: 
£26,997,000). 

In addition, bank overdrafts of subsidiaries were guaranteed at 31 July 2010 up to £260,445 (2009: £244,463); the amount overdrawn at that date 
being £nil (2008: £nil). These overdrafts are unsecured. 

The Company and various of its subsidiaries are, from time to time, parties to legal proceedings and claims which arise in the ordinary course  
of business. Provisions are maintained by the Group having regard to the size and nature of the claims and the Group’s best estimate of the likely 
settlement. The Directors do not believe that the outcome of these proceedings, actions and claims, either individually or in aggregate, will have  
a materially adverse effect upon the Group’s financial position. 

The Group has an unlimited intercompany composite guarantee between Mouchel Group plc, Mouchel Finance Limited, Mouchel Limited,  
Mouchel Ewan Limited, Mouchel Rail Limited, Mouchel Traffic Support Limited, Mouchel Holdings Limited, Mouchel Business Services Limited  
and Mouchel Management Consulting Limited. This guarantee is in respect of the revolving credit facility detailed in note 21. 

35 Post-balance sheet events 
There are no disclosable post-balance sheet events.  
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36 Related party transactions 
Group 
The following transactions were undertaken with the joint venture entities to which the Group is party: 

 
2010
£000

2009
£000

Sales to joint venture entities 20,925 16,778
Purchases from joint venture entities 821 222
Net amount due to the Group at the year-end 5,493 8,468

 

Loans to related parties: 

 
2010
£000

2009
£000

Balance at 1 August  1,003 1,144
Loans advanced during the year  2,893 2,846
Loan repayments received (2,703) (2,991)
Interest charged on loans 1 4
Balance at 31 July  1,194 1,003

The loans to related parties are to joint venture companies. 

The Group made contributions of £14,509,000 to the defined benefit pension schemes during the year (2009: £15,398,000). 

No expense has been recognised in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from any joint ventures in the year ended 31 July 2010 (2009: £nil)  
and no amount has been provided in relation to amounts outstanding at the year-end (2009: £nil). 

Key management compensation is disclosed in note 6. 

Company 
During the year, the Company sold £nil, (2009: £13,297,000) worth of goods and services to subsidiaries. The goods and services in 2009 
were  in respect of providing management services, systems and offices to the subsidiaries. At the year-end, the Company owed £7,142,000 
(2009: £4,682,000) to subsidiary undertakings and was owed £58,155,000 (2009: £41,299,000) by subsidiary undertakings.  

37 Corporate information 
The Consolidated Financial Statements of Mouchel Group plc for the year ended 31 July 2010 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the Directors on 27 October 2010. Mouchel Group plc is a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales, whose shares 
are publicly traded on the London Stock Exchange. 
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Five-year financial summary 
 
 

Summarised Group income statement for the year ended 31 July 
2006 
£000

20072 
£000 

20083  
£000  

20094

£000 
2010 
£000

Group revenue  374,020 448,381 656,743  740,550 632,616
  
Underlying operating profit 26,774 32,974 41,715  47,325 41,184
Net finance income/(costs)  592 (584) (2,952) (7,269) (10,683)
Underlying profit before tax1  27,366 32,390 38,763  40,056 30,501
Exceptional items (net)  (919) 15,742 (12,450) (53,562) (45,229)
(Loss)/profit before tax  26,447 48,132 26,313  (13,506) (14,728)
  
Underlying operating margin1  7.2% 7.4% 6.4%  6.4% 6.5%
Effective tax rate1  29.9% 29.0% 26.7%  26.0% 30.4%
Adjusted earnings per share1 17.8p 21.0p 25.7p  26.4p 18.9p
Basic earnings/(loss) per share1  17.4p 31.5p 17.9p  (11.7)p (12.1)p

Summarised Group balance sheet as at 31 July 
2006 
£000

20072 
£000 

20083  
£000  

20094

£000 
2010 
£000

Non-current assets 63,940 107,519 229,966  223,763 213,250
Current assets  134,629 141,364 219,176  235,459 186,437
Current liabilities  (77,737) (111,057) (133,719) (140,428) (132,171)
Non-current liabilities  (51,358) (27,518) (196,533) (251,583) (223,536)
Total equity  69,474 110,308 118,890  67,211 43,980
1 Underlying operating profit, underlying profit before tax, underlying operating margins, effective tax rate and adjusted earnings per share all exclude those items which the Group 

presents as exceptional items in the accounts – see note 3 of the financial statements for full details. Exceptional items include charges for the annual amortisation of intangible assets 
arising from business combinations of £919,000 in 2006, £2,448,000 in 2007, £5,651,000 in 2008, £7,361,000 in 2009 and £6,796,000 in 2010.  

2 In addition to the annual amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations detailed above, exceptional items in 2007 included a net gain arising on retirement benefit 
changes of £18,190,000. 

3 In addition to the annual amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations detailed above, there were further exceptional costs of £6,799,000 in 2008. These costs 
principally comprised integration and transition costs arising as a result of acquisitions. The integration of the acquired companies resulted in a small number of staff redundancies,  
the closure of a loss making business and other transition costs. 

4 In addition to the annual amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations detailed above, exceptional items in 2009 included impairment of goodwill and intangible 
assets arising from business combinations of £17,141,000. A further £32,874,000 was incurred in respect of restructuring costs and asset impairment charges. The Group completed 
the sale of its freehold property in the year, giving rise to a net exceptional gain of £3,814,000.  

5 In addition to the annual amortisation of intangible assets arising from business combinations detailed above, exceptional items in 2010 included £37,766,000 in respect of restructuring 
costs and asset impairment charges and £667,000 in respect of bid defence costs arising from the unsolicited approach from VT Group plc.  
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Shareholder information 
 
 

Mouchel Group plc  
Registered in England and Wales  
Company number: 95369 

Independent auditors 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors  
1 Embankment Place  
London WC2N 6RH 

Advisors 
Hawkpoint Partners Ltd 
41 Lothbury 
London EC2R 7AE 

Bankers 
Royal Bank of Scotland plc  
250 Bishopsgate  
London EC2M 4RB 

Barclays plc  
1 Churchill Place  
London E14 5HP  

Lloyds TSB Bank plc  
25 Gresham Street  
London EC2V 7HN 

Financial advisors and brokers 
RBS Hoare Govett  
250 Bishopsgate  
London EC2M 4AA 

Lawyers 
Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP  
65 Fleet Street  
London EC4Y 1HS 

Financial PR 
Finsbury  
Tenter House  
45 Moorfields  
London EC2Y 9AE 

Registrars 
Equiniti  
Aspect House  
Spencer Road  
Lancing  
West Sussex BN99 6DA 

Mouchel Group plc 
Annual Report and Accounts 2010 107



Shareholder information continued 
 

Group Company Secretary and Registered Office 
Amanda Massie  
Mouchel  
Export House  
Cawsey Way  
Woking, Surrey  
GU21 6QX 

E-communications 
As an alternative to receiving documents through the post, Mouchel offers shareholders the option to receive communications from the  
Company electronically. 

Please register with www.shareview.com and follow the instructions on screen. 

If you require assistance with Shareview, please contact our Registrars, Equiniti, on 0871 384 2651. 

ShareGift 
If you hold only a few shares and feel that it would be uneconomical or not worthwhile to sell them, you could consider giving them to charity.  
ShareGift is a free service for shareholders wishing to give small holdings of shares to charitable causes. There are no capital gains tax implications  
on gifts of shares to charity and it is also possible to obtain income tax relief. 

Further information can be obtained at www.sharegift.org or from our Registrars, Equiniti. 

Duplicate accounts 
If you receive two or more copies of the Annual Report and Accounts and/or multiple cheques for each dividend payment, it means that you  
have more than one shareholder account. 

To receive just one Annual Report and Accounts and one cheque for each dividend payment, please contact Equiniti on 0871 384 2651  
and ask for your accounts to be amalgamated. 

Individual Savings Accounts (ISAs) 
Single Company ISAs (both Maxi and Mini) for Mouchel are available from Equiniti. Further information and brochures may be obtained  
by calling 0845 300 0430. 

Unsolicited investment advice 
Be wary if you receive unsolicited phone calls regarding your Mouchel shares. While some communications may be genuine, others may be an 
example of a ‘boiler room fraud’ specifically designed to elicit monies from you by convincing you to buy overpriced, untradable or non-existent shares. 

To reduce the potential risk of fraud happening to you, please consider the following: 

• If you are buying or selling shares, only deal with brokers registered in the UK. 

• Ensure all your certificates are kept in a safe place. 

• Keep all correspondence from the Registrars which contains your shareholder reference number in a safe place. Destroy correspondence  
by shredding. 

• If you change your address inform the Registrars. If you receive a letter from the Registrars regarding a change of address and have not recently 
moved house, please contact them immediately. You may be the victim of identity theft. 

• Know when the dividends are paid. Consider having your dividend paid directly into your bank to reduce the risk of cheques being intercepted  
or lost in the post. If you change your bank account, inform the Registrar of the details of your new account. Respond to any letters the Registrar 
sends you about this. 
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